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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

We are a biopharmaceutical company engaged iniseevery and development of therapeutic productiickates designed to
extend and enhance the quality of human life. Tghaile application of our proprietary technologigs,have established a
pipeline of therapeutic product development programmultiple disease areas. We are committed teldping therapeutic
products that we believe have best-in-class pa@kmtieaning therapeutic candidates that have ttenpal to be safer, more
effective products than the current standard o carother products in development, and that mag lo¢her advantages, such
as superior scalability or ease of administrat@ur current product development portfolio consigtMultiStem® , a patented
and proprietary stem cell product that we are dmial as a treatment for multiple disease indicej@and that is currently
being evaluated in two ongoing clinical trials.dddition, we are developing novel pharmaceutiaatsdat indications such as
obesity, certain cognitive and attention disordeescolepsy or other forms of excessive daytimesfesss.

MultiStem is a biologic product that is manufactufeom human stem cells obtained from adult boneramaor other
nonembryonic tissue sources. The product consisispecial class of human stem cells that havaltfigy to express a range
of therapeutically relevant proteins and otherdesstas well as form multiple cell types. Factorgressed by MultiStem have
the potential to deliver a therapeutic benefitémeyal ways, such as the reduction of inflammatwatection of damaged or
injured tissue, and the formation of new blood e&s regions of ischemic injury. These cells bkha drughke profile in thal
they act primarily through the production of fastdinat regulate the immune system, protect damagjured cells, promote
tissue repair and healing and most or all of this eee cleared from the body over time.

During several years of preclinical work, MultiStéras demonstrated the potential to address eatie éindamental
limitations observed with traditional bone marromhematopoietic stem cell transplants. These lioita include the historical
requirement for tissue matching between donor atigit, the typical need for one donor for eaclepafa reflection of the
inability to expand cells in a controlled and reguoible manner), frequent use of immune suppreshivgs to avoid rejection
or immune system complications, and a range ofrqibential safety issues. Unlike other cell typdsltiStem cells, after
isolation from a qualified donor, may be expandeddarge scale for future clinical use and stanefdozen form until needed.
Cells obtained from a single donor require no gemabdification and may be used to produce ban&kliig hundreds of
thousands to millions of doses of MultiStem — aroant far greater than other stem cell types.

We believe that MultiStem represents a potentiat-reclass stem cell therapy because it exhilsithef the following
characteristics based on research and developméaté: (1) it may be produced on an industrialeséa a well validated and
reproducible manner; (2) it may be administeredhauit tissue matching or the need for immune sugpresirugs, making it
analogous to type O blood; (3) it exhibits a camsissafety profile; and (4) it appears capabldadifvering a therapeutic benefit
through more than one mechanism of action. Faetqusessed by MultiStem are believed to reducenmftation and regulate
immune system function, protect damaged or injwedts and tissue, promote formation of new bloossets, and augment
tissue repair and healing in other ways. Based wpmk that we and independent collaborators havelgcted over the past
several years, we believe that MultiStem has thergl to treat a range of disease indicationdpufing ischemic injury and
cardiovascular disease, certain neurological desaitoimmune disease, transplant support (intuidi oncology patients),
and a range of orphan disease indications.

Working with independent investigators, we havedtmted preclinical studies in relevant animal medkgdsigned to evaluate
safety and potential therapeutic benefit in varidisease indications. Based on the results of thedether studies, we
advanced two MultiStem programs into clinical depehent in 2008, initiating phase | clinical trigtiscardiovascular disease
(treating patients that have suffered an acute argh&l infarction) and in oncology treatment supadministering MultiStem
to leukemia or lymphoma patients who are receiarigaditional bone marrow or hematopoietic sterh oeHSC, transplant to
reduce the risk or severity of graft versus hosédse, or GVHD). We are conducting the acute myaaanfarction clinical
trial with our partner Angiotech Pharmaceuticats,.)] or Angiotech. In May 2006, we entered inta@dpict co-development
collaboration with Angiotech to jointly develop andimately market MultiStem for the treatment @fhndage caused by
myocardial infarction and peripheral vascular dégedJnder the terms of the collaboration, the earire jointly funding
clinical development activities, whereby preclificasts are borne solely by Athersys, costs fospHand phase Il clinical
trials are borne 50% by Athersys and 50% by Angioteosts for the first phase Ill clinical triallitbe borne 33% by Athersys
and 67% by Angiotech, and costs for any phasdiflical trials subsequent to the first phase lihidal trial will be borne 25%
by Athersys and 75% by Angiotech. We will receiwarly half of the net profits from the sale of gointly developed,
approved products. In addition, we retain the esigleicommercial rights to the development of Mu#i8 for other indication
areas, including oncology treatment support, negioal indications, autoimmune disease, and otfeasa
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In December 2008, we were granted authorizatiothbyJnited States Food and Drug AdministratiorFBA, to initiate a thir
clinical trial, administering MultiStem for the &tBnent of ischemic stroke. According to recent Aicaer Heart Association
estimates, over 700,000 patients suffered an isich&moke in the United States in 2008. Currengdherapy for treating an
ischemic stroke is limited to administration of ttiet dissolving drug tPA. According to currentitial guidelines, tPA must |
administered to stroke patients within three hatitsr the occurrence of the ischemic stroke in otdeemove the clot while
minimizing potential risks, such as bleeding irite brain. However, many strokes occur at nightuwing a time where
immediate diagnosis and medical treatment is nailable, and as a result, only a very small peagabf ischemic stroke
patients are treated with tPA.

In preclinical studies conducted by Athersys aaadllaborators, a single dose of MultiStem adntémed intravenously has
demonstrated the potential to safely deliver aifigmt therapeutic benefit even when administesederal days after an
ischemic stroke has occurred. We believe thatitbiefit is achieved through several mechanismbydimg reduction of
inflammation and immune system modulation in tlehiésnic area and the protection and rescue of datr@agejured cells,
including neuronal tissue. The phase | safety cdihirial authorized by the FDA is a double blipthcebo controlled study that
allows for administration of MultiStem to patied8 to 60 hours after the ischemic stroke, whickhidwn to be safe and
effective, would represent a significant extensibthe treatment window relative to existing stanodaf care.

Working with partners and collaborators, and asueses permit, we intend to explore the potentidityiof MultiStem for
treating a range of other conditions, includingpdamune diseases, other conditions that involvertiraeune system, and
certain neurological conditions, especially thasehich inflammation plays a role. We believe thatltiStem could have
utility in treating multiple diseases, and as aie$ias the potential to create significant véelbreour Company and our
stockholders.

In addition to our MultiStem programs, we are depélg pharmaceuticals for the treatment of obesity certain neurological
conditions associated with cognition, attention asdkefulness. In the obesity area, we are devejppémpounds that
selectively stimulate the SHT2c serotonin receptdhe brain, which is known to play an importasierin regulating appetite.
These compounds, known as 5HT2c agonists, arersbig reduce appetite and food intake, in ordactoeve substantial
weight loss over time.

We have completed several clinical trials involviigHX-105, a potent and selective 5SHT2c receptaragf that was being
developed for the treatment of obesity. In July200e initiated a phase | clinical trial for ATHX3% in the United Kingdom.
The primary objective of the phase | clinical treds to assess the short-term safety of ATHX-1@btarestablish an
appropriate dose range for subsequent clinicdstiieat will be conducted in order to assess safatyeffectiveness. The phase
| clinical trial, which included 107 subjects, waampleted in January 2008, and top line result®wwenounced shortly after
completion of the study.

The results of the study demonstrated that ATHX-4@5 well-absorbed, resulting in good drug expastolowing oral
administration, and was generally well toleratedaip maximum tolerated dose of 100 mg. There wergevere or serious
adverse events observed in the clinical trial, @gative effects on cardiovascular, hematology beiotlinical parameters, and
no discontinuations due to adverse events. In iaddib this study, we completed two phase | clihtgals in the United
Kingdom to further assess safety and tolerabilith®HX-105 administered at various dose levelswadl as examine regional
absorption of the drug in the gastrointestinalttfacthe purpose of developing a formulated praduc
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Based upon the results of these and other studleeapplied to the FDA in the summer of 2008 taamét a double blind,
placebo controlled phase Il clinical trial involgimdministration of ATHX-105 to patients in the téd States. In

September 2008, following the FDA'’s review of onvéstigational new drug application, or IND, thegwsed trial was placed
on partial clinical hold pending the receipt of aiddhal information and resolution of several issuelating to ATHX-105’s
preclinical package and the proposed phase Il siedign.

At the suggestion of the FDA, we conducted two tolidal studies to provide further data about ATHOG s potential
toxicological profile, one repeating a prior stugyder different conditions and another study thatad not previously
conducted and that is not typically included ingtirécal evaluation. While the first study confircheur prior negative finding:
meaning the absence of a relevant toxicologica&otfthe second study produced data that suggeatspecific toxicological
effect. We met with the FDA to discuss the issugbr@ached resolution regarding all of the studsigteissues related to the
partial clinical hold. However, based on the resaoftthe additional test and discussions with tBé Fwe believe that the
apparent rodent specific effect could require adid# non-clinical studies and greatly complicateg-term toxicology testing
and thereby increase substantially the developtmast risks and costs associated with subsequeriaEment of ATHX-105.
Furthermore, these increased risks of developnmmritianake it substantially more difficult or impt&al for us to establish an
attractive, third-party collaboration for the fuethdevelopment and commercialization of ATHX-105.

Consequently, we have decided to suspend furtherla@ment of ATHX-105 and withdraw our IND applicat, and are
currently focusing on the advancement of next gaiwr compounds that exhibit improved charactessthile the potential
significance of this toxicological effect to humamesnains unclear, it appears to be a compound{apetfiect that is not
representative of the class of next generation comgs that we are continuing to develop while wal@e potential
partnerships for the program.

We are also independently developing novel, oratliive pharmaceutical products for the treatmermeotfain central nervous
system disorders, including disorders such as tepsy, excessive daytime sleepiness, and chrotguigaassociated with
Parkinson’s disease or other conditions, as wedltlsr potential indications such as attentionditeffiyperactivity disorder and
other cognitive disorders such as schizophrenias&lprograms are focused on the development afitpstdective histamine
H3 receptor antagonist compounds that act by aelayétvels of neurotransmitters in the sleep arghiiove centers of the bra
and stimulating neurological tone. This elevatiesults in an enhanced state of wakefulness andtmogrwithout causing
hyperactivity, excessive “rebound” sleepiness dictibn. The histamine H3 receptor antagonistsdpdieveloped at Athersys
represent a new class of drugs that could havenproved efficacy and safety profile relative tostixig drugs used for the
treatment of a range of conditions that affect dgmability, attention or wakefulness.

In addition to our current product development paogs, we developed our patented random activafigere expression, or
RAGE, technology that provides us with the abitdyproduce human cell lines that express spedifadpgically well validated
drug targets without relying upon cloned and issdagene sequences. While our RAGE technology i pobduct, it is a
commercial technology that we have successfullyieghfor the benefit of our partners and that weehalso used for our own
internal drug development programs. Modern drugesting approaches typically require the physiadhion and structural
modification of a gene of interest, an approacbrrefl to as gene cloning, in order to create diocellthat expresses a drug
target of interest. Researchers may then use thetigelly modified cell line to identify pharmaceatl compounds that inhibit
or stimulate the target of interest. The RAGE tedtbgy enables us to turn on or amplify the exp@ssif a drug target without
having to physically clone or isolate the geneeffiect, the technology works through the randoneiitisn of tiny, proprietary
genetic switches that randomly turn genes on withequiring their physical isolation, or any advarknowledge of their
structure. This technology provides us with braaéflom to work with targets that may be otherwisavailable as a result of
intellectual property restrictions on the use agfafic cloned and isolated genes. Over the padratyears, we have produced
cell lines that express drug targets in a rangéisefase areas such as metabolic disease, infedis®ese, oncology,
cardiovascular disease, inflammation, and centralaus system disorders. Many of these were pratifczedrug development
programs at major pharmaceutical companies thdtave collaborated with, such as our ongoing coliatian with Bristol-
Myers Squibb, and some have been produced fombemial drug development programs.

Business Strategy

Our principal business objective is to discoveralep and commercialize novel therapeutic prodfamtslisease indications tt
represent significant areas of clinical need ardroercial opportunity. The key elements of our siygitare outlined below.

-  Efficiently develop product candidates in estaldilareas of significant clinical neeWe will continue to develop
certain product candidates using a “fast followagsproach, thereby mitigating risk and reducing £obhis approach
allows us to leverage others’ prior clinical effoand validation while we focus on developmentexthin-class
product candidates with differentiated profiles.r@uention is to develop our products for ultimatammercializatio
by us, our partners or licensees after they haseived approval from the FDA and/or other regukatngencies

«  Apply our proprietary technologies toward the raji@ntification, validation, and development ofrdpgeutic
product candidatesWe will continue to use our proprietary technolagtie identify and validate therapeutic product
candidates. We believe our technologies, incluRAgsE and MultiStem, provide us with a competitivlvantage in
drug discovery and product development by allowiago move products quickly from the discovery ghiaso
clinical trials. We will select candidates for imal development based on several factors, inctuthie required



regulatory approval pathway and the potential mairke which the product may be sold, and our gbth feasibly
fund development activities through commercialiatand marketing of the approved prodi
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< Enter into licensing or c-development arrangements for certain product cdatdis.We intend to license certain of
our product candidates to, or co-develop them wgthalified collaborators to broaden and accelevateproduct
development and commercialization efforts. We @i that this strategy will help us to enhancereturn on
product candidates for which we enter into collations through the receipt of a mix of license fesiestone
payments, and profit sharing or royalties. Cergartnerships may include strategic equity invests

«  Continue to expand our intellectual property pditioOur intellectual property is important to our biess and we
take significant steps to protect its value. Weehan ongoing research and development effort, thottugh internal
activities and through collaborative research @@t with others, which aims to develop new irgetual property
and enables us to file patent applications thaeécaew applications of our existing technologiepmduct
candidates, including MultiSter

e Out-license non-core applications of our technodsgCertain elements of our technologies, such as #pgilication
toward the development of novel diagnostics orrthse for the analysis, characterization or pradaadf certain
types of therapeutic product candidates such agehgrics or biosimilars, may not be relevant tokiéne elements of
our corporate strategy. We believe these applicatinay have significant potential value, howeved ean provide
capital to us that can be applied to our other ldgment efforts. Where appropriate, we may sedicémse non-core
applications of our technologies to others to mathis value

Our Current Programs

By applying our proprietary cell therapy platformultiStem, we have established therapeutic prodagelopment programs in
the areas of cardiovascular disease, HSC transglgmort and ischemic stroke. We advanced ourtfirstMultiStem programs
into clinical development in 2008. In addition, &gplying our core technologies and capabilitieshaee established drug
development programs in the areas of obesity, wivizh advanced through multiple phase | clinicalgrin 2007 and 2008, a
central nervous system disorders involving cognitetttention and wakefulness.

Regenerative Medicine Progran
MultiStem— A Novel Approach to Stem Cell Therapy and RegémerMedicine

We are developing a proprietary nonembryonic stelinppcoduct candidate, MultiStem, that we belieas potential utility for
treating a broad range of diseases and could halespread application in the field of clinical regeative medicine. Potential
applications of MultiStem include the treatmentafdiovascular disease, cancer treatment relsdaedgtant support, certain
neurological conditions, autoimmune disease andratbnditions. We initiated phase | clinical triighe areas of acute
myocardial infarction, or AMI, and HSC transplanpport in 2008 and received FDA authorization e 2008 to initiate a
phase | clinical trial in the area of ischemic kgoWe believe that MultiStem represents a sigaift@dvancement in the field
of stem cell therapy and could have broad clinégadlication.

The therapeutic benefit of bone marrow transpléamdtas been recognized for decades, and its alinge has grown since
Congress passed the National Organ Transplant&984 and the National Marrow Donor Registry wstalglished in 1990.
However, widespread bone marrow or stem cell tlansation has yet to become a reality. Some ofithigations that have
prevented broader clinical application of bone maror stem cell transplantation include the requiat for tissue matching
between donor and recipient, the inability to edfittly produce significant quantities of stem cedlsd a range of potential
safety issues.
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A stem cell therapy that has the potential to askltbe challenges mentioned above could repredmetathrough in the field
of regenerative medicine, since it could greatlgand the clinical application of stem cell therapyther forms of regenerati
medicine. In 2003, we acquired technology origindktveloped at the University of Minnesota consgstf a rare and novel
stem cell, the Multipotent Adult Progenitor Celt, MAPC, which may be isolated from adult bone mares well as other
nonembryonic tissues. Over the past several ye@rave further developed this technology and taeufacturing of these
cells for use in ongoing clinical trials. In th@otential product form, we refer to these cell$/adtiStem.

These cells exhibit several important biologicalpmrties, including:

e Broad plasticity and multiple potential mechanismfigction.MultiStem cells have a demonstrated ability in aadim
models to form a range of cell types and appebetable to deliver therapeutic benefit through ipldtmechanisms,
such as producing factors that protect tissuesiagdamage and inflammation, as well as enhangaipdaging a
direct role in revascularization or tissue regetiena

e Large scale productiorUnlike conventional stem cells, such as blood-foigndr hematopoietic stem cells,
MultiStem cells may be produced on a large scalegssed, and cryogenically preserved, and thehalsgecally in
a rapid and efficient manner. Material obtainedrfra single donor may be used to produce hundreti®atands or
millions of individual doses, representing a yitdd greater than other stem cells have been aldehizve

e “Off-the-shelf” utility. Unlike traditional bone marrow or hematopoietisteell transplants that require extensive
genetic matching between donor and recipient, I8tétin is administered without tissue matching oréugiirement
for immune suppressive drugs. MultiStem is admémest as a cryogenically preserved allogeneic pitpdueaning
that these cells are not genetically matched betwieaor and recipient. This feature, combined wighability to
establish large MultiStem banks, could make it ficatfor clinicians to efficiently deliver stem Itéherapy to a larg
number of patient:

-  SafetyOther stem cell types, such as embryonic stem, @llspose serious safety risks, such as the fammat
tumors or ectopic tissue. In contrast, MultiStertsdeave an outstanding safety profile that haslmenpiled over
several years of preclinical study in a range afahmodels by a variety of investigato

At each step of the MultiStem production procesfis@are analyzed and qualified according to ptak#shed criteria to ensure
that a consistent, well characterized product aatdiis produced. Cells are harvested from a padifepd donor and then
expanded to form a Master Cell Bank from which wadpice clinical grade material. In March 2007, wd aur manufacturing
partner, Lonza Walkersville, Inc., announced theceasful establishment of a Master Cell Bank predumder Good
Manufacturing Practices, or GMP, and the produatibalinical grade material for our initial clinicaials. In multiple animal
models, MultiStem has been shown to be non-immumiogeven when administered without the geneticchiiag that is
typically required for conventional bone marrowstem cell transplantation.

MultiStem allows us to pursue multiple high valwrnercial opportunities from a single product mati, since we believe it
has potential application in a range of diseagestand therapeutic areas. For example, basedmaraus preclinical
discussions with the FDA, we believe that we wéldble to apply data and information from certagcpnical safety studies
support the development of MultiStem for treatingltiple distinct diseases and in multiple regulgtfilings. As a result, we
expect to be able to efficiently add clinical inations as we further expand the scope of potempiplications for MultiStem,
enabling us to reduce costs and shorten developtinegitnes in comparison to traditional single-gseclinical studies. From
the fourth quarter of 2007 through 2008, we suladitind the FDA authorized, three INDs involving adstration of
MultiStem in phase | clinical trials in treatingstinct disease conditions.
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MultiStem for Heart Attack, HSC Transplant Suppoeifreatment of Hematologic Malignancies & Strt

Working with independent investigators at a numdfdeading institutions, such as the UniversityMifinesota, the Cleveland
Clinic, the National Institutes of Health, the Meali College of Georgia, the University of Oregoralie Sciences Center and
the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, we have studvtatiStem in a range of in vitro and animal modtlat reflect various
types of human disease or injury, such as myodardaction, stroke, brain damage due to restddiod flow in newborns,
vascular disease, and bone marrow transplant su@paiD. In addition, we are exploring, or intendemplore, the potential
application of MultiStem in the treatment of a rargf other conditions such as certain blood or imendeficiencies and varic
autoimmune diseases.

As stated above, we have consistently observed\bliStem is safe and effective in animal modéls.a result, we intend,
subject to the availability of adequate resourtiegdvance MultiStem in clinical development inehiareas: treatment of
damage caused by myocardial infarction; suppattiénhematologic malignancy setting to reduce aeamplications
associated with traditional bone marrow or HSCgpaintation; and treatment for stroke caused bpekbge of blood flow in
the brain. We may expand to other clinical indizatareas as results warrant and resources permit.

Heart Attack

In our current phase | clinical trial, we are expig the use of MultiStem as a treatment for dan@esed by myocardial
infarction, or heart attack. Myocardial infarctimnone of the leading causes of death and disabilithe United States.
Myocardial infarction is caused by the blockag®wé or more arteries that supply blood to the h&uth blockages can be
caused, for example, by the rupture of an athegostit plaque deposit. According to the Americaratiéssociation 2007
Statistical Update, there were approximately 863 €ses of myocardial infarction that occurrechim tnited States in 2004
and approximately 7.9 million individuals living the United States that had previously sufferedartrattack. In addition,
there were more than 452,000 deaths that occumen ¥arious forms of ischemic heart disease, arfid0D® deaths due direc
to myocardial infarction in 2004. A variety of rigkctors are associated with an elevated risk ajaaydial infarction or
atherosclerosis, including age, high blood pressmeking, sedentary lifestyle and genetics. Whieances in the diagnosis,
prevention and treatment of heart disease hava lpaditive impact, there is clearly room for impement — myocardial
infarction remains a leading cause of death anabdlity in the United States and the rest of theldio

MultiStem has been studied in validated animal nedeAMI at both the Cleveland Clinic and the Uaisity of Minnesota.
Investigators demonstrated that the administradgfaedlogeneic MultiStem into the hearts of anim@ddenaged by experimenta
induced heart attacks resulted in significant fiomzl improvement in cardiac output and other fioral parameters compared
with animals that received placebo or no treatmiemtthermore, the administration of immunosuppresdrug was not requir
and provided no additional benefit in this studyd supports the concept of using MultiStem as lgeheic product.

Working with a qualified contract research orgatima we completed additional preclinical studie®stablished pig models
acute myocardial infarction using catheter delivang examining various factors such as the rouderathod of MultiStem
administration, dose ranging, and timing of treattmén 2008, we initiated a multicenter phase miclal trial in this indication.
We are working with leading cardiovascular treattratimical sites and experts in the area of cardsoular disease to complete
this phase I clinical trial.

We are developing MultiStem for this indicationconjunction with our partner, Angiotech. We enteirgd a product co-
development collaboration with Angiotech in May B0O€br the potential application of MultiStem in Hiple cardiovascular
indications including myocardial infarction, pergral vascular disease and certain other indications
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HSC Transplant Support in Hematologic Malignanc

Another area of focus is the use of MultiStem garaative treatment for HSC/bone marrow transplagdias therapy in
hematologic malignancy. For many types of canaerh&s leukemia or other blood-borne cancers nreat typically involves
radiation therapy or chemotherapy, alone or in doation. Such treatment can substantially depletecells of the blood and
immune system, by reducing the number of stem gellse bone marrow from which they arise. The motense the radiation
treatment or chemotherapy, the more severe thétirgsdepletion is of the bone marrow, blood, amariune system. Other
tissues may also be affected, such as cells idigestive tract and in the pulmonary system. Tilselltenay be severe anemia,
immunodeficiency, significant reduction in digestivapacity, and other problems that may resuliginificant disability or
death.

One strategy for treating the depletion of bonerowvatis to perform a peripheral blood stem cell s@lant or a bone marrow
transplant. This approach may augment the patiabilgy to form new blood and immune cells andyide a significant
survival advantage. However, finding a closely rhattdonor is frequently difficult or even impossibEven when such a
donor is found, in many cases there are immunaodébgicmplications, such as GVHD, which may resuliénious disability or
death.

Working with leading experts in the stem cell amthd marrow transplantation field, we have studiedti@tem in animal
models of radiation therapy and GVHD. In multiptéraal models, MultiStem has been shown to be nantmogenic, even
when administered without the genetic matching ithatpically required for conventional bone marromstem cell
transplantation. Furthermore, in animal model systéesting immune reactivity of T-cells againstalated donor tissue,
MultiStem has been shown to suppress the T-celliatedlimmune responses that are an important factausing GVHD.
MultiStem-treated animals also displayed a sigaifidncrease in survival relative to controls. Agsult, we believe that the
administration of MultiStem in conjunction with fallowing standard HSC transplantation may havepbiential to reduce the
incidence or severity of complications and may @aeeagastrointestinal function which is frequentynpromised as a result of
radiation treatment or chemotherapy.

In 2008, we initiated a phase | clinical trial txaenine the safety and tolerability of MultiStempatients receiving a bone
marrow or hematopoietic stem cell transplant relatetheir treatment for hematologic malignancye Tiial is an open label,
multicenter trial that involves leading expertghe field of bone marrow transplantation.

Stroke

A third focus of our regenerative medicine progiarthe use of MultiStem for the treatment of neogtal injury as a result of
ischemic stroke, which accounts for approximat&%e8of all strokes. Recent progress toward the dgweént of safer and
more effective treatments for ischemic stroke hsentdisappointing. Despite the fact that ischetnakes is one of the leading
causes of death and disability in the United Statffecting more than 700,000 new patients annuwadtording to the United
States Centers for Disease Control and Preverdio@PC, there has been little progress toward thelbpment of treatments
that improve the prognosis for stroke victims. Dy FDA-approved drug currently available for iedhic stroke is the anti-
clotting factor, tPA, which must be administeredte patient within roughly three hours of the dridehe stroke.
Administration of tPA after this time frame is mecommended, since it can cause bleeding or evagh.d8iven this limited
therapeutic window, it is estimated that less th#nof ischemic stroke victims currently receiveatraent with tPA.

In preclinical studies conducted by investigatdrBath the University of Minnesota and the MediCallege of Georgia,
significant functional improvements have been obseiin rodents that have undergone an experimgniallced stroke, or
that have incurred significant neurological damage result of neonatal hypoxic ischemia, and theaived treatment with
MultiStem. Through research conducted by collalmrsaat the Medical College of Georgia and preseatede annual
American Academy of Neurology meeting in April 200& observed that administration of MultiStem evar week after a
surgically induced stroke results in substantiagierm therapeutic benefit, as evidenced by the ingarent of treated anims
compared with controls in a battery of tests examgimobility, strength, fine motor skills, and ottespects of neurological
functional improvement. These results have beefirooed in subsequent studies that demonstrate Bhelth treatment is well
tolerated, does not require immunosuppressionyesults in a robust and durable therapeutic beaeéih when administered
one week after the initial stroke event.

In 2008, we completed additional preclinical safettydies and submitted an IND for this applicatiwhijch was authorized by
the FDA in December 2008. The subsequent initiatioa clinical trial will depend on the availabjlibf capital resources to
complete the study.
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We believe that MultiStem could have broad potémdidreat a range of conditions. In addition te #tbove programs, we are
collaborating or intend to collaborate with othégtly qualified investigators to evaluate the pdi@rbenefits of MultiStem in
other disease indications, such as various bloddramune deficiencies, certain autoimmune diseasdsther potential
indications.

Pharmaceutical Program:

Obesity is a substantial contributing factor t@aage of diseases that represent the major causkestif and disability in the
developed world today. Individuals that are clifiicabese have elevated rates of cardiovascul@agis, stroke, certain types
cancer and diabetes. According to the CDC, thelem@e of obesity in the United States has increased epidemic rate duri
the past 20 years. CDC now estimates that 66% éina¢ricans are overweight, including more than 3®%t are considered
clinically obese. The percentage of young people afe overweight has more than tripled since 198@re has also been a
dramatic rise in the rate of obesity in Europe As. Despite the magnitude of this problem, cureggproaches to clinical
obesity are largely ineffective, and we are awdnelatively few new therapeutic approaches inicihdevelopment.

We are developing novel pharmaceutical treatmentelfesity. These compounds are designed to asfirbylating a key
receptor in the brain that regulates appetite and fntake — the 5HT2c receptor. The role of tleiseptor in regulating food
intake is well understood in both animal models haghans. In 1996, Wyeth Pharmaceuticals launchedrki-obesity drug
Redux® (dexfenfluramine), a non-specific serotonin recepmonist that was used with the stimulant pheritegrin a
combination commonly known as fen-phen. This diegccombination gained rapid and widespread acoeptan the clinical
marketplace and was shown to be highly effectivegailating appetite, reducing food intake, andsaapweight loss.
Unfortunately, in addition to stimulating the SHT&xeptor, Redux also stimulated the 5HT2b receptris found in the
heart. The activation of 5HT2b by Redux is beliet@tiave caused significant cardiovascular problienasnumber of patients
and, as a result, Red®uwas withdrawn from the market in 1997. In 1996,tdoewrote 18 million monthly prescriptions for
drugs constituting the fen/phen combination. Irt #zmne year, these drugs generated sales of gtkate$400 million, serving
as a benchmark for the substantial market oppdytdoi an effective drug to treat clinical obesity.

Since the withdrawal of Redux from the market, salvgroups have published research that implicstigsulation of the 5HT2
receptor as the underlying cause of the cardiovaspuoblems. These findings suggest that highllgctive compounds that
stimulate the 5SHT2c receptor, but that do not agiptdy stimulate the 5SHT2b receptor, could be depetl that maintain the
desired appetite suppressive effects without th@i@aascular toxicity. Recently, Arena Pharmacealicdeveloped a selective
5HT2c agonist, Lorcaserin, which exhibits significaelectivity for the S5SHT2c receptor relative e t5HT2b receptor. In a
phase Il clinical trial conducted by Arena Pharmdioals, Lorcaserin was demonstrated to reducetép@ad cause
statistically significant weight loss in patientst were administered the drug for a period ofdhm®nths, without causing any
apparent cardiovascular effects. However, at higbses the drug has been shown to cause dizziveessea and headaches,
which may be a consequence of its apparently nimitet selectivity for the 5HT2c receptor relativeanother serotonin
receptor expressed in the brain, the 5HT2a recePtarently, Lorcaserin is undergoing a large sdae-year phase Il clinice
trial that is designed to evaluate safety, inclgdiardiovascular safety, and effectiveness at nguseight loss in patients that
are administered Lorcaserin for a period of one.ylearcaserin is being administered twice per dag dosage level that is half
the level previously observed to cause unacceptabdds of dizziness, nausea and headaches ingingcal studies.

We initiated a drug development program focusedreating potent and selective compounds that séitedhe 5SHT2c recept
but that avoid the 5HT2b receptor and other regspsuch as 5HT2a. Our specific goal is to devaloprally administered pill
that reduces appetite by stimulating the SHT2cptare but that does not stimulate the SHT2b reaepih@ 5HT2a receptor, or
other receptors that could cause adverse sidet®ffeéased on extensive preclinical studies thahaxee conducted with ATHX-
105 and other compounds, we have demonstratedility 8o develop highly potent and selective corapds. We believe that
the potency and selectivity profile displayed bynpmunds we develop for the 5SHT2c receptor relatvieoth the SHT2b
receptor and the 5HT2a receptor will result in dregffficacy and a cleaner safety profile in clinhicgls, as well as a more
convenient dosing schedule than other 5HT2C agpnigframs.

We have completed several clinical trials involviigHX-105, a potent and selective 5SHT2c receptaragf that was being
developed for the treatment of obesity. In July200e initiated a phase | clinical trial for ATHX3% in the United Kingdom.
The primary objective of the phase | clinical treds to assess the short-term safety of ATHX-1@btarestablish an
appropriate dose range for subsequent clinicdstiieat will be conducted in order to assess safatyeffectiveness. The phase
| clinical trial, which included 107 subjects, waampleted in January 2008, and top line result®wenounced shortly after
completion of the study.

The results of the study demonstrated that ATHX-4@S well-absorbed, resulting in good drug expastolowing oral
administration, and was generally well toleratedaip maximum tolerated dose of 100 mg. There wersevere or serious
adverse events observed in the clinical trial, @gative effects on cardiovascular, hematology lbeiotlinical parameters, and
no discontinuations due to adverse events. In iaddib this study, we completed two phase | clihtgals in the United
Kingdom to further assess safety and tolerabilith®HX-105 administered at various dose levelswadl as examine regional
absorption of the drug in the gastrointestinalttfacthe purpose of developing a formulated praduc
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Based upon the results of these and other studleeapplied to the FDA in the summer of 2008 taamét a double blind,
placebo controlled phase Il clinical trial involgimdministration of ATHX-105 to patients in the téd States. In

September 2008, following the FDA'’s review of onvéstigational new drug application, or IND, thegwsed trial was placed
on partial clinical hold pending the receipt of aiddhal information and resolution of several issuelating to ATHX-105’s
preclinical package and the proposed phase Il siedign.

At the suggestion of the FDA, we conducted two tolidal studies to provide further data about ATHOG s potential
toxicological profile, one repeating a prior stugyder different conditions and another study thatad not previously
conducted and that is not typically included ingtirécal evaluation. While the first study confircheur prior negative finding:
meaning the absence of a relevant toxicologica&otfthe second study produced data that suggeatspecific toxicological
effect. We met with the FDA to discuss the issugbr@ached resolution regarding all of the studsigteissues related to the
partial clinical hold. However, based on the resaoftthe additional test and discussions with tBé Fwe believe that the
apparent rodent specific effect could require adid# non-clinical studies and greatly complicateg-term toxicology testing
and thereby increase substantially the developtmast risks and costs associated with subsequeriaEment of ATHX-105.
Furthermore, these increased risks of developnmmritianake it substantially more difficult or impt&al for us to establish an
attractive, third-party collaboration for the fuethdevelopment and commercialization of ATHX-105.

Consequently, we have decided to suspend furtherla@ment of ATHX-105 and withdraw our IND applicat, and are
currently focusing on the advancement of next gaiwr compounds that exhibit improved charactessthile the potential
significance of this toxicological effect to humamesnains unclear, it appears to be a compound{apetfiect that is not
representative of the class of next generation comgs that we are continuing to develop while wal@e potential
partnerships for the program.

H 3 Antagonists for the Treatment of Sleep Disordex$ @artain Other Cognitive Disorders

In addition to our other programs, we are develggmharmaceuticals that are designed to enhancefubiagss and promote
cognitive abilities in patients that experienceiation or cognitive deficits. Individuals that siffrom narcolepsy or other
conditions that result in excessive daytime sleeggnor EDS, may experience persistent tiredneskaak of energy. Chronic
fatigue may be experienced by patients with otliegase conditions such as Parkinson’s or thosergoiie treatment for
cancer. As a result, such individuals may expegesignificant difficulty in performing certain tasland may suffer an impair
quality of life. More than 100,000 individuals imet United States suffer from narcolepsy or EDStdiisally, narcoleptics wel
treated with amphetamines and related stimulaatshthd substantial side-effects, but more recdrathe been prescribed
Provigil (Modafinil). This compound works by an urdvn mechanism, but appears to be relatively ffébeostimulant side-
effects of amphetamines. In addition to its usenfimcolepsy, Provigil is also approved for thetresnt of shift work sleep
disorder, or SWSD, and sleep apnea. Known sidetsféxperienced by patients taking Provigil incladeiety, depression,
rash, and rare occurrences of serious and potgriifalthreatening reactions including Stevensnian Syndrome, Toxic
Epidermal Necrolysis, Erythema Multiforme, and rroltgan hypersensitivity. Sales of Provigil in 200ithin the United Statt
were reported to be over $800 million. Although\Rgd appears to be an improvement over previousalapsy drugs, certain
safety concerns were raised by the FDA when Cephéto. attempted to gain approval of modafinil &tention deficit-
hyperactivity disorder, or ADHD, and the companpseguently abandoned efforts in this market.

Individuals with attention or cognitive disorderayrsuffer from an inability to focus, solve probkemrocess information,
communicate, and may have memory impairment. Atiargnd cognitive disorders include ADHD, Schizaptia, Alzheimers
disease and other forms of dementia. Datamonitonates that 23 million children in the seven mgjbarmaceutical markets
(United States, France, Germany, ltaly, Spain, ééhKingdom and Japan) suffer from ADHD. Researsh ahows that 60%
children with ADHD maintain the disorder into adwdbd. Despite the low rate of diagnosis, ADHD dreigenues reached
$2.5 billion in 2004, 97% of which was generatethwi the United States. Currently available treattaeause side effects and
do not adequately address the clinical need. Rifalimethylphenidate) is the most widely prescribed ADtherapy. As a
stimulant with abuse potential, it has been clas$ids a controlled substance by the FDA and theti$tates Drug
Enforcement Agency. We believe there exists a B@amit market opportunity for safer and more effectreatments.

We are developing multiple classes of highly sélecand potent compounds designed to block thedd8ptor and have
established a program to develop non-stimulant;addictive, orally administered drugs for the treatnof narcolepsy or oth
conditions related to excessive daytime sleepir@ashistamine H3 receptor antagonists represeptaclass of drugs that
could have an improved efficacy and safety prolative to existing drugs used for the treatmémtascolepsy and related
sleep disorders. The H3 receptor regulates ledisstamine and other neurotransmitters in cera@as of the brain that play a
direct role in regulating sleep and cognitive fumet In animal models, H3 receptor antagonists Hsean shown to increase
histamine release in the brain and improve wakefsgnattention and learning. In preclinical stud@sducted at independent
labs, we have tested some of our more advancedaamdp in well validated rodent sleep models. Dutirgse studies,
compounds significantly enhanced wakefulness witlsausing hyperactivity. In comparison to modaforilcaffeine, certain
compounds appeared far more potent, achieving gahle or better effect on wakefulness at sukiathntower doses. In
addition, these compounds did not appear to cdnesexcessive rebound sleepiness that is a chastictef other agents used
promote wakefulness, such as amphetamines.
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We intend to continue the study of H3 antagonistjgounds we are developing for potential applicatimntreating narcolepsy,
excessive daytime sleepiness, chronic fatigue agsdcwith certain disease conditions such as Reoki's, certain attention or
cognitive disorders, and other conditions. In additwe intend to conduct additional pharmacologg aafety testing of certain
compounds we are developing, and are exploringntiatgoartnering opportunities around this and offregrams.

Other Key Technologies

In addition to our product development programs haee developed RAGE, a patented technology tlsfigies us with the
ability to produce human cell lines that expressctje, biologically well validated drug targetstivout relying upon cloned ai
isolated gene sequences. This technology platfeavigies us with broad freedom to work with druggts that may be
inaccessible to most other companies as a resirtalfectual property restrictions on the usepddafic cloned and isolated
genes. Over the past several years, we have prodeddines that express drug targets in a rariglksease areas such as
metabolic disease, infectious disease, oncologgi@mzascular disease, inflammation and central mes\system disorders.
Many of these were produced for drug developmengiams at major pharmaceutical companies that we tallaborated
with, and some have been produced for our intetnaj development programs.

Collaborations and Partnerships
Angiotech

In May 2006, we established a collaboration wittgiech that is focused on co-developing MultiSfenthe treatment of
damage caused by myocardial infarction and perghascular disease. In support of the collabonat#giotech invested
$10.0 million in us and we may also receive up3d’$ million of additional equity investments ar@B%5 million of aggrega
cash payments based upon the successful achievefrspecified clinical development and commercatiian milestones,
though there can be no assurance that we will eelday milestones.

Under the terms of the collaboration, the partiesj@intly funding clinical development activitieshereby preclinical costs are
borne solely by Athersys, costs for phase | andlieclinical trials are borne 50% by Athersys &386 by Angiotech, costs
for the first phase Ill clinical trial will be boen33% by Athersys and 67% by Angiotech, and castariy phase Ill clinical
trials subsequent to the first phase 11l clinica@ltwill be borne 25% by Athersys and 75% by Arigich. We have lead
responsibility for preclinical and early clinicagégelopment and manufacturing of the MultiStem paddand Angiotech will
take the lead on pivotal and later clinical triatel commercialization. We will receive nearly t@fithe net profits from the sa
of any jointly developed, approved products. Iniidd, we will retain the commercial rights to MiStem for all other
therapeutic applications, including treatment oblst, bone marrow transplantation and oncology stipplood and immune
system disorders, autoimmune disease, and othieatiwhs that we may elect to pursue.

The Angiotech collaboration does not have a spetéfimination date, but will terminate upon thelieat to occur of the
following:

. if at least one cell therapy product has obtaieguilatory approval and we and Angiotech haveeshprofits with
respect to sales of at least one cell therapy miothe date that there has been no sales for Highmof any cell
therapy product that has been the subject of psbfitring, unless a clinical development candidate at least a
phase llI clinical or later; an

* the later of (1) the expiration date of the lesexpire patent licensed to Angiotech, and (2)lthe/ear anniversary,
which would be May 2021
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Neither we nor Angiotech may terminate the collalion at will; however, either party may elect attain points to not mov
forward with individual product development progmarif either party breaches its material obligasiamd fails to cure that
breach within 60 days after notice from the norableng party, the non-breaching party may termitiaecollaboration.
Angiotech has a right to immediately terminatedbiaboration upon certain bankruptcy events invgws. Angiotech also
has the right to terminate the collaboration up2@ days’ prior notice if Angiotech, in its reasofejudgment, determines that:
(1) a primary endpoint in a clinical trial withincéinical development plan has not been met; (8)dimical efficacy and/or
safety with respect to a clinical development cdat# or a cell therapy product have not been detraded; (3) applicable
regulatory requirements for cells, a clinical deyghent candidate or a cell therapy product in armaare major markets shall
have a material adverse impact on the ability taiolregulatory approval for a cell therapy prodaucsuch markets; (4) our
data regarding cells, a clinical development caaigicbr a cell therapy product were obtained, inle/loo in part, through
scientific fraud; or (5) a cell therapy produchist (or is not expected to be) commercially viatngrofitable in at least one
major market.

Bristol-Myers Squibb

In December 2000, we entered into a collaboratigh Rristol-Myers Squibb to provide cell lines ergsing well validated
drug targets produced using our RAGE technologydmnpound screening and development. This inibi&boration was
expanded in 2002 and again in 2006. Bristol-Myepsil$h uses the cell lines in its internal drug depment programs and, in
exchange, we receive license fee and milestone @atgnand will be entitled to receive royalties b sale of any approved
products. Depending on the use of a cell line bgtBFMyers Squibb and the progress of drug developmergrams benefitin
from the use of such a cell line, we may receivenash as approximately $5.5 million per cell linegidditional license fees a
milestone payments, though we cannot assure yoatiyafurther milestones will be achieved or thatwill receive any
additional milestone payments. Through DecembePBQ8, we have received an aggregate of approxiynfe8 million in
license fees and milestone payments from BristoefdySquibb, of which $1.9 million was earned in&00

In September 2008, Bristol-Myers Squibb successhdivanced into phase Il clinical development gydrandidate discovered
using a target provided by us, thereby triggerimtjracal development milestone payment to us. &liaboration agreement
with Bristol-Myers Squibb, which was initially esfégshed in 2001, is now in its final phase. We intt¢o continue to prepare
and deliver validated drug targets for use by Blsyers Squibb in its drug discovery efforts urttie collaboration objectives
have been fulfilled. We will remain entitled to eie license fees for targets delivered to Brisigiers Squibb, as well as
milestone payments and royalties on compounds dpedlby Bristol-Myers Squibb using our technolaguring 2009, our
revenues may fluctuate compared to 2008 basedeotinting of Bristol-Myers Squibb’s demand for tatgyand the timing of
our work and based on the achievement and timirgyistol-Myers Squibb milestone achievements, if.@eyond 2009, we
anticipate that Bristol-Myers Squibb’s demand femtargets will be reduced.

The Bristol-Myers Squibb collaboration does notédavspecific termination date, but will terminateen Bristol-Myers Squibb
no longer has an obligation to pay us royaltiesctviobligation generally continues until the ladéthe expiration of the
Bristol-Myers Squibb patent covering an approveatipct and ten years after commercial sales ofpteatuct began. Though
we expect Bristol-Myers Squibb to file for and ksued patents for products developed under thebookttion, we are not
aware of any patents issued to Bristol-Myers Squilering any potential products related to théatalration. If either party
breaches its material obligations and fails to ¢heg breach within 60 days after notice from tba4breaching party, the non-
breaching party may terminate the collaboration.

Competition

We face significant competition with respect to #agious dimensions of our business. With regarutoefforts to develop
MultiStem as a novel stem cell therapy, currentigre are a number of companies that are activalgldping stem cell
products, which encompass a range of differenttgp#s, including embryonic stem cells, umbilicata stem cells, adult-
derived stem cells, and processed bone marrowetkgglls.

Osiris is currently engaged in multiple phase W @hase Il clinical trials involving Prochymal, allogeneic stem cell product
based on mesenchymal stem cells, or MSCs, thattaained from healthy consenting donors, and an@radtered without
tissue matching. However, in contrast to MultiSt&a$Cs display limited expansion potential and monéted biological
plasticity. In November 2008, Osiris announced @ngaship in which Genzyme acquired developmerittsigo Prochymal for
certain markets outside the United States and Gammagixchange for $130 million in license feestaf$1.25 billion in clinical
and sales milestones, and royalties. Osiris retinsmercial development rights to Prochymal forlthméted States and Cana
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Other public companies are developing stem-reldtedhpies, including Geron, Aastrom BiosciencespBSEells Inc., Viacell,
Celgene, Advanced Cell Technology, CRYO-CELL Intgional, Mesoblast Limited and Cytori Therapeutlosaddition,
private companies, such as Cognate TherapeutiesidaaCell, Arteriocyte, Plureon and others, are dlsveloping cell therapy
related products or capabilities. Given the magiataf the potential opportunity for stem cell thirawe expect competition in
this area to intensify in the coming years.

We also face competition in our efforts to devetopnpounds for the treatment of obesity. There keady approved
therapeutic products on the market, such as Xe(atsd known as Alli), which is marketed by Roched Meridia, which is
marketed by Abbott Pharmaceuticals. However, bbthese drugs have reported side effects that Weviechave limited their
adoption by patients and clinicians. For examptgeptial side effects associated with taking Xelnicglli include cramping,
intestinal discomfort, flatulence, diarrhea, arakkege of oily stool. Potential side effects asdediavith taking Meridia include
increased blood pressure and heart rate, headdtgheouth, constipation, and insomnia. Individualth high blood pressure,
heart disease, irregular heartbeat, or a histosgroke are also cautioned not to take Meridia.

There are many other companies attempting to dpvedoel treatments for obesity, and a wide rangappfoaches are being
taken. Some of these companies include large, matibnal pharmaceutical companies such as Bristgd+sSquibb, Merck,
Roche, Sanofi-Aventis, GlaxoSmithKline, Eli Lillynd others. There are also a variety of biotechnotmgnpanies developing
treatments for obesity, including Arena Pharmacaigj Orexigen, Vivus, Neurosearch, Amgen, Regenddastech
Pharmaceutical Company, Alizyme, Amylin Pharmaamls$i, Neurocrine Biosciences, Shionogi, Metabokiarfaceuticals,
Kyorin Pharmaceutical, and others. It is likelytttgiven the magnitude of the market opportunitgnpncompanies will
continue to focus on the obesity area, and thapetition will remain high. If we are successfubatveloping a S5SHT2c agonist
as a safe and effective treatment for obesitg, likely that other companies will attempt to d@pesafer and more effective
compounds in the same class, or will attempt toliomtherapies in an effort to establish a saferranre effective therapeutic
product.

Finally, we face competition with respect to ouiligbto produce drug targets for our drug devel@mnprograms. There are
many companies with established intellectual priypibiat seek to restrict or protect the use of gjgetrug targets, including
Incyte, Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Human Genomer8es, Lexicon Genetics, CuraGen, Exelixis, My@ehetics,
Sangamo BioSciences, and others.

We believe our most significant competitors aré¢yfiritegrated pharmaceutical companies and moebbshed biotechnology
companies that have substantially greater finan@ahnical, sales, marketing, and human resothegswe do. These
companies may succeed in obtaining regulatory a@bfor competitive products more rapidly than vea dor our products. In
addition, our competitors may develop technologied products that are cheaper, safer or more eféetttan those being
developed by us or that would render our technotdugolete. Furthermore, some of these companiedesathreatened by o
activities and attempt to delay or impede our ¢$féo develop our products or apply our technolegie

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent applicationdepts, trademarks, and contractual provisions @tept our proprietary right
We believe that to have a competitive advantagenwst develop and maintain the proprietary aspefatsir technologies.
Currently, we require our officers, employees, cdtasits, contractors, manufacturers, outside sfienbllaborators and
sponsored researchers, and other advisors to exeonfidentiality agreements in connection withiteenployment, consultin
or advisory relationships with us, where appropridle also require our employees, consultantsaduiors who we expect to
work on our products to agree to disclose and agsigis all inventions conceived during the worl,dfeveloped using our
property, or which relate to our business.

We have a broad patent estate with claims diredctedmpositions, methods of production, and metluwdse of MAPCs and
related technologies. We acquired ownership of giaour stem cell technology and intellectual pmbpeas a result of our 2003
acquisition of a holding company, which held tights to the technology originally discovered attheversity of Minnesota.
We also have an exclusive license to additional I@ABlated inventions (or in other words, improvetsgdeveloped by the
University of Minnesota and under a collaboratigsearch agreement with the Katholieke Univerditeitven, or KUL, we
have an exclusive license to MAPC-related invergtidaveloped at KUL using the MAPC technology oeliettual property or
that result from sponsored research funded by @salMb own and license additional intellectual propdevelop by us and
others. We have eleven issued patents and apprietindid 0 patent applications related to our steliteehnologies.
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We have established a broad intellectual propestifgio related to our key functional genomicsheologies and product
candidates. We have a broad patent estate withhgldirected to compositions, methods of making,rmethods of using our
small molecule drug candidates. In our 5HT2c prognae have filed four patent applications with lira@faims directed to
ATHX-105, related compounds in the same chemiaasérom which ATHX-105 was derived, and back-ug second
generation compounds from distinct chemical sefiesur Histamine H3 program, we have filed foutgue applications with
broad claims directed to compounds from two distalemical series. All compounds described in thpegent applications
were discovered at Athersys. In addition, we culyemave twelve issued United States patents andusissued international
patents relating to compositions and methods ®IRAGE technology. These patents will expire in20lhere are also seve
patent applications relating to human proteins @artlidate drug targets that we have identifiedutihathe application of
RAGE and our other technologies. The RAGE technolegs developed by Dr. John Harrington and othéefdys scientists
internally in the mid-1990s.

We believe that we have broad freedom to use amunazcially develop our technologies and producticdates. However, if
successful, a patent infringement suit broughtresgais may force us or any of our collaboratorcensees to stop or delay
developing, manufacturing, or selling potentialguots that are claimed to infringe a third pariptellectual property, unless
that party grants us rights to use its intellecphraperty. In such cases, we may be required aikitenses to patents or
proprietary rights of others to continue to commnadize our products. However, we may not be ablelimin any licenses
required under any patents or proprietary rightthiofl parties on acceptable terms, or at all. Ef/gre were able to obtain
rights to the third party’s intellectual propertigese rights may be non-exclusive, thereby givimgommpetitors access to the
same intellectual property. Ultimately, we may In@lle to commercialize some of our potential présloc may have to cease
some of our business operations as a result ofpatieingement claims, which could severely hamn business.

Research and Development

Our research and development costs, which congimbyly of costs associated with external cliniti@l costs, preclinical
study fees, manufacturing costs, salaries andectlagérsonnel costs, legal expenses resulting finteliectual property
application processes, and laboratory supply aagemt costs, were $16.5 million in 2008, $15.8iomillin 2007 and

$9.7 million in 2006.

Government Regulation

Any products we may develop and our research anelaigment activities are subject to stringent gowegnt regulation in the
United States by the FDA and, in many instancesdmgesponding foreign and state regulatory agendiee European Union,
or EU, has vested centralized authority in the paem Medicines Evaluation Agency and Committee ropifietary Medicinal
Products to standardize review and approval adtbsmember nations.

These regulatory agencies enforce comprehensittgestaregulations, and guidelines governing tlwg dievelopment process.
This process involves several steps. Initially,dbeypany must generate preclinical data to shoetwakefore human testing
may be initiated. In the United States, the druggany must submit an IND to the FDA prior to sesgrauthorization for
human testing. The IND must contain adequate daaraeduct candidate chemistry, toxicology and meliaim and, where
appropriate, animal research testing to suppditirgafety.

A CTA is the European equivalent of the United &diND. CTA requirements are issued by the Medgered Healthcare
Products Regulatory Agency, the United Kingdom’altreauthority and were enacted through the U.Kdidiees for Human
Use (Clinical Trials) Regulations 2004, which implented the EU Clinical Trials Directive in the UrdtKingdom.

Any of our product candidates will require regutgtapproval and compliance with regulations madé&Jhited States and
foreign government agencies prior to commerciabzain such countries. The process of obtaining kidAoreign regulatory
agency approval has historically been extremelyigasid time consuming. The FDA regulates, amomgiothings, the
development, testing, manufacture, safety, effica@gord keeping, labeling, storage, approval, gibieg, promotion, sale, ar
distribution of biologics and new drugs.
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The standard process required by the FDA befoteaanpaceutical agent may be marketed in the UnitatéSincludes:
»  preclinical tests in animals that demonstrate ageable likelihood of safety and effectivenessumbn patients

. submission to the FDA of an IND, which must beeosffective before clinical trials in humans camoeence. If
phase I clinical trials are to be conducted inifialutside the United States, a different regulafding is required,
depending on the location of the tri

- adequate and well controlled human clinical $rial establish the safety and efficacy of the dnubiologic in the
intended disease indicatic

-  for drugs, submission of a New Drug ApplicationNdDA, or a Biologic License Application, or BLA, i the FDA;
and

*  FDA approval of the NDA or BLA before any commeitdale or shipment of the dru

Preclinical studies can take several years to cetepand there is no guarantee that an IND basédose studies will become
effective to permit clinical trials to begin. Oncknical trials are initiated, they generally tdiee to seven years, or longer, to
complete. After completion of clinical trials oin@w drug or biologic product, FDA approval of thBA or BLA must be
obtained. This process requires substantial tindeeffiort and there is no assurance that the FDRasitept the NDA or BLA
for filing and, even if filed, that the FDA will gnt approval. In the past, the FDA’s approval oA or BLA has taken, on
average, one to two years, but in some instancgdaka substantially longer. If questions regardiafety or efficacy arise,
additional studies may be required, followed bgsubmission of the NDA or BLA. Review and approvghn NDA or BLA
can take up to several years.

In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each puot] each drug manufacturing facility must be inspé and approved by tl
FDA. All manufacturing establishments are subjedhspections by the FDA and by other federalestaind local agencies, a
must comply with GMP requirements. We do not cuiyemave any GMP manufacturing capabilities, antl sgly on contract
manufacturers to produce material for any clintdals that we may conduct.

We must also obtain regulatory approval in othemtdes in which we intend to market any drug. Téguirements governing
conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pnig, and reimbursement vary widely from countnctauntry. FDA approval do
not ensure regulatory approval in other countiié® current approval process varies from countgotmtry, and the time
spent in gaining approval varies from that requiiied=DA approval. In some countries, the salegudtthe drug must also be
approved. The pricing review period often begirtsraiarket approval is granted. Even if a foreigguiatory authority
approves a drug product, it may not approve satisfa prices for the product.

In addition to regulations enforced by the FDA, ave also subject to regulation under the OccupatiSafety and Health Act,
the Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic Subs&nControl Act, the Resource Conservation and Wegdict, and other
present and potential future federal, state, aalloegulations. Our research and development imgolkie controlled use of
hazardous materials, chemicals, biological matgraid various radioactive compounds. Although alebe that our safety
procedures for handling and disposing of such riasecurrently comply in all material respects witle standards prescribed
by state and federal regulations, the risk of aauial contamination or injury from these materanot be completely
eliminated. In the event of such an accident, wddcbe held liable for any damages that resultaamdsuch liability could
exceed our available resources.
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Employees

We believe that our success will be based on, amtmey things, the quality of our clinical prograrosr ability to invent and
develop superior and innovative technologies aodycts, and our ability to attract and retain cépalanagement and other
personnel. We have assembled a high quality teasuieftists, clinical development managers, andutkees with significant
experience in the biotechnology and pharmaceuitichistries.

As of December 31, 2008, we employed 35 full tigaiealent employees, 13 with Ph.D. degrees. Intamddio our employee:
we also use the service and support of outsideuttamés and advisors. None of our employees isespted by a union, and
believe relationships with our employees are good.

Available Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reportd=orm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and miéadments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 14¢al5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1982lavailable free of charge
on our website, www.athersys.cqras soon as reasonably practicable after theffl@dewith, or furnished to, the SEC.

Merger and Name Change

On June 8, 2007, Athersys, Inc., a Delaware cotoramerged with a wholly owned subsidiary of BTN Inc., a Delaware
corporation. On August 31, 2007, Athersys, Inc.ngea its name to ABT Holding Company, and BTHC Mt. changed its
name to Athersys, Inc. In this annual report, lhigherwise indicated or the context otherwise ireguall references to “we”
or “us” are to Athersys, Inc., the Delaware corpioraformerly known as BTHC VI, Inc., together wits wholly owned
subsidiary, ABT Holding Company, the Delaware cogpion formerly known as Athersys, Inc. Specifisalissions or
comments relating only to BTHC VI, Inc. prior taeetmerger described above reference “BTHC Mikiile those relating only -
our subsidiary Athersys, Inc. prior to the mergderence “Athersys.”
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The statements in this section, as well as statenumscribed elsewhere in this annual report, othier SEC filings, describe
risks that could materially and adversely affeat lousiness, financial condition and results of afiens and the trading price
our equity securities could decline. These risksrant the only risks that we face. Our businessyitial condition and results
operations could also be affected by additionabfiacthat are not presently known to us or thatureently consider to be
immaterial to our operations.

Risks Related To Our Business and Our Industry

Athersys has incurred losses since inception andexpect to incur significant net losses in the feeeable future and ma
never become profitable.

Since Athersys’ inception in 1995, it has incursgghificant losses and negative cash flows fronraipens. Athersys has
incurred net losses of $11 million in 2006, $19liwil in 2007 and $18 million in 2008. As of DecemB3é&, 2008, we had an
accumulated deficit of $178 million, and anticipateurring additional losses for at least the reeuteral years. We expect to
spend significant resources over the next seveaisyto enhance our technologies and to fund refsead development of our
pipeline of potential products. To date, substdigtal of Athersys’ revenue has been derived froonporate collaborations,
license agreements and government grants. In todeghieve profitability, we must develop produatsl technologies that can
be commercialized by us or through future collabore. Our ability to generate revenues and beqomfitable will depend o
our ability, alone or with potential collaboratots,timely, efficiently and successfully complete tdevelopment of our product
candidates. We have never earned revenue fromgellproduct and we may never do so, as none giroduct candidates
have been approved for sale, since they are clyesing tested yet in humans and animal studies c@hnot assure you that
we will ever earn revenue or that we will ever lmaegorofitable. If we sustain losses over an extdrmbgiod of time, we may
be unable to continue our business.

We will need substantial additional funding to ddep our products and for our future operations. ifie are unable to obtain
the funds necessary to do so, we may be requiredetay, scale back or eliminate our product devetggnt activities or may
be unable to continue our business.

The development of our product candidates will nega commitment of substantial funds to conduetdbstly and time-
consuming research, which may include preclinical dinical testing, necessary to obtain regulatgrovals and bring our
products to market. Net cash used in Athersys’ atfsrs was $8 million in 2006, $12 million in 2087d $16 million in 2008.
Based on current plans, we anticipate using $1llomilo $13 million of our cash (net of cash inflsito fund our activities in
2009, which includes clinical trial costs to advarmur MultiStem programs and reflects a reductiocasts from 2008 as a
result of the suspension of the ATHX-105 clinicedgram early in 2009. We expect to have availabihdo fund our
operations through 2011 based on our current bssiared operational plans and assuming no new fimgsaOur future capital
requirements will depend on many factors, including

« the progress and costs of our research and geweltt programs, including our ability to develop ourrent
portfolio of therapeutic products, or discover aledelop new one:

e our ability, or our partners ability and willingss, to advance partnered products or programsharspeed in which
they are advance:

e the cost of prosecuting, defending and enforcingmtaclaims and other intellectual property rigl

< the progress, scope, costs, and results of eglipical and clinical testing of any current otute pharmaceutical or
MultiStem related product:

«  the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatapprovals
« the cost of manufacturing our product candide

* expenses related to complying with GMP of theraipgqubduct candidate:
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e costs of financing the purchases of additionaltehpiquipment and development technolog
e competing technological and market developme

e our ability to establish and maintain collaboratand other arrangements with third parties tesassbringing our
products to market and the cost of such arrangesy

e the amount and timing of payments or equity itwmesits that we receive from collaborators or changer
terminations of future or existing collaboratiordditensing arrangements and the timing and amofuekpenses we
incur to supporting these collaborations and lieesigreement:

»  costs associated with the integration of any nperation, including costs relating to future mesgend acquisitions
with companies that have complementary capabili

*  expenses related to the establishment of satemarnketing capabilities for products awaiting amad or products
that have been approve

e the level of our sales and marketing expenses
e our ability to introduce and sell new produc

We cannot assure you that we will not need additicapital sooner than currently anticipated. Wk ngied to raise substantial
additional capital to fund our future operationse \dannot be certain that additional financing Wélavailable on acceptable
terms or at all, particularly in light of the cuntecredit crisis. In recent years, it has beendliff for companies to raise capital
due to a variety of factors, which may or may ranit;ue. To the extent we raise additional capitedugh the sale of equity
securities, the ownership position of our exisstgckholders could be substantially diluted. Ifiiddal funds are raised
through the issuance of preferred stock or dehirass, these securities are likely to have righteferences and privileges
senior to our common stock. Fluctuating interesgg&ould also increase the costs of any debtdingrwe may obtain.

Failure to successfully address ongoing liquidgguirements will have a material adverse effeabanbusiness. If we are
unable to obtain additional capital on acceptadims when needed, we may be required to take adtiat harm our business
and our ability to achieve cash flow in the futureluding possibly the surrender of our rightsteone technologies or product
opportunities, delaying our clinical trials or ailing or ceasing operations.

We are heavily dependent on the successful devetagrand commercialization of MultiStem, and if waeounter delays or
difficulties in the development of this product cditlate, our business would be harmed.

We are heavily dependent upon the successful dewelot of MultiStem for certain diseases and coodgiinvolving acute or
ischemic injury or immune system dysfunction. Ousibess could be materially harmed if we encoutiféculties in the
development of this product candidate, such as:

« delays in the ability to manufacture the prodogjuantities or in a form that is suitable for aeguired preclinical
studies or clinical trials

* delays in the design, enrollment, implementationampletion of required preclinical studies andiclal trials;

e aninability to follow our current developmentagegy for obtaining regulatory approval from tHaA-because of
changes in the regulatory approval proc

« less than desired or complete lack of efficacyadety in preclinical studies or clinical trials;dc

e intellectual property constraints that preventrasf making, using, or commercializing the produanadidate
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The results seen in animal testing of our producrdidates may not be replicated in humans.

This annual report discusses the safety and effisaen in preclinical testing of our lead prodwtdidates, including
MultiStem, in animals, but we may not see positegults when our other product candidates unddigica testing in humans
in the future. Preclinical studies and phase licdihtrials are not primarily designed to test éfiicacy of a product candidate in
humans, but rather to:

« test shorterm safety and tolerabilit
*  study the absorption, distribution, metabolism alihination of the product candida

»  study the biochemical and physiological effedtthe product candidate and the mechanisms ofrting action and
the relationship between drug levels and effeat;

« understand the product candic's side effects at various doses and sched

Success in preclinical studies or completed clirtitals does not ensure that later studies otlstriacluding continuing non-
clinical studies and largseale clinical trials, will be successful nor ditasecessarily predict future results. The ratéadtire in
drug development is quite high, and many companiése biotechnology and pharmaceutical industngse suffered
significant setbacks in advanced clinical trialggre after promising results in earlier trials. Rrotdcandidates may fail to show
desired safety and efficacy in larger and morerdwgatient populations in later stage clinical&;i despite having progressed
through early stage trials. Negative or inconclasisults from any of our ongoing preclinical sasdor clinical trials could
result in delays, modifications, or abandonmerdgrafoing or future clinical trials and the termiatiof our development of a
product candidate. Additionally, even if we areeatal successfully complete pivotal phase Il clitials, the FDA still may
not approve our product candidates.

Our product canditates are in an early stage of dpment and we currently have no therapeutic pratiiapproved for sale
If we are unable to develop, obtain regulatory appal or market any of our product candidates, oundncial condition will
be negatively affected, and we may have to cumaitease our operations.

We are in the early stage of product developmertt,vee are dependent on the application of our telolgnes to discover or
develop therapeutic product candidates. We cuyrelatinot sell any approved therapeutic productsdandot expect to have
any products commercially available for severalrgei at all. You must evaluate us in light of tinecertainties and
complexities affecting an early stage biotechnologymnpany. Our product candidates require additiozsgdarch and
development, preclinical testing, clinical testangd regulatory review and/or approvals or clearamefore marketing. To date,
no one to our knowledge has commercialized anyatieartic products using our technologies and we tmigher
commercialize any product using our technologiesstirategy.

In addition, we may not succeed in developing nesdpct candidates as an alternative to our exigiorgfolio of product
candidates. If our current product candidates atayed or fail, or we fail to successfully devebm commercialize new
product candidates, our financial condition maybgatively affected, and we may have to curtadezse our operations.

We may not successfully maintain our existing cdilarative and licensing arrangements, or establisbvmones, which could
adversely affect our ability to develop and commialize our product candidates.

A key element of our business strategy is to consralize some of our product candidates throughabaltations with other
companies. Our strategy includes establishing ooltions and licensing agreements with one or mpbeemaceutical,
biotechnology or device companies, preferably aftethave advanced product candidates through ified stages of clinical
development. However, we may not be able to establi maintain such licensing and collaboratioamgements necessary to
develop and commercialize our product candidatesnbf we are able to maintain or establish licegsir collaboration
arrangements, these arrangements may not be orabd@derms and may contain provisions that walniet our ability to
develop, test and market our product candidateg.faiture to maintain or establish licensing orlabbration arrangements on
favorable terms could adversely affect our busimpeespects, financial condition or ability to deyeland commercialize our
product candidates.
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Our agreements with our collaborators and licensegshave provisions that give rise to disputeaming the rights and
obligations of the parties. These and other possitdagreements could lead to termination of theeagent or delays in
collaborative research, development, supply, orraengialization of certain product candidates, arld@equire or result in
litigation or arbitration. Moreover, disagreemeodsild arise with our collaborators over rightsritellectual property or our
rights to share in any of the future revenues otlpcts developed by our collaborators. These kifidssagreements could
result in costly and time-consuming litigation. Asiych conflicts with our collaborators could redoce ability to obtain future
collaboration agreements and could have a negiatipact on our relationship with existing collabarat

Currently, our material collaborations and licegsamrangements are our product co-developmentomyligion with Angiotech
to jointly develop and ultimately market MultiSteor the treatment of damage caused by myocardiatdtion and peripheral
vascular disease, our collaboration agreementBrigtol-Myers Squibb pursuant to which we proviad tines produced using
our RAGE technology, and our license with the Ursitg of Minnesota pursuant to which we licenseaiaraspects of the
MultiStem technology. These arrangements do not Ispecific termination dates; rather, each arraegemerminates upon the
occurrence of certain events.

The Angiotech collaboration terminates upon thdiesarto occur of (a) if at least one cell therggpgduct has obtained
regulatory approval and we and Angiotech have shprefits with respect to sales of at least onétherapy product, the date
that there has been no sales for 12 months of elhtherapy product that has been the subjectafitpsharing, unless a clinical
development candidate is in at least a phaseitiicell trial or later, or (b) the later of (1) tlegpiration date of the last-to-expire
patent licensed to Angiotech or (2) the 15-yeaisrsary. Neither we nor Angiotech may terminate ¢bllaboration at will,
but either party may elect at certain points tomote forward with individual product developmenbgrams. However,
Angiotech has the right to terminate the collabioraif, among other things, Angiotech, in its reaable judgment, determines
that a primary endpoint in a clinical trial withénclinical development plan has not been fulfikednet, or if the clinical
efficacy and/or safety with respect to cells, atinical development candidate or a cell therampdprct have not been
demonstrated.

The Bristol-Myers Squibb collaboration terminatdsen Bristol-Myers Squibb no longer has an obligatim pay us royalties,
which obligation generally continues until the fabé the expiration of the Bristol-Myers Squibb @t covering a product
utilizing our cell line or ten years after commeait@ales of that product began.

The University of Minnesota license agreement teatds when the last patent licensed to us expWesnay terminate the
license agreement at any time. The University afifdisota may terminate the license if we fail to ppalties when due or fall
to perform the material terms of the license, salour obligation to use commercially reasonalilertsfto commercialize the
MultiStem technology.

If our collaborators do not devote sufficient timend resources to successfully carry out their catted duties or mee
expected deadlines, we may not be able to advanc@mduct candidates in a timely manner or at all.

Our success depends on the performance by oubodditors of their responsibilities under our colleiion arrangements.
Some potential collaborators may not perform thbligations in a timely fashion or in a mannersatitory to us. Typically,
we cannot control the amount of resources or tiorecollaborators may devote to our programs orgakeproducts that may
be developed in collaboration with us. We are autydnvolved in multiple research and developmenitaborations with
academic and research institutions. These collatrsrérequently depend on outside sources of funtbrconduct or complete
research and development, such as grants or otlaeds. In addition, our academic collaborators heyend on graduate
students, medical students, or research assistactmduct certain work, and such individuals maybe fully trained or
experienced in certain areas, or they may eledistmontinue their participation in a particulareasch program, creating an
inability to complete ongoing research in a timahd efficient manner. As a result of these unastitss, we are unable to
control the precise timing and execution of anyegipents that may be conducted.

Additionally, our current or future corporate cditaators will retain the ability to pursue othesearch, product development
commercial opportunities that may be directly cotitie with our programs. If these collaboratorsatlto prioritize or pursue
other programs in lieu of ours, we may not be &bledvance product development programs in anieffior effective manne
if at all. If a collaborator is pursuing a compegtprogram and encounters unexpected financieapability limitations, they
may be motivated to reduce the priority placed onprograms or delay certain activities relateduo programs or be
unwilling to properly fund their share of the dey@inent expenses for our programs. Any of theseldpmrents could harm ol
product and technology development efforts, whizhld seriously harm our business.
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Under the terms of our collaboration agreement Witlyiotech, either party may choose, following tioenpletion of phase |
trials, to opt-out of its obligation to fund furthproduct development on a product-by-product bgsisvided no clinical trials
concerning such product candidate are currentlpimgg If Angiotech should decide to opt-out of fimgithe development of
any of the product candidates for the covered atdias, for any reason, we may be unable to fuadivelopment on our own
and could be forced to halt one or more MultiSteswedopment programs.

Even if we or our collaborators receive regulatoapproval for our products, those products may nebercommercially
successful

Even if we develop pharmaceuticals or MultiStenatesdl products that obtain the necessary regulafmpyoval, and we have
access to the necessary manufacturing, sales, timayleead distribution capabilities that we need, success depends to a
significant degree upon the commercial successasfa products. If these products fail to achieveutrssequently maintain
market acceptance or commercial viability, our bass would be significantly harmed because ourdutoyalty revenue or
other revenue would be dependent upon sales ¢ fireglucts. Many factors may affect the market ptecee and commercial
success of any potential products that we may desgiancluding:

. health concerns, whether actual or perceivedntavorable publicity regarding our obesity drugfem cell products
or those of our competitor

* the timing of market entry as compared to competifiroducts
e the rate of adoption of products by our collabarmtind other companies in the indus

e any product labeling that may be required byRBé or other United States or foreign regulatorgmgjes for our
products or competing or comparable prodt

» convenience and ease of administrat

e pricing;

- perceived efficacy and side effec

e marketing;

« availability of alternative treatment

« levels of reimbursement and insurance coverage
e activities by our competitor.

We may experience delays in clinical trials and tdgtory approval relating to our products that calidversely affect our
financial results and our commercial prospects four pharmaceutical or stem cell product

In addition to the regulatory requirements for pharmaceutical programs, we will also require ratpurly approvals for each
distinct application of our stem cell product. bch case, we will be required to conduct clinicals to demonstrate safety and
efficacy of MultiStem, or various products thatangorate or use MultiStem. For product candidatas advance to clinical
testing, we cannot be certain that we or a collateowill successfully complete the clinical trimlecessary to receive
regulatory product approvals. This process is lepghd expensive.
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We intend to seek approval for our product canéisiéirough the FDA approval process. To obtainleggry approvals, we
must, among other requirements, complete clinté@ktshowing that our products are safe and effedor a particular
indication. Under the approval process, we mustnsubdlinical and non-clinical data to demonstrdte medication is safe and
effective. For example, we must be able to prodata and information, which may include extendearptacology,
toxicology, reproductive toxicology, bioavailabyliand genotoxicity studies to establish suitabilityphase Il or large scale
phase Il clinical trials.

All of our product candidates are at an early stafgdgevelopment. As these programs enter and psedheough early stage
clinical development, or complete additional noimichl testing, an indication of a lack of safetylack of efficacy may result
in the early termination of an ongoing trial, oryr@use us or any of our collaborators to foregth&r development of a
particular product candidate or program. The FDAtber regulatory agencies may require extensiwnécal trials or other
testing prior to granting approval, which coulddmstly and time consuming to conduct. Any of théseelopments would
hinder, and potentially prohibit, our ability toramercialize our product candidates. We cannot asguu that clinical trials
will in fact demonstrate that our products are safeffective.

Additionally, we may not be able to find acceptgtdtients or may experience delays in enrollingepés for our currently
planned or any future clinical trials. The FDA oe way suspend our clinical trials at any timetifiei believes that we are
exposing the subjects participating in the trialsihacceptable health risks. The FDA or institialaeview boards and/or
institutional biosafety committees at the mediaalitutions and healthcare facilities where we geedponsor clinical trials m:
not permit a trial to proceed or may suspend aayitrdefinitely if they find deficiencies in theonduct of the trials.

Product development costs to us and our poterdlihmorators will increase if we have delays irtitesor approvals or if we
need to perform more or larger clinical trials thanned. We expect to continue to rely on thirdypelinical investigators at
medical institutions and healthcare facilities emaduct our clinical trials, and, as a result, weyrfzece additional delaying
factors outside our control. Significant delays radyersely affect our financial results and the e@rcial prospects for our
product candidates and delay our ability to becproitable.

If our pharmaceutical product candidates do not stessfully complete the clinical trial process, wélwot be able to partne
or market them. Even successful clinical trials magpt result in a partnering transaction or a markaile product and may
not be entirely indicative of a product’s safety efficacy.

Many factors, known and unknown, can adverselycaffénical trials and the ability to evaluate aguct’s efficacy. During th
course of treatment, patients can die or suffeeraglolverse events for reasons that may or mayenatlated to the proposed
product being tested. Even if unrelated to our pobdcertain events can nevertheless adverselydnmue clinical trials. As a
result, our ability to ultimately develop and markee products and obtain revenues would suffer.

Even promising results in preclinical studies amtlal clinical trials do not ensure successfulutesin later clinical trials, whic
test broader human use of our products. Many corepam our industry have suffered significant selisain advanced clinical
trials, despite promising results in earlier tridisen successful clinical trials may not resuldimarketable product or be
indicative of the efficacy or safety of a produdiany factors or variables could affect the resaiftslinical trials and cause the
to appear more promising than they may otherwis@beduct candidates that successfully completéceli trials could
ultimately be found to be unsafe or ineffective.

In addition, our ability to complete clinical treatlepends on many factors, including obtaining adegclinical supplies and
having a sufficient rate of patient recruitmentr Erample, patient recruitment is a function of spnéactors, including:

« the size of the patient populatic

«  the proximity of patients to clinical site

« the eligibility criteria for the trial

« the perceptions of investigators and patients diggrsafety; an

e the availability of other treatment optiot
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Even if we obtain regulatory approval of any of oproduct candidates, the approved products may uigjext to pos-
approval studies and will remain subject to ongoirggulatory requirements. If we fail to comply, drconcerns are
identified in subsequent studies, our approval cdide withdrawn and our product sales could be susged.

If we are successful at obtaining regulatory apaléer MultiStem or any of our other product caraties, regulatory agencies
the United States and other countries where a ptotill be sold may require extensive additionahiclal trials or post-
approval clinical studies that are expensive amé ttonsuming to conduct. In particular, therapguticiucts administered for
the treatment of persistent or chronic conditidugh as obesity, are likely to require extensiiefeup studies and close
monitoring of patients after regulatory approvas baen granted, for any signs of adverse effeatsoittur over a long period
of time. These studies may be expensive and timewning to conduct and may reveal side effectsrmrdiarmful effects in
patients that use our therapeutic products afegr #ne on the market, which may result in the Btidin or withdrawal of our
drugs from the market. Alternatively, we may notaisée to conduct such additional trials, which ntiffnce us to abandon our
efforts to develop or commercialize certain procdtarididates. Even if post-approval studies areempiested or required, after
our products are approved and on the market, thagkt be safety issues that emerge over time #watire a change in product
labeling or that require withdrawal of the prodfroim the market, which would cause our revenueetdide.

Additionally, any products that we may successfdiyelop will be subject to ongoing regulatory rieguments after they are
approved. These requirements will govern the mantufang, packaging, marketing, distribution, ané o$ our products. If we
fail to comply with such regulatory requirementgpeoval for our products may be withdrawn, and picales may be
suspended. We may not be able to regain compliamaeee may only be able to regain compliance aftengthy delay,
significant expense, lost revenues and damagertoeputation.

We may rely on third parties to manufacture our ptmaaceutical product candidates and our MultiStemqutuct candidate.
There can be no guarantee that we can obtain suéfit and acceptable quantities of our pharmaceutiggioduct candidates
or of our MultiStem product candidate on acceptalieyms, which may delay or impair our ability to delop, test and market
such products

Our current business strategy relies on third @atth manufacture and produce our pharmaceutiodlpt candidates and
MultiStem product candidate in accordance with go@thufacturing practices established by the FD/Asimilar regulations in
other countries. Our pharmaceutical product carnd&ar MultiStem product candidate may be in coitipatwith other
products or companies for access to these fasilitiel may be subject to delays in manufacturerd fharties give other
products greater priority than our product candidalhese third parties may not deliver sufficguentities of our
pharmaceutical or MultiStem product candidates, ufeature our pharmaceutical and MultiStem prodacididates in
accordance with specifications, or comply with agaddle government regulations. Additionally, if tnenufactured products
fail to perform as specified, our business and tagmn could be severely impacted.

We expect to enter into additional manufacturingeagents for the production of product materidlany manufacturing
agreement is terminated or any third party collatmrexperiences a significant problem that coeklilt in a delay or
interruption in the supply of product materialag there are very few contract manufacturers wieatly have the capability
to produce our pharmaceutical product candidatédudtiStem product on acceptable terms, or on &Mtynand cost-effective
basis. We cannot assure you that manufacturershomwve will depend will be able to successfullyguwoe our
pharmaceutical product candidates or MultiStem pcbdn acceptable terms, or on a timely or costetffe basis. We cannot
assure you that manufacturers will be able to mastufe our products in accordance with our prodpetifications or will
meet FDA or other requirements. We must have safftand acceptable quantities of our product nedseto conduct our
clinical trials and to market our product candidai€and when such products have been approvékedlyDA for marketing. If
we are unable to obtain sufficient and acceptabéntities of our product material, we may be regplito delay the clinical
testing and marketing of our products.

24




Table of Contents

If our contract manufacturers are not satisfyingreeds and we decide not to establish our own faatwring capabilities, it
could be difficult and very expensive to changepdigps. Any change in the location of manufactunvmguld require FDA
inspection and approval, which could interrupt$heply of products and may be timensuming and expensive to obtain. If
are unable to identify alternative contract mantufears that are qualified to produce our produstsmay have to temporarily
suspend the production of products, and would lablento generate revenue from the sale of products.

If we do not comply with applicable regulatory remements in the manufacture and distribution of oyroduct candidates
we may incur penalties that may inhibit our abilitpy commercialize our products and adversely affeat revenue.

Ouir failure or the failure of our potential collabtors or third party manufacturers to comply vétplicable FDA or other
regulatory requirements including manufacturingalgy control, labeling, safety surveillance, praimg and reporting may
result in criminal prosecution, civil penaltiesca#l or seizure of our products, total or partiadgension of production or an
injunction, as well as other regulatory action agabur product candidates or us. Discovery of ipresty unknown problems
with a product, supplier, manufacturer or facilityay result in restrictions on the sale of our peiduincluding a withdrawal of
such products from the market. The occurrence pfofithese events would negatively impact our bessrand results of
operations.

If we are unable to create and maintain sales, matikg and distribution capabilities or enter intoggeements with thirc
parties to perform those functions, we will not bele to commercialize our product candidat

We currently have no sales, marketing or distriuttapabilities. Therefore, to commercialize owrduct candidates, if and
when such products have been approved and are feaharketing, we expect to collaborate with thpatties to perform the:
functions. We will either need to share the valaeagated from the sale of any products and/or fag #o the contract sales
organization. If we establish any such relationshipe will be dependent upon the capabilities afamllaborators or contract
service providers to effectively market, sell, alistribute our product. If they are ineffectivesatling and distributing our
product, or if they choose to emphasize other prtsdaver ours, we may not achieve the level of pcodales revenues that we
would like. If conflicts arise, we may not be ahieresolve them easily or effectively, and we maffes financially as a result.
If we cannot rely on the sales, marketing and ithistion capabilities of our collaborators or of t@wet service providers, we
may be forced to establish our own capabilities.N&ee no experience in developing, training or ngampaa sales force and
will incur substantial additional expenses if weide to market any of our future products diredigveloping a marketing and
sales force is also time consuming and could delarych of our future products. In addition, we wiimpete with many
companies that currently have extensive and fueltted marketing and sales operations. Our maigketivd sales efforts may
unable to compete successfully against these caegpan

If we are unable to attract and retain key persornred advisors, it may adversely affect our abilttyobtain financing,
pursue collaborations or develop our product candids.

We are highly dependent on Gil Van Bokkelen, PhaDr, Chief Executive Officer, as well as other ake® and scientific
officers, including William Lehmann, J.D., M.B.APresident and Chief Operating Officer, John HatongPh.D., Chief
Scientific Officer and Executive Vice Presidentded Deans, Ph.D., Senior Vice President, Regemertedicine, and Laura
Campbell, CPA, Vice President of Finance.

These individuals are integral to the developmentiategration of our technologies and to our pmeés@d future scientific
collaborations, including managing the complex aesle processes and the product development andtjadte
commercialization processes. Given their leaderghifensive technical, scientific and financial ettjse and management and
operational experience, these individuals wouldiffecult to replace. Consequently, the loss ofvéses of one or more of these
individuals could result in product developmentaysl or the failure of our collaborations with cuntrand future collaborators,
which, in turn, may hurt our ability to develop atmimmercialize products and generate revenues.

Our future success depends on our ability to ditratain and motivate highly qualified managenamd scientific,
development and commercial personnel and advifosg are unable to attract and retain key persbaneé advisors, it may
negatively affect our ability to successfully deygltest and commercialize our product candidates.
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Our ability to compete in the biopharmaceutical miat may decline if we do not adequately protect puoprietary
technologies.

Our success depends in part on our ability to atdad maintain intellectual property that protemis technologies and our
pharmaceutical products. Patent positions may glehyhuncertain and may involve complex legal aradifal questions,
including the ability to establish patentability@@mpounds and methods for using them for whicls@ek patent protection.
We cannot predict the breadth of claims that wiiluately be allowed in our patent applicationsaiify, including those we
have in-licensed or the extent to which we may ex&fehese claims against our competitors. We higack ihultiple patent
applications that seek to protect the compositiomaiter and method of use related to our smalkede programs. In
addition, we are prosecuting more than 25 disfiatent applications directed to composition, meshafdoroduction, and
methods of use of MultiStem and related technokdfeve are unsuccessful in obtaining these pateve may ultimately be
unable to commercialize products that we are dgvedpor may elect to develop in the future.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is therefore highly uncertain and we carassture you that:

* we were the first to file patent applicationd@invent the subject matter claimed in patentigptibns relating to the
technologies or product candidates upon which e

« others will not independently develop similar deabative technologies or duplicate any of our textbgies;

« others did not publicly disclose our claimed talogy before we conceived the subject matter ohetlin any of our
patent applications

< any of our pending or future patent applicationt result in issued patent

< any of our patent applications will not resulirterferences or disputes with third parties rdgay priority of
invention;

e any patents that may be issued to us, our cablétis or our licensors will provide a basis fomgoercially viable
products or will provide us with any competitivevadtages or will not be challenged by third part

» we will develop additional proprietary technologtlat are patentabl
« the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfa our ability to do business;

. new proprietary technologies from third partiesjuding existing licensors, will be available flarensing to us on
reasonable commercial terms, if at

In addition, patent law outside the United Stasasricertain and in many countries intellectual proplaws are undergoing
review and revision. The laws of some countriesoloprotect intellectual property rights to the saextent as domestic laws
may be necessary or useful for us to participatgpjposition proceedings to determine the validftpur competitorspatents o

to defend the validity of any of our or our licerisduture patents, which could result in substantosts and would divert our
efforts and attention from other aspects of ouinmss. With respect to certain of our inventions,hvave decided not to pursue
patent protection outside the United States, bettabse we do not believe it is cost effective aamhhse of confidentiality
concerns. Accordingly, our international compestoould develop and receive foreign patent praiadr gene sequences and
functions for which we are seeking United Stataemigprotection, enabling them to sell products tw have developed.

Technologies licensed to us by others, or in-lieengchnologies, are important to our business.stbpe of our rights under
our licenses may be subject to dispute by our §oenor third parties. Our rights to use theserteldyies and to practice the
inventions claimed in the licensed patents areesuitdp our licensors abiding by the terms of tHasnses and not terminating
them. In particular, we depend on certain techrielgelating to our MultiStem technology licenseahf the University of
Minnesota. As a result of this license, we haveadto use commercially reasonable efforts to dgvahd commercialize this
technology. If we fail to comply with those obligats, we may lose some of the rights that enabte usilize this technology,
and our ability to develop products based on Mtdt$could be seriously hampered.
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In addition, we may in the future acquire rightatilitional technologies by licensing such rightsf existing licensors or
from third parties. Such in-licenses may be cogtlgo, we generally do not control the patent pcosien, maintenance or
enforcement of in-licensed technologies. Accordingle are unable to exercise the same degree @fotawer this intellectual
property as we do over our internally developetinetogies. Moreover, some of our academic instituticensors,
collaborators and scientific advisors have rightpublish data and information to which we havétsglf we cannot maintain
the confidentiality of our technologies and othenfidential information in connection with our catiorations, our ability to
protect our proprietary information or obtain pdtprotection in the future may be impaired, whicluld have a significant
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

We may not have adequate protection for our unpdeghproprietary information, which could adversedffect our
competitive position.

In addition to patents, we will substantially rely trade secrets, know-how, continuing technolddiceovations and licensing
opportunities to develop and maintain our compegiposition. However, others may independently tgwsubstantially
equivalent proprietary information and techniquestberwise gain access to our trade secrets olodis our technology. To
protect our trade secrets, we may enter into cenfidlity agreements with employees, consultantspantential collaborators.
However, these agreements may not provide meanipgdtection of our trade secrets or adequate résed the event of
unauthorized use or disclosure of such informatigkewise, our trade secrets or know-how may becknmmvn through other
means or be independently discovered by our comopetiAny of these events could prevent us frometiging or
commercializing our product candidates.

Disputes concerning the infringement or misapproption of our proprietary rights or the proprietaryights of others coulc
be time consuming and extremely costly and coulthgieour research and development efforts.

Our commercial success, if any, will be signifidaititarmed if we infringe the patent rights of thpdrties or if we breach any
license or other agreements that we have enteteavith regard to our technology or business.

We are aware of other companies and academicutistis that have been performing research in thasaof adult derived ste
cells. In particular, other companies and acadénstitutions have announced that they have ideatifionembryonic stem ce
isolated from bone marrow or other tissues thaehhe ability to form a range of cell types, omiliy the property of
pluripotency. To the extent any of these compaoiescademic institutions currently have, or obiaithe future, broad patent
claims, such patents could block our ability to uagous aspects of our discovery and developmedgss and might prevent
us from developing or commercializing newly disc@deapplications of our MultiStem technology, dnertwise conducting o
business. In addition, it is possible that somthefpharmaceutical product candidates we are dewgjanay not be patentable
or may be covered by intellectual property of thpatties.

We are not currently a party to any litigationgirfierence, opposition, protest, reexamination graher potentially adverse
governmental, ex parte or inter-party proceedinip wegard to our patent or trademark positions. elmw, the life sciences and
other technology industries are characterized lgresive litigation regarding patents and otherlliettual property rights.
Many life sciences and other technology compange® lemployed intellectual property litigation asay to gain a competitiv
advantage. If we become involved in litigationgirfiérence proceedings, oppositions, reexaminapiariest or other potentially
adverse intellectual property proceedings as dtrekalleged infringement by us of the rights dfiers or as a result of priority
of invention disputes with third parties, we migfatve to spend significant amounts of money, tinteeffort defending our
position and we may not be successful. In additmy, claims relating to the infringement of thirdry proprietary rights or
proprietary determinations, even if not meritoriotsuld result in costly litigation, lengthy govemental proceedings, divert
managemens attention and resources, or require us to enteroyalty or license agreements that are not mtdgeous to us.
we do not have the financial resources to supptt $itigation or appeals, we may forfeit or loggtain commercial rights.
Even if we have the financial resources to contisweh litigation or appeals, we may lose. In thentthat we lose, we may be
forced to pay very substantial damages; we may twwobtain costly license rights, which may notailable to us on
acceptable terms, if at all; or we may be prohibftem selling products that are found to infringe patent rights of others.
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Should any person have filed patent applicationsbtéained patents that claim inventions also clditme us, we may have to
participate in an interference proceeding declisethe relevant patent regulatory agency to deteemriority of invention anc
thus, the right to a patent for these inventionthéUnited States. Such a proceeding could resslibstantial cost to us ever
the outcome is favorable. Even if successful oarjtyi grounds, an interference action may resulogs of claims based on
patentability grounds raised in the interferendgac Litigation, interference proceedings or othesceedings could divert
management’s time and efforts. Even unsuccessimslcould result in significant legal fees andeotbxpenses, diversion of
management’s time and disruption in our businessetainties resulting from initiation and contitioa of any patent
proceeding or related litigation could harm ouligbto compete and could have a significant adeeffect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

An adverse ruling arising out of any intellectusdjerty dispute, including an adverse decisiorodhe priority of our
inventions, could undercut or invalidate our ireetlial property position. An adverse ruling coukbaubject us to significant
liability for damages, including possible treblevtagyes, prevent us from using technologies or deugjoproducts, or require
us to negotiate licenses to disputed rights froind fharties. Although patent and intellectual pndypelisputes in the technology
area are often settled through licensing or singiteaangements, costs associated with these arramgemay be substantial and
could include license fees and ongoing royaltiestifermore, necessary licenses may not be avaiiahie on satisfactory
terms, if at all. Failure to obtain a license ils@ case could have a significant adverse effedun business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Many potential competitors, including those who teagreater resources and experience than we do, deyelop products ¢
technologies that make ours obsolete or noncompeit

We face significant competition with respect to puvduct candidates. With regard to our effortdeégelop MultiStem as a
novel stem cell therapy, currently, there are almemof companies that are actively developing stelhproducts, which
encompass a range of different cell types, inclgdimbryonic stem cells, umbilical cord stem celtult-derived stem cells,
and processed bone marrow derived cells. Our figuiceess will depend on our ability to maintairompetitive position with
respect to technological advances. Technologiozldpments by others may result in our MultiStemduct platform and
technologies, as well as our pharmaceutical fortirarla, becoming obsolete.

We are subject to significant competition from phaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic compaieagdemic and research
institutions, and government or other publicly faddagencies that are pursuing the developmentddpeutic products and
technologies that are substantially similar to puposed therapeutic products and technologigbabiotherwise address the
indications we are pursuing. Our most significasthpetitors include major pharmaceutical companieh s Pfizer, Bristol-
Myers Squibb, Merck, Roche, Sanofi-Aventis and @BmithKline as well as smaller biotechnology orgdiarmaceutical
companies such as Arena Pharmaceuticals, Orexityems, Osiris, Geron, Aastrom, Stem Cells Inc.,d&k and Cytori
Therapeutics. Most of our current and potential petitors have substantially greater research amneldement capabilities and
financial, scientific, regulatory, manufacturingarketing, sales, human resources, and experieaocenth do. Many of our
competitors have several therapeutic productshitrat already been developed, approved and sucligssinmercialized, or
are in the process of obtaining regulatory apprésatheir therapeutic products in the United Statad internationally.

Many of these companies have substantially greafeital resources, research and development resoand experience,
manufacturing capabilities, regulatory expertisdes and marketing resources, established relafjgmsvith consumer produc
companies and production facilities.

Universities and public and private research in8tihs are also potential competitors. While theggnizations primarily have
educational objectives, they may develop propnetachnologies related to stem cells or securenpat®tection that we may
need for the development of our technologies andymsts. We may attempt to license these proprigéfynologies, but these
licenses may not be available to us on acceptahtest if at all.

Our competitors, either alone or with their colledtove partners, may succeed in developing teclyiedoor products that are
more effective, safer, more affordable or morelgasimmercialized than ours, and our competitory piatain intellectual
property protection or commercialize products sodhan we do. Developments by others may rendepmgduct candidates
our technologies obsolete.

28




Table of Contents

Our current product discovery and development bollators are not prohibited from entering into aesk and development
collaboration agreements with third parties in prgduct field. Our failure to compete effectivelpwd have a significant
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

We will use hazardous and biological materials inrdousiness. Any claims relating to improper hanaj, storage or dispos:
of these materials could be time consuming and bost

Our products and processes will involve the cotedostorage, use and disposal of certain hazaralodidiological materials
and waste products. We and our suppliers and otiileborators are subject to federal, state anal legulations governing the
use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposabtdrials and waste products. Even if we and theppliers and
collaborators comply with the standards prescritpethw and regulation, the risk of accidental camteation or injury from
hazardous materials cannot be completely eliminadtethe event of an accident, we could be helldidor any damages that
result, and any liability could exceed the limitSall outside the coverage of any insurance we otagin and exceed our
financial resources. We may not be able to mairit&nrance on acceptable terms, or at all. We meyrisignificant costs to
comply with current or future environmental lawslargulations.

If we acquire products, technologies or other bussses, we will incur a variety of costs, may havegration difficulties and
may experience numerous other risks that could achedy affect our business.

To remain competitive, we may decide to acquirdtal businesses, products and technologies. Weitly have no
commitments or agreements with respect to, andaitractively seeking, any material acquisitions. hdge limited experience
in identifying acquisition targets, successfullyjaiting them and integrating them into our curraftastructure. We may not
be able to successfully integrate any businessedupts, technologies or personnel that we mighti@e in the future without a
significant expenditure of operating, financial andnagement resources, if at all. In addition,riacquisitions could require
significant capital infusions and could involve mgaisks, including, but not limited to:

e we may have to issue convertible debt or eq@tusties to complete an acquisition, which wouildté our
stockholders and could adversely affect the maykee of the common stoc

e an acquisition may negatively impact our resaftsperations because it may require us to inagelane-time
charges to earnings, amortize or write down amornaiédéed to goodwill and other intangible assetshour or
assume substantial debt or liabilities, or it mayse adverse tax consequences, substantial dejpreciadeferred
compensation charge

* we may encounter difficulties in assimilating antkgrating the business, technologies, prodpeissonnel or
operations of companies that we acqt

e certain acquisitions may disrupt our relationshith existing collaborators who are competitivehe acquired
business

e acquisitions may require significant capital sifins and the acquired businesses, products andkagies may not
generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisitiosts;

e an acquisition may disrupt our ongoing businesgnriliresources, increase our expenses and disttaatanagemen

e acquisitions may involve the entry into a geograghibusiness market in which we have little opnior experience
and

*  key personnel of an acquired company may decidéonwbrk for us.

Any of the foregoing risks could have a significadterse effect on our business, financial comtligind results of operations.
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To the extent we enter markets outside of the Udif&tates, our business will be subject to politicatonomic, legal and
social risks in those markets, which could advessaffect our business

There are significant regulatory and legal barriemnarkets outside the United States that we mwstcome to the extent we
enter or attempt to enter markets in countriesrdtien the United States. We will be subject tolitheden of complying with a
wide variety of national and local laws, includimgltiple and possibly overlapping and conflictimgvs. We also may
experience difficulties adapting to new culturassibess customs and legal systems. Any sales ardtams outside the Unit
States would be subject to political, economic social uncertainties including, among others:

e changes and limits in import and export contr

e increases in custom duties and tari

e changes in currency exchange ra

e economic and political instabilit

« changes in government regulations and I

« absence in some jurisdictions of effective lawpratect our intellectual property rights; a

e currency transfer and other restrictions and legguns that may limit our ability to sell certganoducts or repatriate
profits to the United State

Any changes related to these and other factorslamersely affect our business to the extent vier enarkets outside the
United States.

Foreign governments often impose strict price cavlr on approved products, which may adversely dffaa future
profitability in those countries, and the -importation of drugs to the United States from fgign countries that impose price
controls may adversely affect our future profitalty.

Frequently foreign governments impose strict paaetrols on newly approved therapeutic productaidfobtain regulatory
approval to sell products in foreign countries,may be unable to obtain a price that provides @guaate financial return on
our investment. Furthermore, legislation in thetgdiStates may permit re-importation of drugs ffoneign countries into the
United States, including re-importation from fomeigountries where the drugs are sold at lower prilean in the United States
due to foreign government-mandated price cont®lh a practice, especially if it is conducted avidespread basis, may
significantly reduce our potential United Stategerauies from any drugs that we are able to develop.

If we elect not to sell our products in foreign cotries that impose government mandated price colgroecause we decide
is uneconomical to do so, a foreign government @atgnt office may attempt to terminate our intelleetl property rights in
that country, enabling competitors to make and salir products.

In some cases we may choose not to sell a prodacfareign country because it is uneconomicakts@under a system of
government-imposed price controls, or becauseultdceeverely limit our profitability in the UniteStates or other markets. In
such cases, a foreign government or patent offigg terminate any intellectual property rights weyroatain with respect to
that product. Such a termination could enable cditmpe to produce and sell our product in that nearkurthermore, such
products may be exported into the United Statesutyir legislation that authorizes the importatiomafgs from outside the
United States. In such an event, we may have toceedur prices, or we may be unable to compete lawthcost providers of
our drugs, and we could be financially harmed essalt.

We may encounter difficulties managing our growtiwhich could adversely affect our business.

At various times we have experienced periods afirgpowth in our employee numbers as a resultdrfaanatic increase in
activity in technology programs, genomics progracediaborative research programs, discovery programnd scope of
operations. At other times, we have had to redtaféia order to bring our expenses in line withr éimancial resources. Our
success will also depend on the ability of ourceifs and key employees to continue to improve parational capabilities and
our management information and financial contrastems, and to expand, train and manage our wock for
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We may be sued for product liability, which couldhgersely affect our business.

Because our business strategy involves the developand sale by either us or our collaboratorsoafroercial products, we
may be sued for product liability. We may be héddble if any product we develop and commercialimeany product our
collaborators commercialize that incorporates a@nyuo technology, causes injury or is found otheeminsuitable during
product testing, manufacturing, marketing, salemrsumer use. In addition, the safety studies wst merform and the
regulatory approvals required to commercialize gharmaceutical products, will not protect us fraomy auch liability.

We carry product liability insurance, as well abllity insurance for conducting clinical trialsu@ently, we carry a $5 million
per event, $5 million annual aggregate coveragédtin our products liability policy and our clinldaals protection. We also
intend to seek product liability insurance for @pproved products that we may develop or acquiosvd¥er, in the event there
are product liability claims against us, our insur@may be insufficient to cover the expense oégihg against such claims,
or may be insufficient to pay or settle such claifsrthermore, we may be unable to obtain adequraduct liability insurance
coverage for commercial sales of any of our apptgueducts. If such insurance is insufficient totpct us, our results of
operations will suffer. If any product liabilityaim is made against us, our reputation and futalesswill be damaged, even if
we have adequate insurance coverage.

The availability, manner, and amount of reimbursemiefor our product candidates from government andyate payers are
uncertain, and our inability to obtain adequate mabursement for any products could severely limitrqaroduct sales.

We expect that many of the patients who seek tresattavith any of our products that are approvediarketing will be eligible
for Medicare benefits. Other patients may be cavéseprivate health plans. If we are unable to iobta retain adequate levels
of reimbursement from Medicare or from private tiealans, our ability to sell our products will beverely limited. The
application of existing Medicare regulations aniipretive coverage and payment determinationgtdynapproved products
is uncertain and those regulations and interpretaterminations are subject to change. The Medieegscription Drug
Improvement and Modernization Act, enacted in Deoen?003, provides for a change in reimbursemetihodelogy that
reduces the Medicare reimbursement rates for maurgsdwhich may adversely affect reimbursemenafor products we may
develop. Medicare regulations and interpretive reitgations also may determine who may be reimbufsedertain services,
and may limit the pool of patients our product adatks are being developed to serve.

Federal, state and foreign governments continygedpose legislation designed to contain or red@zdth care costs.
Legislation and regulations affecting the pricirfigomducts like our potential products may changghier or be adopted before
any of our potential products are approved for retanky. Cost control initiatives by governmentshird-party payers could
decrease the price that we receive for any ondl of aur potential products or increase patierihsarance to a level that make
our products under development become unaffordébkddition, government and private health plamsigtently challenge
the price and cosffectiveness of therapeutic products. Accordintigse third parties may ultimately not consider anall of
our products under development to be cost effectiveéch could result in products not being covenader their health plans or
covered only at a lower price. Any of these initias or developments could prevent us from sucabgsharketing and selling
any of our products that are approved for commEzeition.

Public perception of ethical and social issues sounding the use of adu-derived stem cell technology may limit or
discourage the use of our technologies, which mayguce the demand for our therapeutic products aedtinologies and
reduce our revenues.

Our success will depend in part upon our abilitdéwelop therapeutic products incorporating oralieced through our adult-
derived stem cell technology. For social, ethioalpther reasons, governmental authorities in thigeld States and other
countries may call for limits on, or regulationtbé use of, adult-derived stem cell technologidth@ugh we do not use the
more controversial stem cells derived from embiyofetuses, claims that adult-derived stem celinetogies are ineffective,
unethical or pose a danger to the environment mifyeince public attitudes. The subject of stem tealhnologies in general |
received negative publicity and aroused public teebathe United States and some other countrigscd& and other concerns
about our adult-derived stem cell technology confterially hurt the market acceptance of our thewéip products and
technologies, resulting in diminished sales andafisey products we are able to develop using atkritved stem cells.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal offices are located at 3201 Carndgienue in Cleveland, Ohio. We currently lease agipnately 53,000 square
feet of space for our corporate offices and lalwoias, with about 40,000 square feet of state-efédtt laboratory space. The
lease currently expires in March 2010, and we faawveption to extend the lease in annual increnténbsigh March 2013 at
our current rent of $267,000 per year. In 2008ewered into a three-year lease agreement foreadiind laboratory space for
our Belgian subsidiary, with an annual rent of appnately $42,000, subject to annual adjustmensedan an inflationary
index. The lease includes an option to expand, lwhi@xercised, would result in annual rent of lpmately $80,000. The
lease includes an option to renew for four addélgrears through December 31, 2014.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may become subject to varlegal proceedings that are incidental to the @dirconduct of our
business. Currently, there are no such proceedings.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to a vote of security hadkiring the fourth quarter of 20C

ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information under this Item is furnished purgua Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of RegulatiorkKS-

There exists no arrangement or understanding bataeg executive officer and any other person punstcawhich such
executive officer was elected. Each executive effierves until his or her successor is electedyantified.

The following sets forth the name, age, currenitfpzsand principal occupation and employment dgitine past five years of
our executive officers.

Gil Van Bokkelen, Ph.D.
Age: 48

Dr. Van Bokkelelhas served as our Chief Executive Officer and @inaair since June 2007. Dr. Van Bokkelen co-founded
Athersys in October 1995 and served as Chief Exex@fficer and Director since Athersys’ foundirRyior to May 2006, he
also served as Athersys’ President. He has sess/&hairman of Athersys’ board of directors sincgyést 2000. Dr. Van
Bokkelen is the current Chairman of the CenteiSikam Cells and Regenerative Medicine, and has d@mwa number of other
boards, including the Biotechnology Industry Orgation’s ECS board of directors from 2001 to 200d & 2008, and the
Kent State University Board of Trustees from 2002004, and has served as an advisor to a numlearlgfstage and venture-
backed companies, venture capital firms and nofitppmanizations. He received his Ph.D. in Gereetfiom Stanford
University, his B.A. in Economics from the Univeysof California at Berkeley, and his B.A. in Moldar Biology from the
University of California at Berkeley.

William (BJ) Lehmann, Jr., J.D.
Age: 43

Mr. Lehmanrhas served as our President and Chief Operatiriggdiince June 2007. Mr. Lehmann joined Atherays i
September 2001 and was Athersys’ Executive Vicsi@eat of Corporate Development and Finance fromguisti2002 until
May 2006, when he became Athersys’ President anef Ciperating Officer. From 1994 to 2001, Mr. Lehmawas with
McKinsey & Company, Inc., an international managetre@nsulting firm, where he worked extensivelyhwitew technology
and service-based businesses in the firm’s BusiBe#ding practice. Prior to joining McKinsey, heovked at Wilson, Sonsini,
Goodrich & Rosati, a Silicon Valley law firm, ancbvked with First Chicago Corporation, a financiatitution. Mr. Lehmann
received his J.D. from Stanford University, his MABfrom the University of Chicago, and his B.Aoifin the University of
Notre Dame
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John J. Harrington, Ph.D.
Age: 41

Dr. Harrington has served as our Chief Scientific Officer, ExaeiWice President and Director since June 2007.

Dr. Harrington co-founded Athersys in October 1998 has served as Athersys’ Executive Vice Presmtah Chief Scientific
Officer and as Director since Athersys’ founding. Barrington led the development of the RAGE texbgy as well as its
application for gene discovery, drug discovery aochmercial protein production applications. He lstd inventor on 20
issued or pending United States patents, has auatt®fY scientific publications, and has received enams awards for his work,
including being named one of the top internatigimaing scientists by MIT Technology Review in 20D2. Harrington has
overseen the therapeutic product development progyed Athersys since their inception, and duriregdaireer he has also held
positions at Amgen and Scripps Clinic. He receiliisdPh.D. in Cancer Biology from Stanford Univeysind his B.A. in
Biochemistry and Cell Biology from the University Galifornia at San Diego.

Robert J. Deans, Ph.D.
Age: 57

Dr. Deanshas served as our Senior Vice President, Regenetdtedicine since June 2007. Dr. Deans has ledréyke
regenerative medicine research and developmenitagisince February 2003 and has served as \fiegident of Regenerati
Medicine since October 2003. He was named Seniog President of Regenerative Medicine in June 2DB8Deans is highly
regarded as an expert in stem cell therapeutithk,avier fifteen years of experience in this fidkdom 2001 to 2003, Dr. Deans
worked for early-stage biotechnology companies.@rans was formerly the Vice President of Reseatsiris Therapeutics,
Inc., a biotechnology company, from 1998 to 2004 Birector of Research and Development with the imatherapy Divisio
of Baxter International, Inc., a global healthcepenpany, from 1992 to 1998. Dr. Deans was alsoipusly on faculty at USC
Medical School in Los Angeles, between 1981 anB18#Bthe departments of Microbiology and Neurolegyhe Norris
Comprehensive Cancer Center. Dr. Deans was angnadielate at MIT, received his Ph.D. at the Unitersi Michigan, and
did his post-doctoral work at UCLA in Los Angeles.

Laura K. Campbell, CPA
Age: 45

Ms. Campbelhas served as our Vice President, Finance sinae2l0v. Ms. Campbell joined Athersys in January8189
Controller and has served as Vice President ofriéieaince May 2006. Prior to joining Athersys, slas at Ernst & Young
LLP, a public accounting firm, for 11 years, in taadit practice. During her tenure with Ernst & Yigu_LP, Ms. Campbell
specialized in entrepreneurial services and thiebmology industry sector and participated in sghvaitial public offerings.
Ms. Campbell received her B.S., with distinctiamBiusiness Administration from The Ohio State Unsitg.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Since December 12, 2007, our common stock hastbeged on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the syhiBaHX.” Set
forth below are the high and low sale prices far@ammon stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market for gegiods indicated.

High Low
Year ended December 31, 2008:
First Quartel $ 5.0C $ 3.0C
Second Quarte $ 4.23 $ 1.5t
Third Quartel $ 4.0C $ 1.17
Fourth Quarte $ 1.8¢ $ 0.1t
High Low
Year ended December 31, 200°
Fourth Quarter (from December 12, 2007 through bésss 31, 2007 $ 5.01 $ 3.51

Prior to the merger with BTHC VI, Inc., BTHC VI wasshell company with no operations and no or nah@ssets. BTHC
VI's common stock was eligible for trading on th@ ©Bulletin Board, although no trading took plac®mpto the merger
because none of BTHC VI's then-outstanding shar®able to be transferred under the terms of BVHE bankruptcy plan
until the merger was consummated. From June 8, 8)Décember 11, 2007, our common stock was qumtatie OTC
Bulletin Board under the symbol “AHYS” at the folling prices:

High Low
Year ended December 31, 200°
Second Quarte $ 10.0C $ 5.2t
Third Quartel $ 8.7t $ 7.0C
Fourth Quarter (through December 11, 2C $ 8.0C $ 4.4C

These over-the-counter market quotations refldetridealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-eioov commission and may
not necessarily represent actual transactions.

Holders

As of February 28, 2009, the number of holderseobrd was approximately 789, one of which is Cedea%, a nominee for
The Depository Trust Company, or DTC. Shares ofroom stock that are held by financial institutiossn@minees for
beneficial owners are deposited into participacbaots at DTC, and are considered to be held yrdday Cede & Co., as one
stockholder.

Dividend Policy

All of our assets consist of the capital stock &TAHolding Company. We would have to rely upon desids and other
payments from ABT Holding Company to generate tivels necessary to make dividend payments, if ampuo common
stock. ABT Holding Company, however, is legallytitist from us and has no obligation to pay amotmiss. The ability of
ABT Holding Company to make dividend and other papts to us is subject to, among other things, Wadability of funds,
the terms of our indebtedness and applicable Eate We did not pay cash dividends on our comntocksduring the past tw
years. We do not anticipate that we will pay angdiinds on our common stock in the foreseeabladutather, we anticipa
that we will retain earnings, if any, for use ir tthevelopment of our business.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Consolidated Statement of Operation:
Data:
Revenues
License fee: $ 1,88C $ 1,43 $ 1,90¢ $ 76 $ 82C
Grants 1,22¢ 1,827 1,817 2,83¢ 2,31¢
Total revenue 3,10¢ 3,26( 3,72¢ 3,59¢ 3,13¢
Costs and expense
Research and developmt 16,50( 15,817 9,741 12,57¢ 12,41¢
General and administratiy 5,47¢ 7,97¢ 3,341 3,75¢ 4,717
Depreciatior 21¢ 283 52¢ 982 1,29
Restructuring cost — — — 251 107
Loss from operation (19,097 (20,81Y) (9,89)) (13,970 (15,399
Other income (expense
Other income and equity in earnings
unconsolidated affiliat 48 2,017 20¢ 18 —
Interest incomt 1,14¢ 1,591 11¢ 317 317
Interest expense and ott (99 (1,269 (1,047 (9649) (73
Accretion of premium on convertible
debt — (45€) (260) — —
Loss before cumulative effect of chang
accounting principle $ (17,999 $ (18,92¢ $ (10,87) $ (14,599 $ (15,159
Cumulative effect of change in account
principle — — 30€ — —
Net loss (17,997 (18,92¢) (10,565 (14,599 (15,15/)
Preferred stock dividenc — (659) (1,409 (2,259 (2,325
Deemed dividend resulting from induce
conversion of convertible preferred
stock — (4,800 — — —
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders $ (17,999 $ (24,385 $ (11,979) $ (16,859 $ (17,479
Basic and diluted net loss per common
share attributable to common
stockholders:
Loss before cumulative effect of chang
accounting principle $ (0.95 % (2.2¢) $ (41.89 $ (57.79 $ (59.87)
Cumulative effect of change in account
principle — — 1.0t — —
Net loss $ (0.9 $ (2.26) $ (40.89 $ (57.79 $ (59.87)

Weighted average shares outstanding,
basic and dilute 18,927,98 10,811,11 293,14. 291,61. 292,17.
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December 31,

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 1255 $ 13,24¢ $ 1,52¢ $ 1,08 $ 3,30z
Available-for-sale securities (sh-tem) 15,46( 22,47 — 3,481 13,97¢
Working capital (deficit 26,78¢ 32,84¢ (3,206 1,82¢ 17,01¢
Available-for-sale securities (lor-tem) 3,601 13,85( — — —
Total asset 33,871 52,22¢ 4,26¢ 7,30¢ 20,89:
Long-term obligations, less current

portion — — 9,31( 4,68¢ 7,21t
Accrued dividend: — — 8,882 7,47 11,23¢
Total stockholdel' equity (deficit) 31,56: 47,63 (20,007 (8,589 1,151
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and arialigsconjunction with “Item 8. Financial Statemgmind Supplementary
Data” included below in this annual report on FdrtaK.

Overview and Recent Developments

We are a biopharmaceutical company engaged iniseevkery and development of therapeutic productiickates designed to
extend and enhance the quality of human life. Tghaile application of our proprietary technologigs,have established a
pipeline of therapeutic product development programmultiple disease areas. Our current produatid@ment portfolio
consists of MultiStem, a patented and proprietegynscell product that we are developing as a treatrfor multiple disease
indications, and that is currently being evaluatetivo ongoing clinical trials. In addition, we adeveloping novel
pharmaceuticals to treat indications such as opesttain cognitive and attention disorders, alt agenarcolepsy, other forms
of excessive daytime sleepiness and chronic fatiggeciated with certain disease indications.

Current Programs

In 2008, we advanced two MultiStem programs intoical development, initiating phase | studies amdiovascular disease
(treating patients that have suffered an acute argh&l infarction) and in oncology treatment supadministering MultiStem
to leukemia or lymphoma patients who are receiartaditional bone marrow or HSC transplant to oedihe risk or severity
of GVHD). We are conducting the acute myocardidriction clinical trial with our partner Angiotecln May 2006, we entert
into a product co-development collaboration withgfatech to jointly develop and ultimately market Kitstem for the
treatment of damage caused by myocardial infarciuhperipheral vascular disease. We retain thieigixe commercial rights
to the development of MultiStem for other indicatiareas, including oncology treatment support, slegical indications,
autoimmune disease, and other areas.

In September 2008, Angiotech announced certairgegization initiatives to reduce its costs, citthg potential need for an
amendment and reduction in cash outlays relatedit@ollaboration on a list of possible actionstliis time, no such
amendment or reduction has been requested or roane tollaboration, and Angiotech continues taodfits share of phase |
costs on a timely basis. In the event that Angtofads to fund its obligations under the termsaf contract, our net costs for
the phase | clinical trial would increase or thieichl trial may be curtailed.

We applied to the FDA in the summer of 2008 taamét a double blind, placebo controlled phaseitiichl trial involving
administration of ATHX-105 to patients in the Unit8tates. In September 2008, following the FDAlsew of our
investigational new drug application, or IND, threposed trial was placed on partial clinical hotsh@ing the receipt of
additional information and resolution of severaligs relating to ATHX-105's preclinical package &éme proposed phase |l
study design.

At the suggestion of the FDA, we conducted two tolidal studies to provide further data about ATHOGE potential
toxicological profile, one repeating a prior stugyder different conditions and another study thatad not previously
conducted and that is not typically included ingtirécal evaluation. While the first study confircheur prior negative finding:
meaning the absence of a relevant toxicologica&otfthe second study produced data that suggeatspecific toxicological
effect. We met with the FDA to discuss the issueb@ached resolution regarding all of the studsigteissues related to the
partial clinical hold. However, based on the resaoftthe additional test and discussions with tBé Fwe believe that the
apparent rodent specific effect could require adid# non-clinical studies and greatly complicateg-term toxicology testing
and thereby increase substantially the developtimast risks and costs associated with subsequeria@ment of ATHX-105.
Furthermore, these increased risks of developnmritianake it substantially more difficult or impt&al for us to establish an
attractive, third-party collaboration for the fuethdevelopment and commercialization of ATHX-105.

Consequently, we have decided to suspend furtherlalement of ATHX-105 and withdraw our IND appliat, and are
currently focusing on the advancement of next gaiwr compounds that exhibit improved charactesstWhile the potential
significance of this toxicological effect to humamesnains unclear, it appears to be a compound{apetfiect that is not
representative of the class of next generation comgs that we are continuing to develop while wal@e potential
partnerships for the program.

We are also independently developing novel oraitiva pharmaceutical products for the treatmerdesfain central nervous
system disorders, including disorders such as fepsy, excessive daytime sleepiness, and chrotiguifg as well as other
potential indications such as attention deficit éngetivity disorder and other cognitive disordarstsas schizophrenia.
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Financial

In June 2007, we completed a merger with BTHC ¢, land its wholly-owned subsidiary that was fornfmdthe purpose of
completing the merger. BTHC VI was a public shellporation with substantially no assets, liabitit@ operations. We
continued as the surviving entity in the merger andbusiness became the sole operations of BTH&ft&t the merger. BTH
VI's acquisition of us effected a change in contintl was accounted for as a reverse acquisitioneliieve were the
accounting acquirer for financial statement purgogecordingly, our financial statements presemttostorical results and do
not include the historical financial results of BCH/I prior to the merger. At the time the mergersvedfective, each share of
common stock of Athersys was exchanged into 0.085&hares of BTHC VI common stock, par value $00€rishare. Prior
to the merger, BTHC VI effected a 1-for-1.67 reeestock split of its shares of common stock andeiased the number of
authorized shares of common stock to 100,000,0@ter8ys’ authorized and issued shares of commormpeeidrred stock have
been retroactively restated for all periods presgtd reflect the merger exchange ratio of 0.0338Basic and diluted net loss
per share attributable to common stockholders bae@m computed using the retroactively restated camstock.

In connection with the merger in June 2007, Athemsggotiated with holders of its convertible pregdrstock a planned
restructuring of its capital stock, which includibé conversion of the preferred stock into shaféts @ommon stock, the
termination of warrants issued to the former hdd#rClass C Convertible Preferred Stock, and tingireation of accrued
dividends payable to the former holders of Clagdaivertible Preferred Stock. As a result, immediapeior to the
consummation of the merger with BTHC VI, all contilde preferred stock (including termination of wamts and elimination

of accrued dividends) was converted into 53,341 8hBfes of common stock. The change to the comvreratios of the
convertible preferred stock was deemed to be awmcied conversion, which resulted in a $4.8 milli@eched dividend and an
increase to the net loss attributable to commockéimders in June 2007. Upon the closing of thegmerthe 53,341,747 shares
of common stock were exchanged for 1,912,356 stedBFHC VI common stock using the merger excharagi®. Athersys
also retired all shares of stock held in treasury.

Immediately after the merger, we completed an offeof 13,000,000 shares of common stock for agapeegross proceeds of
$65.0 million in June 2007, which included the este of warrants to purchase 3,250,000 shareswihon stock to the
investors. We also issued warrants to purchas@®80&hares of common stock to the lead investomarchants to purchase
1,093,525 shares of common stock to the placengamts. The placement agents also received caslinfaesamount equal to
approximately $5.5 million, which was based on 8&Q%he gross proceeds, excluding proceeds froistiagi investors. In
consideration for certain advisory services, wel @ai affiliate of BTHC VI's then-largest stockhoideone-time fee of
$350,000 in cash upon consummation of the merger.

Upon the closing of the June offering, the $10.0iom aggregate principal amount of convertibleemissued to Angiotech
were converted along with accrued interest int@3,890 shares of common stock at a conversion pfi$&.50 per share,
which was 110% of the price per share in the Jdfeging, in accordance with the terms of the notes.

Upon the closing of the June offering, the notsaesl to bridge investors were converted along adttrued interest into
531,781 shares of common stock at a conversioe pfi§5.00 per share, which was the price per shatee June offering. Tt
bridge investors also exercised their $0.01 wasrapbn the conversion of the convertible prefestedk in connection with tt
merger for 999,977 shares of common stock at areggte exercise price of $10,000. Upon the conwersi the bridge notes,
the bridge investors also received five-year wasrém purchase 132,945 shares of common stock @ $@r share, which
terms were consistent with the warrants issueato investors in the June offering.

In May 2007, Athersys terminated the majority afcét option awards to its officers, employees, doecand consultants. Only
a nominal number of option awards (5,052 optiorretieheld by former employees and consultants wssamed by us. Upon
closing the merger, options for 3,625,000 shareofmon stock were issued under our equity incerglans to employees,
directors and consultants with an exercise price5dd0 per share, resulting in stock compensatiperse of $5.1 million in
2007.

Also in May 2007, Athersys sold certain non-coghtelogy related to its asthma discovery prograWwy@th Pharmaceuticals
for $2.0 million.
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We have incurred losses since inception of oparatio December 1995 and had an accumulated defigit 78 million at
December 31, 2008. Our losses have resulted paithgiftom costs incurred in research and develognaimical and
preclinical product development, acquisition amefising costs, and general and administrative esstciated with our
operations. We have used the financing proceeds fiivate equity and debt offerings and other sesiaf capital to develop
our technologies, to discover and develop therappubvduct candidates and to acquire certain teldigies and assets. We he
also built drug development capabilities that hemabled us to advance product candidates intcalifiials. We have
established strategic collaborations that haveigealrevenues and capabilities to help further adeaur product candidates,
and we have also built a substantial portfoliondélilectual property.

Results of Operations

Since our inception, our revenues have consistédafse fees and milestone payments from our lootktors and grant
proceeds primarily from federal and state grants.nNAve derived no revenue on the sale of FDA-amggvoducts to date.
Research and development expenses consist priméihysts associated with external clinical anctimecal study fees,
manufacturing costs, salaries and related persamusts, legal expenses resulting from intellegtwaperty application
processes, and laboratory supply and reagent astexpense research and development costs aarthéycurred. We expect
to continue to make significant investments in aeslke and development to enhance our technologiesnae clinical trials of
our product candidates, expand our regulatoryaffaid product development capabilities, condustlprical studies of our
products and manufacture our products. Generahdndnistrative expenses consist primarily of selend related personnel
costs, professional fees and other corporate ergei® date, we have financed our operations trpuigate equity and debt
financing and investments by strategic collabosat@/e expect to continue to incur substantial lessmugh at least the next
several years.

The following table sets forth our revenues andeesgs for the periods indicated. The followingdaldre stated in thousands.

Year ended December 31,

Revenues 2008 2007 2006
License fee! $ 1,88( $ 1,43: $ 1,90¢
Grant revenu 1,22¢ 1,827 1,817

$ 3,10¢ $ 3,26( $ 3,72¢

Research and development expens Year ended December 31

Type of expens 2008 2007 2006
Personnel cosi $ 2,92¢ $ 2,81 $ 2,721
Research supplie 84¢ 67¢ 1,20¢
Facilities 817 762 87¢
Clinical and preclinical development co 7,87¢ 5,72z 2,702
Sponsored resear: 393 46E 57¢
Patent legal fee 1,481 1,08¢ 59t
Other 1,431 1,821 781
Stocl-based compensatic 727 2,46¢ 27€

$ 16,50( $ 15,81; $ 9,741
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General and administrative expense Year ended December 31,

Type of expens 2008 2007 2006
Personnel cos $ 1,72¢ $ 1,98i $ 1,891
Facilities 34z 33C 291
Legal and professional fe 1,03: 1,168 59C
Other 1,25( 1,82 39z
Stocl-based compensatic 1,12¢ 2,671 182

$ 547¢ $ 7,978 $ 3,34

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to Year Efdlecember 31, 2007

RevenuesRevenues decreased to $3.1 million for the yeae@imecember 31, 2008 from $3.3 million for 2007a@mrevenue
decreased $0.6 million primarily due to the comiplebf a 2006 state grant in October 2008 as wetha timing of
expenditures that are reimbursed with grant proededense fee revenues increased $0.4 millionrasut of the nature and
timing of target acceptances under our collabonagigreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb and the adgmeent of a clinical
development milestone in September 2008. During260r revenues may fluctuate compared to 2008tdbase¢he timing of
Bristol-Myers Squibb’s demand for targets and theertg of our work and based on the achievementtinitig of Bristol-
Myers Squibb milestones, if any. Beyond 2009, wiicgrate that Bristol-Myers Squibb’s demand for neangets will be
reduced. Additionally, our grant revenues couldtilate during any year based on the timing of gralatted activities and the
award of new grants.

Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses increased ®r#ilon in 2008 from

$15.8 million in 2007. The increase of approximatkd.7 million related primarily to an increasecimical and preclinical
development costs of $2.2 million, an increaseatept legal fees of $395,000, an increase in rekeaupplies expenses of
$170,000 and an increase in personnel costs of$2Q1n 2008 compared to 2007. These increasespeetially offset by a
decrease in stock compensation expense of $1.ibmid decrease in other expenses of $390,000 dadraase in sponsored
research of $72,000 in 2008 compared to 2007. Pt illion increase in preclinical and clinicalsts is a result of the
completion of the ATHX-105 phase I clinical trigkeparations for the ATHX-105 phase Il clinicahtricompletion of two
additional phase | trials in the United Kingdomrfpemance of ATHX-105 non-clinical studies, andrie@ses in MultiStem
preclinical and clinical costs and manufacturingenses. Our clinical costs in 2008 and 2007 ateatefd net of Angiotech’s
cost-sharing amount related to our MultiStem acwyecardial infarction collaboration in the amouh$643,000 and $63,000,
respectively. The increase in patent legal fee20@8 was a result of maintaining our growing araturing portfolio of patent
applications, including prosecution costs for saleases that entered the national phase in 2@08ofnel costs increased due
to the addition of personnel in support of our iclh programs, annual salary increases and inatdaeseefit costs, which was
partially offset by the absence of bonus paymean#)0D8. The decrease in other expenses was pynaardsult of a milestone
payment in 2007 in the amount of $1.0 million assied with a stem cell collaboration milestone arstem cell IND milestor
and was paid to the former owners of the technoldfis decrease was partially offset by an incréaseitsourced research
and development expenses. We expect our reseadafiearlopment expenses to decrease in 2009, plyraara result of the
decision to suspend further development of ATHX,JtHrtially offset by expected increases in clihtevelopment costs
associated with our MultiStem programs. Other theternal expenses for our clinical and preclinfralgrams, we do not track
our research expenses by project; rather, we sack expenses by the type of cost incurred.

40




Table of Contents

General and Administrative Expens€&g&neral and administrative expenses decreased3ariilion in 2008 from $8.0 million
in 2007. The $2.5 million decrease was due pripaoila decrease in stock compensation expense.®ifillion, decrease in
other expenses of $572,000, decrease in persoosts| af $261,000 , and a decrease in legal anégsional fees of $133,000.
The decrease in other expenses for 2008 was plynaarresult of a one-time advisory fee of $350,00R007 related to the
merger. Personnel costs decreased due to the absklbonus payments in 2008, which was partialfgeifby the addition of
administrative support personnel, annual salarse®es and increased benefit costs. The decrebsgalrand professional fees
in 2008 was primarily a result of reduced legakfeeurred in connection with SEC filings and tract®onal work. We expect
our general and administrative expenses to contihgemilar levels in 2009.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense decreased to $218,000 in 2668%$283,000 in 2007. The decrease in deprecigiquens
was due to more laboratory equipment, computerpaaent, furniture and leasehold improvements becgrhilly depreciated.

Other Incomeln May 2007, Athersys sold certain non-core tecbgglrelated to its asthma discovery program to \Wyet
Pharmaceuticals for $2.0 million.

Interest Incomelnterest income decreased to $1.1 million in 2008f$1.6 million in 2007. The change in interesioime was
due to the receipt and investment of the proceruis the equity offering in June 2007, the procesdshich have been
declining as they are used to fund operations. tDukeclining interest rates and lower cash balaasesresult of our ongoing
and planned clinical and preclinical developmerg,expect our 2009 interest income to be less thas.2

Interest Expensdnterest expense on Athersys’ debt outstanding nitglsenior loan and its subordinated convertible
promissory notes decreased to $94,000 in 2008 i3 million in 2007. The decrease in interest esgewas due to the
repayment of the senior loan in June 2008, conmetisi June 2007 of $2.5 million in aggregate ppatiamount of
subordinated convertible promissory notes issuddtitiye investors, and conversion in June 200716frgillion in aggregate
principal amount of subordinated convertible praary notes issued to Angiotech. We do not expegisagnificant interest
expense in 2009 unless we incur new debt.

Accretion of Premium on Convertible DeThe accretion of premium on convertible debt ob%@illion in 2007 relates to the
$2.5 million in aggregate principal amount of suboated secured convertible promissory notes istubddge investors in
2006 that were converted into common stock uportlibging of the equity offering in June 2007. Thoes, if not converted,
were repayable with accrued interest at maturitys p repayment fee of 200% of the outstandingcfpal. Athersys computed
a premium on the debt in the amount of $5.25 mmilime upon redemption, which was being accreted theeterm of the notes
using the effective interest method. The unamadtipeemium was reversed and recorded in additioaia-m-capital when the
notes were converted in June 2007.

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Erdleckmber 31, 2006

RevenuesRevenues decreased to $3.3 million for the yeae@frtecember 31, 2007 from $3.7 million for 200&:drise fee
revenues decreased $0.5 million as a result afidhere and timing of target acceptances under @laboration agreement wi
Bristol-Myers Squibb and Pfizer. Grant revenue rigiee consistent at $1.8 million for each of 200d 2006.

Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses increased ®isilkon in 2007 from $9.7 million
in 2006. The increase of approximately $6.1 millietated primarily to an increase in clinical andglinical development cos
of $3.0 million, an increase in stock compensaéirpense of $2.2 million, an increase in other egpsrof $1.0 million and an
increase in patent legal fees of $0.5 million i®2@ompared to 2006. These increases were parnifidigt by a decrease in
research supplies expenses of $529,000, a dedreggensored research of $114,000 and a decreéaseilities costs of
$117,000 in 2007 compared to 2006. The $3.0 millmnease in preclinical and clinical costs is suieof the initiation of the
ATHX-105 phase | clinical trial, performance of AKHLO5 non-clinical studies, and increases in Muéi8 preclinical and
clinical costs and manufacturing expenses. Includedher expenses for 2007 were two milestone gaymtotaling

$1.0 million in cash and stock associated with liaboration milestone and an IND milestone relgtedur stem cell
technology paid to the former owners of the tecbggl In 2006, other expenses included a milestayengnt of $125,000 paid
in stock related to a patent milestone coveringsteen cell technology. These were the final milestpayments to be made by
us under the agreement governing the acquisiticgheo§tem cell technology. The increase in patgulifees for 2007 was a
result of maintaining our growing and maturing paid of patent applications and the performanceatkent legal work related
to the May 2007 asthma asset sale. Included iropeed costs for 2007 and 2006 was approximately 00 and $121,000,
respectively, of bonus payments related to theesgiment of certain milestones. We do not trackresearch expenses by
project; rather, we track such expenses by the dfpest incurred.
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General and Administrative Expens€g&neral and administrative expenses increased.@on$ilion in 2007 from $3.3 million
in 2006. The increase was due primarily to an imseen stock compensation expense of $2.5 mildarincrease in other
expenses of $1.4 million, an increase in legal nodessional fees of $575,000 and an increasersopaeel and facilities costs
of $135,000. Included in other expenses for 2003 avane-time advisory fee of $350,000 related éontlerger, an allowance
against a loan receivable in the amount of $193,8060 $1.3 million of other general and administetosts such as printing
costs for SEC filings, Nasdagq listing fees, diregtand officers’ insurance costs, investor andlipuielations costs, recruiting
costs and costs related to compliance with Sedtizhof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Includedérsonnel costs for 2007
and 2006 was approximately $475,000 and $89,080ertively, of bonus payments related to the aemmnt of certain
milestones. Also included in personnel costs in 896 was approximately $122,000 ($146,000 inclgidax) in connection
with the forgiveness of a 2002 loan made to oue€Chkecutive Officer. The increase in legal andgssional fees in 2007 was
primarily a result of legal fees incurred in conti@t with SEC filings, accounting and auditing féesurred in connection with
SEC filings and fees for our board of directors.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense decreased to $283,000 in 2667$528,000 in 2006. The decrease in depreciatiquens
was due to more laboratory equipment, computerpaaent, furniture and leasehold improvements becgriilly depreciated.

Other Income and Equity in Earnings of Unconsolkdbaffiliate.In May 2007, Athersys sold certain non-core tecbggl
related to its asthma discovery program to WyethrRlaceuticals for $2.0 million. In January 200&ikestone was achieved
related to Athersys’ joint venture with Oculus. &sesult, Athersys received $100,000 of stock-basedeeds from Oculus,
which was recorded in other income. Similarly, @suAlso received stock-based proceeds in anothgparoy in the amount of
$260,000. Athersys recorded its share of Oculusim@me (after recapturing past net losses) of7100 in equity in earnings
of unconsolidated affiliate in 2006.

Interest Incomelnterest income increased to $1.6 million in 20@hT $119,000 in 2006. The change in interest incoms
due to the receipt and investment of the procemus the equity offering in June 2007.

Interest Expensdnterest expense on Athersys’ debt outstanding nitglsenior loan and its subordinated convertible
promissory notes increased to $1.3 million for 26@rm $1.0 million in 2006. The increase in intérespense was due to the
$2.5 million in aggregate principal amount of subinated convertible promissory notes issued by Bsyeto its bridge
investors in October 2006, and the $10 millionggr@gate principal amount of subordinated convierfdoomissory notes
issued to Angiotech in 2006 and 2007. These coiepromissory notes were converted in the ecpfityring in June 2007.

Accretion of Premium on Convertible DeThe accretion of premium on convertible debt wa$ $fillion in 2007 and

$0.3 million in 2006. The accretion relates to $2¢5 million in aggregate principal amount of subinated secured convertible
promissory notes issued to bridge investors in R@Et@006 that were converted into common stock tpertlosing of the
equity offering in June 2007. The notes, if not\aened, were repayable with accrued interest auntgf plus a repayment fee
of 200% of the outstanding principal. Athersys caoiepd a premium on the debt in the amount of $5.Bfomdue upon
redemption, which was being accreted over the tdrthe notes using the effective interest methda: inamortized premium
was reversed and recorded in additional paid-intakyhen the notes were converted in June 2007.

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Princififfective January 1, 2006, Athersys adopted thevidue recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) using the modifiedgpective-transition method. SFAS No. 123(R) rezpikthersys to
estimate forfeitures in calculating the expensatiral to share-based compensation, while previodigrsys was permitted to
recognize forfeitures as an expense reduction opoarrence. The adjustment to apply estimatedifarts to previously
recognized share-based compensation was accoumtad & cumulative effect of a change in accourgiimgiple at January 1,
2006 and reduced net loss by $306,000 for the greded December 31, 2006.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our sources of liquidity include our cash balareed available-fosale securities. At December 31, 2008, we had $hdlion
in cash and cash equivalents and $19.1 milliorvailable-for-sale securities. Athersys has prinyeiitanced its operations
through private equity and debt financings thatehasulted in aggregate cumulative proceeds ofoappately $200 million.

In September 2008, Bristol-Myers Squibb successfdivanced into phase Il clinical development gydrandidate discovered
using a target provided by us, thereby triggerimtjrical development milestone payment to us. @liaboration agreement
with Bristol-Myers Squibb, which was initially estéshed in 2001, is now in its final phase. We intt¢o continue to prepare
and deliver validated drug targets for use by Blsyers Squibb in its drug discovery efforts urtie collaboration objectives
have been fulfilled. We will remain entitled to eie license fees for targets delivered to Brisigiers Squibb, as well as
milestone payments and royalties on compounds dpedlby Bristol-Myers Squibb using our technology.

Our available-for-sale securities typically includeited States government obligations, corporal# decurities, floating rate
notes and commercial paper. As of December 31, 2088 oximately 72% of our investments were in BaiStates
government obligations. We have been investingewmasively due to the current economic conditionsluding the current
credit crisis, and have prioritized liquidity aritetpreservation of principal in lieu of potentiatligher returns. As a result, we
have experienced no losses on the principal ofraistments and have held our investments untiliritgt Also, although
these unfavorable market and economic conditioms hesulted in a decrease to our market capitaizathere has been no
impairment to the value of our assets. Our fixezbtsare used for internal research and developanehtherefore, are not
impacted by these external factors.

We will require substantial additional funding irder to continue our research and product developpregrams, including
preclinical testing and clinical trials of our prard candidates. Based on current plans, we anticigging $11 million to

$13 million of our cash (net of cash inflows) tméLour activities in 2009, which includes clinita&l costs to advance our
MultiStem programs and reflects a reduction in €fgim 2008 as a result of the suspension of thEXTL05 clinical program
early in 2009. We expect to have available cashrid our operations through 2011 based on our oubiesiness and
operational plans and assuming no new financings fdhding requirements may change at any timetduechnological
advances or competition from other companies. Quré capital requirements will also depend on mame other factors,
including scientific progress in our research aadaopment programs, additional personnel costgyrpss in preclinical
testing and clinical trials, the time and costtediato proposed regulatory approvals, if any, ddcosts in filing and
prosecuting patent applications and enforcing patieims. We cannot assure you that adequate fgniithbe available to us
or, if available, that it will be available on aptable terms, particularly in light of the curremedit crisis. Any shortfall in
funding could result in our having to curtail oesearch and development efforts.

We expect to continue to incur substantial loskesuigh at least the next several years and may lasses in subsequent
periods. The amount and timing of our future losseshighly uncertain. Our ability to achieve ahdreafter sustain
profitability will be dependent upon, among othaings, successfully developing, commercializing ahthining regulatory
approval or clearances for our technologies andyts resulting from these technologies.

Net cash used in operating activities was $15.%anjl$12.1 million and $8.4 million in 2008, 20@wnd 2006, respectively, a
represented the use of cash in funding clinical@edlinical product development activities. We espthat net cash used in
operating activities will decrease in 2009 primadk a result of the decision to suspend furtheeldpment of ATHX-105,
which will be partially offset by expected increase clinical development costs associated withMultiStem programs.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $I6ilion in 2008 and $3.4 million i2006. Net cash used in investing
activities was $36.4 million in 2007. The fluctuats from period to period are due to the timingufchases and maturity da
of investments and the purchase of equipment. Resshof equipment were $532,000, $161,000 and @83 @008, 2007 and
2006, respectively. We expect that our capital ga@nt expenditures will continue at similar leviel2009 compared to 2008.
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Financing activities used cash of $1.8 million 008 and provided cash of $60.2 million in 2007 &Bd4 million in 2006.
These fluctuations relate primarily to proceedsfithe equity offering in June 2007, the issuanceoofvertible promissory
notes in 2007 and 2006 to Angiotech and the bridgestors in 2006, and repayments of our seniar.loa

Investors in the equity offering in June 2007 aksteived five-year warrants to purchase an aggeegfa®, 250,000 shares of
common stock with an exercise price of $6.00 pareshThe lead investor in the June offering, Ratfieisture Partners,
invested $10.0 million in the June offering andeiged additional fiverear warrants to purchase an aggregate of 500/@0@s
of common stock with a cash or cashless exercise pf $6.00 per share. The placement agents édihe offering received
five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of3152% shares of common stock with a cash or casbklesrcise price of $6.00
per share. The exercise of such warrants couldg®ass with cash proceeds. No warrants have beamiszd at December 31,
2008.

Our senior loan was repaid in full in June 2008 Fknior lenders retain a right to receive a nolest{payment of $2.25 million
upon the occurrence of certain events as follotsthe entire amount upon (a) the merger with to another entity where our
stockholders do not hold at least a majority ofwtbheng power of the surviving entity, (b) the safeall or substantially all of
our assets, or (c) our liquidation or dissolution(2) a portion of the amount from proceeds ofitgydfinancings not tied to
specific research and development activities thapart of a research or development collaboratiowhich case, the senior
lenders will receive an amount equal to 10% of peats above $5.0 million in cumulative gross proseetil the milestone
amount is paid in full. The milestone payment iggide in cash, except that if the milestone eveii2) above, we may elect to
pay 75% of the milestone in shares of common stdt¢ke per-share offering price. No milestone evéatve occurred as of
December 31, 2008. The senior lenders also recevaednts to purchase 149,026 shares of commoh siitic an exercise
price of $5.00 upon the closing of our equity affgrin June 2007. The exercise of such warrantidqmevide us with cash
proceeds. No warrants were exercised at Decemh&088.

In connection with our 2006 MultiStem collaboratiwith Angiotech, Angiotech purchased subordinateavertible promissor
notes in the aggregate principal amount of $10l0amj which were converted along with accrued iag into common stock
upon the closing of our equity offering in June 200pon the successful achievement of specifigdaal development and
commercialization milestones, we may also recepvéou$3.75 million of additional equity investmeiatsd $63.75 million of
aggregate cash payments, though there can be maass that we will achieve any milestones.

Under the terms of the collaboration, the partiesj@intly funding clinical development activity hereby preclinical costs are
borne solely by us, costs for phase | and phaslnital trials are borne 50% by us and 50% by Aegh, costs for the first
phase Il clinical trial will be borne 33% by usth67% by Angiotech, and costs for any phase Iflicdil trials subsequent to t
first phase Il clinical trial will be borne 25% ks and 75% by Angiotech. We have lead resporsilfdi preclinical and early
clinical development and manufacturing of the Matéim product, and Angiotech will take the lead vofal and later clinical
trials and commercialization. Late in 2007, thetiparbegan to share costs for phase | clinical ldpweent, which is reconciled
quarterly. As of December 31, 2008, $234,000 wasftm Angiotech representing its share of coststfe fourth quarter of
2008.

We will receive nearly half of the net profits fraime sale of any jointly developed, approved prégluo addition, we will
retain the commercial rights to MultiStem for ather therapeutic applications, including treatnafrgtroke, bone marrow
transplantation and oncology support, blood and imensystem disorders, autoimmune disease, andintheations that we
may elect to pursue. In September 2008, Angioteclmanced certain reorganization initiatives to iifis costs, citing the
need for a potential amendment and reduction ih ocaflays related to our collaboration, among tediseveral selected
actions. At this time, no such amendment or redadtias been made to our collaboration, and Andioteatinues to fund its
share of phase | costs on a timely basis. In teatethat Angiotech fails to fund its obligationsdan the terms of our contract,
our costs for the phase | clinical trial would iease or the clinical trial may be curtailed.
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Our contractual payment obligations as of Decer3tie2008 are as follows:

Less Than More Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1— 3 Years 3—5 Years 5 Years
Operating leases for facilities and
equipment leas $ 493,00( $ 335,00( $ 137,00( $ 21,00( —
Research fundin 253,00( 253,00( — —
Total $ 746,00 $ 588,00( $ 137,00( $ 21,00( —

We have an operating lease for our office and kaiooy space with options to renew through MarchéXlthe existing rental
rate. We exercised options to renew the lease gifwrddarch 2010. In 2008, we entered into a three-lgsse agreement for
office and laboratory space for our Belgian sulasidivith an annual rent of approximately $42,0@Mjsct to annual
adjustments based on an inflationary index. Thedéacludes an option to renew for four additioyedrs, through
December 31, 2014.

The research funding in the table above represemtsurrent funding commitment for a four-year gesé program that began
in 2007. We approved the funding for the first tyemrs of research programs; however, funding ferémaining two years is
subject to our continuation of the program and apalrof the annual research plans. If we approweliftg for the remaining
two years of the program, we will be obligated ¢mtribute additional funding for the program.

We filed a resale registration statement with tB€Sor 18,508,251 shares of common stock, whichudes all shares of
common stock issued in the equity offering in JR2G@7 and shares of common stock issuable uponisgetthe warrants
issued in the offering (as well as the 531,781 eshaf common stock issued to the bridge investodstiae 132,945 shares
underlying their warrants). The resale registrastatement was declared effective by the SEC onl@ct18, 2007. Under the
registration rights agreement entered into in cotioe with the offering, subject to certain exceps, if the resale registration
statement ceases to remain effective, a 1% caditpevill be assessed for each 30-day period timéilregistration statement
becomes effective again, capped at 10% of the ggtgeyross proceeds we received from the equigrioff. Because the
penalty is based on the number of unregisteredestarcommon stock held by investors in the ofgrour maximum penalty
exposure will decline over time as investors gediitshares of common stock that were includetiérégistration statement.

Athersys has never paid dividends on its capitatistand all accrued cumulative dividends were iglated in June 2007 in
connection with the merger.

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Management Estimags

The SEC defines critical accounting policies as¢hthat are, in management’s view, important tgptirérayal of our financial
condition and results of operations and demandimganagement’s judgment. Our discussion and arsabfdinancial

condition and results of operation are based omrisifs’ consolidated financial statements, whichehiasen prepared in
accordance with United States generally acceptedusating principles, or GAAP. The preparation afgl financial statements
requires us to make estimates on experience amdrayus assumptions that we believe are reasommoler the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making jugmts about the carrying values of assets andifiabithat are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results m&emdifom those estimates.
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A discussion of the material implications of unaérties associated with the methods, assumptiothgstimates underlying o
critical accounting polices is as follows:

Revenue Recognitio

Our revenue recognition policies are in accordamitie the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin, or SAB, N04, Revenue
Recognition, and Emerging Issues Task Force, oFENIb. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multipldiiables, which
provide guidance on revenue recognition in finamstiatements and are based on the interpretatimhpractices developed by
the SEC. Our license and collaboration agreemeatsaontain multiple elements, including technoleggess and
development fees, cost-sharing, milestones andtieya

Our license fee revenue primarily consists of feegived from a collaborator, which are specificalt forth in the license and
collaboration agreement as amounts due to us lmsedr completion of certain tasks (e.g., delivang acceptance of a cell
line) and development milestones (e.g., clinical hases) and as such are not based on estithateme susceptible to
change. Such amounts are invoiced and recordezl’/asue as tasks are completed, and as milestomeslieved.

Similarly, revenue from grants consists of fundimgler cost reimbursement programs primarily frodefal and state sources
for qualified research and development activitiefgrmed by us and as such are not based on estinttt are susceptible to
change. Such amounts are invoiced (unless prepadijecorded as revenue as tasks are completed.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost auriprofit sharing are reviewed to determine thengeof the arrangement a
the nature of the collaborative parties’ businesgbhe arrangements are also reviewed to deterrhoreeiparty has sole or
primary responsibility for an activity, or whethtbie parties have shared responsibility for thevigtilf responsibility for an
activity is shared and there is no principal pattign the related costs of that activity are reeaghby us on a net basis in the
statement of operations (e.g., total cost, lesabvarsement from collaborator). If we are deemeletthe principal party for an
activity, then the costs and revenues associatétthat activity are recognized on a gross basikérstatement of operations.
The accounting may be susceptible to change ih#ere of a collaborator’s business changes.

Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgreréd by outside contractors who manage and pettoertrials. We obtain
initial estimates of total costs based on enrolleérsubjects, project management estimates aret atfivities. Actual costs
are typically charged to us and recognized asaslestare completed by the contractor. Accruedadliriiial costs may be
subject to revisions as clinical trials progresg any revisions are recorded in the period in Wiie facts that give rise to the
revisions become known. Since such actual costypigally invoiced as incurred, the amounts arebased on estimates that
are susceptible to change.

Investments in Availabl-for-Sale Securities

We adopted the provisions of Statement of Finarktalbunting Standards, or SFAS, No. 157 relatesutofinancial assets and
liabilities on January 1, 2008, and accordingly,degermine the appropriate classification of inmesit securities at the time of
purchase and re-evaluate such designation as lofted&nce sheet date. Our investments typicallgisbprimarily of United
States government obligations, corporate debt gmyrfloating rate notes and commercial papéfalvhich are classified as
available-for-sale and are valued based on quaiedspin active markets for identical assets (LdyeAvailable-for-sale
securities are carried at fair value, with the afired gains and losses, net of tax, reportedcasrgponent of accumulated other
comprehensive income. The amortized cost of dehiries is adjusted for amortization of premiumsl accretion of discour
to maturity. Such amortization or accretion is utgd in interest income. Realized gains and lossesvailable-for-sale
securities are included in interest income. The ebsecurities sold is based on the specific ifieation method. Interest
earned on securities classified as available-fta-isancluded in interest income. Since the elameslated to accounting for
these investments are reflected on monthly statesni/e amounts are not based on estimates thatisceptible to change.
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In October 2008, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard, or FASB, issued FASB Staff Position, or FBRS 157-3,
Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset Whiee Market for That Asset Is Not Act, which clarifies the application
SFAS No. 157Fair Value Measurementsn a market that is not active and illustrateg &ensiderations in determining the 1
value of a financial asset when the market for fimancial asset is not active. This FSP did netehan impact on our financial
statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair@akcognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) using modified-prospective-
transition method. We recognize expense on theghtrline method.

We use a Black-Scholes option pricing model toneste the grant-date fair value of share-based anarder SFAS No. 123
(R). The expected term of options granted repretsenperiod of time that option grants are expetidae outstanding. We use
the “simplified” method under SEC Staff AccountiBglletin No. 110 to calculate the expected lifeoption grants in 2008 and
2007 given our limited history. We determine vdistiby using the historical stock volatility of feér companies with similar
characteristics. Estimates of fair value are ntrided to predict actual future events or the valtimately realized by persons
who receive equity awards.

SFAS No. 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimatiethe time of grant and revised, if necessargubsequent periods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimatesadfual forfeitures vary from the estimate, we wéitognize the difference in
compensation expense in the period the actualiforés occur or when options vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assumptiva®valuated on a quarterly basis and may chasfgcts and
circumstances warrant. Changes in these assumpgi@onsaterially affect the estimate of the faineabf our share-based
payments and the related amount recognized inicamndial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the FASB ratified the consensashed in EITF Issue No. 07Agcounting for Collaborative
ArrangementsThe effective date of EITF 07-1 is January 1, 2fifTalendar year companies with retrospectiveiepfion
required for all periods presented for collabomativrangements existing as of the effective ddie- B7-1 requires certain
disclosures related to collaborative arrangemehisrgvparties are active participants and expossigtificant risks and
rewards dependent on the commercial success afthaty. We do not expect its adoption to haveaterial impact on our
financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositiorBARI-1, or FSP 14-1Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That
May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Includiagi® Cash Settlemen. FSP 14-1 requires the issuer of certain
convertible debt instruments that may be settlexhgh on conversion to separately account foridgihdity and equity
components in a manner that reflects the issuersanvertible debt borrowing rate. We currentlydao convertible debt
instruments, but are evaluating the retrospectifecethat FSP 14-1 may have on our financial statets.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1&LRjness CombinationsThis statement, which addresses the accounting
for business acquisitions, is effective for fisgaars beginning on or after December 15, 2008, ®atty adoption prohibited,

and generally applies to business acquisitions ¢eteg after December 31, 2008. Among other thittgssnew standard

requires that all acquisition-related costs be agpd as incurred, and that all restructuring aedéged to acquired operations
be expensed as incurred. This new standard alsess#s the current and subsequent accountingdetsasnd liabilities arising
from contingencies acquired or assumed. We doxpeat its adoption to have a material impact onfmancial statements.
SFAS No. 141R could have a material impact on mamicial statements in future periods if we congbesignificant
acquisition.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forwardking statements within the meaning of the PriGeeurities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks and uncettai These forwarlooking statements relate to, among other thiriges,
expected timetable for development of our prodantiates, our growth strategy, and our future fioal performance,
including our operations, economic performanceafiicial condition, prospects, and other future esekite have attempted to
identify forward-looking statements by using sucinds as “anticipates,” “believes,” “can,” “continug” “could,”

“estimates,” “expects,” “i " “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “should,” “will,” or other similar exp ressions. These

”u LT (LT

intends,
forward-looking statements are only predictions and argddy based on our current expectations. Thesedmviooking
statements appear in a number of places in thisiahreport.

In addition, a number of known and unknown riskg;ertainties, and other factors could affect treueacy of these statemer
Some of the more significant known risks that weefare the risks and uncertainties inherent ipptheess of discovering,
developing, and commercializing products that afe and effective for use as human therapeutickjding the uncertainty
regarding market acceptance of our product cangsdatd our ability to generate revenues. The fatigwisks and
uncertainties may cause our actual results, lefedstivity, performance, or achievements to diffeaterially from any future
results, levels of activity, performance, or ackigents expressed or implied by these forward-lapktatements:

e our ability to successfully initiate or completén@tal trials for our product candidate

e the possibility of delays in, adverse results af arcessive costs of the development proc

e changes in external market factc

e changes in our indusf’'s overall performance

e changes in our business strate

e our ability to protect our intellectual propertyrtfolio;

e our possible inability to enter into licensing @-development arrangements for certain product catek

e our possible inability to execute our strategg tluchanges in our industry or the economy gelyeratiuding the
current economic crisit

« our ability to obtain capital in difficult markebaditions;

« changes in financial stability of collaboratc

e changes in productivity and reliability of suppsig

«  the success of our competitors and the emergenoevotompetitors; an

« the risks mentioned elsewhere in this annual repader Iltem 1A“Risk Factor¢”

Although we currently believe that the expectaticefected in the forward-looking statements agsomable, we cannot
guarantee our future results, levels of activityperformance. We undertake no obligation to pupligldate forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informaftigare events or otherwise, except as otherwigeired by law. You are
advised, however, to consult any further disclosuve make on related subjects in our reports omEdi0-Q, 8-K and 10-K
furnished to the SEC. You should understand thatribt possible to predict or identify all riskcfars. Consequently, you
should not consider any such list to be a com@etef all potential risks or uncertainties.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to interest rate risk is related toitmeestment portfolio and our borrowings. Fixeteravestments and
borrowings may have their fair market value advgrsapacted from changes in interest rates. Duygairt to these factors, our
future investment income may fall short of expdote. Further, we may suffer losses in investmeintcipal if we are forced 1
sell securities that have declined in market value to changes in interest rates. We invest owgssxcash primarily in debt
instruments of the United States government anaigéncies, corporate debt securities, floatingmates and A1+/P1
commercial paper. As of December 31, 2008, apprateim 72% of our investments were in United Stgmsernment
obligations. We have been investing conservatidely to the current economic conditions, includimg ¢urrent credit crisis,
and have prioritized liquidity and the preservatifiprincipal in lieu of potentially higher returnas a result, we have
experienced no losses on the principal of our itaents.

We enter into loan arrangements with financialiindbns when needed and when available to us. &idinber 31, 2008, we
had no borrowings outstanding.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Athersys, Inc.
Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements
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Contents
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,£002007
Consolidated Statements of Operations for eacheyéars ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityfi(iitg for each of the years ended December 318200
2007 and 200

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for eacheoy¢ars ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

51

52

53

54

55

56

57




Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Athersys, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Athersys, Inc. as of December 31, 2668007, and the
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for eaxfithe three years in the
period ended December 31, 2008. Our audits aldoded the financial statement schedule listed énltidex at Item 15(a)(2).
These financial statements and schedule are thensthility of the Companyg management. Our responsibility is to expres
opinion on these financial statements and schdzhged on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBigUnited States).
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenatidit to obtain reasonable assurance about whe#hénancial statemen
are free of material misstatement. An audit inctudeamining, on a test basis, evidence suppoti@gimounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includesessing the accounting principles used andfisigmi estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall &iishistatement presentation. We believe that oditaprovide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated
financial position of Athersys, Inc. at December 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results @fgerations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghbDecember 31, 2008, in conformity with U. S. gatg accepted accounting
principles. Also, in our opinion, the related ficgad statement schedule, when considered in relatiaghe basic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly imaterial respects the information set forth therei

As discussed in Note B to the consolidated findrstatements, the Company adopted the provisiogaiément of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123(FShare-Based Paymeneffective January 1, 2006.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 12, 2009
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Athersys, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Assets

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Available-for-sale securitie
Accounts receivabl
Receivable from Angiotec
Investment interest receivak
Deposits
Prepaid expenses and otl

Total current asse

Available-for-sale securitie
Deposits

Accounts receivable, n
Notes receivable, ni
Equipment, ne

Equity investment

Total asset

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued compensation and related bent

Accrued clinical trial cost

Accrued expenses and ott

Current portion of lon-term debt, ne
Total current liabilities

Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stock, at stated value; 10,000,000 slautb®rized, and no shares issued
outstanding at December 31, 2008 and December0®Y,
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 steartmrized, 18,927,988 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 an®eceimber 31, 20C
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive inca
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes.
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December 31

2008 2007
$ 12,55: $  13,24¢
15,46( 22,47
26( 83€
234 63
18¢ 262
— 162
40€ 394
29,10: 37,44:
3,601 13,85(
144 10C
— 42
12 86
701 387
31€ 317
$ 33877 $ 52,22
$ 1,49¢  $ 1,011
97 71
58 73t
661 992
— 1,78¢
2,31¢ 4,59/
19 19
209,89! 208,03¢
12C 52
(178,47) (160,479
31,56 47,637
$ 33877 $ 5222
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenues
License fee: $ 1,88( $ 1,43 $ 1,90¢
Grant revenu 1,22¢ 1,82 1,81

Total revenue 3,10¢ 3,26( 3,72
Costs and expenses
Research and development (including stock compiemsexpense of

$727, $2,468 and $276 in 2008, 2007 and 2006, ctsphy) 16,50( 15,81" 9,741
General and administrative (including stock compéna expense of

$1,129, $2,671 and $183 in 2008, 2007 and 200pentisely) 5,47¢ 7,97¢ 3,341
Depreciatior 21¢ 283 52¢

Total costs and expens 22,19% 24,07t 13,61¢
Loss from operation (19,097 (20,81YH (9,89))
Other income 49 2,015 91
Equity in earnings (loss) of unconsolidated aftdi (@D} — 117
Interest incom 1,14¢ 1,591 11¢
Interest expens (94) (1,269 (1,047
Accretion of premium on convertible de — (45€) (260)
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accountj principle (17,997 (18,92¢) (10,877
Cumulative effect of change in accounting princi — — 30€
Net loss $ (1799) $ (18,92¢p $ (10,56%H
Preferred stock dividenc — (659) (1,409)
Deemed dividend resulting from induced conversiboomvertible

preferred stocl — (4,800 —
Net loss attributable to common stockholder: $ (1799) $ (2438) $ (11,979
Basic and diluted net loss per common share attriliable to common

stockholders
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accagnfirinciple $ 0.9y % (2.2¢) $ (41.89)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting princi — — 1.0t
Net loss $ (095 % (2.26) % (40.89)
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and dikd 18,927,98 10,811,11 293,14.

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityfi(itg

(In Thousands, Except Share Amounts)

Convertible Accumulated Unearned Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock  Additional Other Compensatior- Stockholders
Number  Stated Number Par Paid-in  Treasury Comprehensive Common Stoct Accumulated Equity
of Shares Value of Shares Value Capital Stock  Income (Loss) Options Deficit (Deficit)
Balance at January 1, 20 364,52« $68,30: 290,94 $ — $ 5517¢ $ (250$ ans (809 $ (130,989 $ (8,589
Issuance of common sto — — 2,82¢ — 13C — — — — 13C
Issuance of common stock warri — — — — 25C — — — — 25C
Adoption of SFAS No. 123(F — — — — (809) — — 80¢ — —
Stocl-based compensatic — — — — 152 — — — — 152
Accrued dividend— Class C — — — — (1,409%) — — — — (1,409%)
Comprehensive los
Net loss — — — — — — — — (10,56%) (10,56%)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale
securities — — — — — — 17 — 17
Total comprehensive lo: (10,54%)
Balance at December 31, 20 364,52:  68,30: 293,77( — 53,49t (25C) — — (141,557 (20,007
Stock based compensati — — — — 5,13¢ — — — — 5,13¢
Accrued dividend— Class C — — — — (659) — — — — (659)
Elimination of cumulative accrued
dividends— Class C — — — — 9,541 — — — — 9,541
Conversion of preferred stock to
common stocl (364,529 (68,30) 1,912,35! 2 68,29¢ — — — — —
Issuance of common stock from warrant
exercises — — 1,003,19 1 9 — — — — 10
Retirement of treasury stor — — — — (250) 25C — — — —
Shares of common stock for merger v
BTHC VI, Inc. — — 299,62: — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock, net of
expense: — — 13,001,37 13 58,47¢ — — — — 58,49:
Issuance of common stock warra — — — — 492 — — — — 492
Issuance of common stock for
conversion of convertible not — —  2,417,67 3 13,49¢ — — — — 13,497
Comprehensive los
Net loss — — — — — — — — (18,92¢) (18,92¢)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale
securities — — — — — — 52 — — 52
Total comprehensive lo: (18,874)
Balance at December 31, 20C — — 18,927,98 18 208,03¢ — 52 — (160,479 47,631
Stock based compensati — — — — 1,85¢ — — — — 1,85¢
Comprehensive los
Net loss — — — — — — — — (17,997 (17,997
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale
securities — — — — — — 68 — — 68
Total comprehensive lo: (17,929
Balance at December 31, 20C — $ — 1892798 $ 19 $ 209,89 $ — $ 12C $ — $ (17847) % 31,560

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006
Operating activities
Net loss $ (1799) $ (18,92¢¢ $ (10,56%
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior 21¢ 283 52¢
Gain on sale of equipme (24 — —
Equity in (earnings) loss of unconsolidated affdi 1 — (117)
Accretion of premium on convertible de — 45¢€ 26C
Provision/forgiveness of notes receiva 74 19z 122
Earned milestone applied to note receivi — 28¢ —
Stocl-based compensatic 1,85¢ 5,13¢ 45¢
Expense related to warrants issued to len 16 47¢€ —
Income from cumulative effect of change in accaumtprinciple — — (30€)
Amortization of premium (discount) on available-fale securities ar
other 11 (52 15
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 61€ 111 (361)
Receivable from Angiotec 177 (63 —
Prepaid expenses and other as 17¢ (55¢) 21
Accounts payable and accrued exper (49€) 592 1,54¢
Net cash used in operating activit (15,71) (12,066 (8,399
Investing activities
Purchase of availat-for-sale securitie (26,599 (46,316 (3,426)
Proceeds from maturities of availa-for-sale securitie 43,91% 10,10¢( 6,932
Proceeds from sale of equipm 24 — —
Purchases of equipme (532) (167) (83)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 16,81°¢ (36,377 3,42
Financing activities
Principal payments on de (2,800 (3,339 (2,087)
Proceeds from convertible promissory nc — 5,00( 7,50(
Proceeds from issuance of common stock — 58,49t 6
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (1,800 60,16: 5,42
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equiv: (69€) 11,72( 44¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 13,24¢ 1,52¢ 1,08(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ' $ 12,55: $ 13,24¢ $ 1,52¢

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

A. Background, Merger and Offering

Athersys, Inc. (“Athersys” or the “Company”) is mpharmaceutical company engaged in the discoveaydavelopment of
therapeutic products in one business segment. Gmesaonsist primarily of research and productali@wment activities.

On June 8, 2007, Athersys’ subsidiary, which wasthamed Athersys, Inc. (“Old Athersys”), effectedherger into a wholly-
owned subsidiary of a public company (the “Mergeffe public company, BTHC VI, Inc. (“BTHC VI"), vgaa shell
corporation with no assets, liabilities or operati@s of the date of the Merger and had 299,622slwh common stock
outstanding. Upon completion of the Merger, théceffls and directors of Old Athersys assumed cowtrel the operations of
BTHC VI, and Old Athersys’ operations became thle sperations of BTHC VI on a consolidated basisAugust 2007,
BTHC VI changed its name to Athersys, Inc.

Prior to the consummation of the Merger, Old Atlysnsegotiated with holders of its convertible prefd stock a planned
restructuring of its capital stock, which includibé conversion of its preferred stock into shafedld Athersys’ common
stock, the termination of warrants issued to thenfr holders of Class C Convertible Preferred Staokl the elimination of
accrued dividends payable to the former holdeGlass C Convertible Preferred Stock. As a resultnédiately prior to the
consummation of the Merger, all convertible preddrstock (including termination of warrants andnétiation of accrued
dividends) was converted into 53,341,747 sharemwimon stock. The change to the conversion rafitiseoconvertible
preferred stock was deemed to be an induced cdomershich resulted in a $4.8 million deemed divideand an increase to
the net loss attributable to common stockholder®iime 2007. Upon the closing of the Merger, th84B747 shares of Old
Athersys common stock were exchanged for 1,912s8a6es of BTHC VI common stock using the Mergehaxge ratio. Old
Athersys also retired all shares of stock heldeagury.

At the time the Merger was effective, each shar@ldf Athersys’ common stock was exchanged into £8@33 shares of
BTHC VI common stock, par value $0.001 per shar@rfo the Merger, BTHC VI effected a 1-for-1.68verse stock split of
its shares of common stock and increased the nuaitzrthorized shares of common stock to 100,0@0,00

BTHC VI's acquisition of Old Athersys effected aactge in control and was accounted for as a reaagaisition whereby Old
Athersys is the accounting acquirer for financtatement purposes. Accordingly, the financial stetets of the Company
presented reflect the historical results of Oldeék#lys and do not include the historical finanaalults of BTHC VI prior to the
consummation of the Merger. The Company’s authdraed issued shares of common and preferred stoek theen
retroactively restated for all periods presenteckftect the Merger exchange rate of 0.0358493idBawd diluted net loss per
share attributable to common stockholders has besmputed using the retroactively restated commaoackst
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
A. Background, Merger and Offering, continued

Immediately after the Merger, the Company completedffering of 13,000,000 shares of common stoclafigregate gross
proceeds of $65,000,000 (the “Offering”). Offeriogsts in the amount of approximately $6.5 millioerevnetted against the
proceeds of the Offering, resulting in net procefeds the Offering of approximately $58.5 milliofihe Offering included the
issuance of warrants to purchase 3,250,000 sh&oesronon stock to the investors with an exerciseepof $6.00 and a five-
year term. The Company also issued warrants tdhpge500,000 shares of common stock to the leadtovand warrants
purchase 1,093,525 shares of common stock to #ueplent agents, all with an exercise price of $&riDfive-year terms. The
placement agents also received a cash fee in anrdraqual to 8.5% of the gross proceeds, less pdsciEom existing
investors in Old Athersys. In consideration fortagr advisory services, Old Athersys paid an @f#iand largest stockholder
BTHC VI a one-time fee of $350,000 in cash uponstwnmation of the Merger.

Upon the closing of the Offering, the $10.0 milliaggregate principal amount of convertible notsaésl to Angiotech
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Angiotech”) (see Note Fyeveonverted along with accrued interest into 1,888 shares of common
stock at a conversion price of $5.50 per sharechvivias 110% of the price per share in the Offelimgccordance with the
terms of the notes.

Upon the closing of the Offering, the notes issteebdridge investors (see Note G) were convertedgaleith accrued interest
into 531,781 shares of common stock at a convesiae of $5.00 per share, which was the pricespare in the Offering, in
accordance with the terms of the bridge notes.brlige investors also exercised their $0.01 wasrapbn the conversion of
the convertible preferred stock in connection wtlith Merger for 999,977 shares of common stock a@ggmegate exercise price
of $10,000. Upon the conversion of the bridge ndtesbridge investors also received five-year a@ts to purchase 132,945
shares of common stock at $6.00 per share, whialstevere consistent with the warrants issued to ingestors in the
Offering.

The Company filed a resale registration statemaétit tve SEC for 18,508,251 shares of common stablich includes all
shares of common stock issued in the Offering &ades of common stock issuable upon exercise ofrtreants issued in the
Offering (as well as the 531,781 shares of comntocksssued to the bridge investors and the 132sbées underlying their
warrants). The resale registration statement welsu effective by the SEC on October 18, 200 tddithe purchase
agreement entered into in connection with the @ftgrsubject to certain exceptions, if the resatgstration statement cease
remain effective, a 1% cash penalty will be asskfmeeach 30-day period until the registratiortestzent becomes effective
again, capped at 10% of the aggregate gross praceeéived in the Offering. Because the penalbased on the number of
unregistered shares of common stock held by inve#tahe Offering, the Company’s maximum penakpasure will decline
over time as investors sell their shares of comstook that were included in the registration staein
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
A. Background, Merger and Offering, continued

In 2007, Old Athersys sold certain non-core tecbhgplrelated to its asthma drug discovery prograim pharmaceutical
company for $2.0 million, which was recognized amm on the sale in other income in 2007.

B. Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants and results of operations of the Companyitarwholly owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and trati@ag have been eliminated in consolidation. Investts in joint ventures a
accounted for using the equity method when the Gamploes not control the investee, but has théatnl exercise significal
influence over the investee’s operations and fir@mpolicies.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue recognition policies arectoedance with the SEC Staff Accounting BulletiS&B”) No. 104,
Revenue Recognitic, and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) No. 004venue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables
which provide guidance on revenue recognitionmaficial statements and are based on the intelipretatnd practices
developed by the SEC. The Company’s license ardbmwition agreements may contain multiple elememnttuding

technology access and development fees, cost-ghamifestones and royalties.

Revenue from transactions that do not require upgrformance obligations from the Company is raczagl when
performance is complete and when collectabilityemsonably assured. The Company’s license fee uevenmarily consists of
fees received from a collaborator, which are speadlf/ set forth in the license and collaboratigmeement as amounts due to
the Company based on its completion of certainstéslg., delivery and acceptance of a cell linggotJacceptance by the
collaborator of a cell line for use in its own puoetldevelopment efforts, the Company has no furpleeformance obligations
with respect to the cell line or products developsihg the cell line. In addition, the Company ieee specified payments up
the collaborator’s achievement of certain developiaemilestones (e.qg., clinical trial phases), vahéce recognized when the
milestones are achieved by the Company'’s collabarat
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
B. Accounting Policies, continued

Revenue from grants consists of funding under @stbursement programs primarily from federal atadessources for
qualified research and development activities paréal by the Company. Revenue from grants is recondeen earned under
the terms of the agreements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith a maturity of three months or less when pasgt to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents are primarily inveegtenoney market funds and commercial paper. Hug/img amount of the
Company’s cash equivalents approximates fair valieeto the short maturity of the investments.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures, which a¢qnsisarily of costs associated with external aaliand preclinical study
fees, manufacturing costs, salaries and relatexbpeel costs, legal expenses resulting from irgield property application
processes, and laboratory supply and reagent ¢oslisding direct and allocated overhead experagscharged to expense as
incurred.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost oenere sharing are reviewed to determine the nafittee@rrangement and the
nature of the collaborative parties’ businesseg. diinangements are also reviewed to determinesifpanty has sole or primary
responsibility for an activity, or whether the pasthave shared responsibility for the activityreléponsibility for an activity is
shared and there is no principal party, then tteted costs of that activity are recognized byGoenpany on a net basis in the
statement of operations (e.g., total cost, lesabvarsement from collaborator). If the Company ierded to be the principal
party for an activity, then the costs and reverass®ciated with that activity are recognized onasg basis in the statement of
operations.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
B. Accounting Policies, continued
Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgreréd by outside contractors, who manage and pertioe trials. The
Company obtains initial estimates of total costseolaon enroliment of subjects, project managenstithates and other
activities. Actual costs are typically chargedite Company and recognized as the tasks are comgtine contractor.
Accrued clinical trial costs may be subject to s&uis as clinical trials progress, and any revisiare recorded in the period in
which the facts that give rise to the revisionsdmee known.

Royalties

The Company may be required to make royalty paysientertain parties based on product sales uitagise agreements. T
Company did not pay any royalties during the threer period ended December 31, 2008.

Investments in Available-for-Sale Securities

Management determines the appropriate classificatignvestment securities at the time of purcharse re-evaluates such
designation as of each balance sheet date. The &grspgnvestments typically consist primarily of3J government
obligations, corporate debt securities, floating rrotes and commercial paper, all of which arssifed as available-for-sale.
Available-for-sale securities are carried at faitue, with the unrealized gains and losses, nappficable tax, reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive inc@ime amortized cost of debt securities is adjudedmortization of
premiums and accretion of discounts to maturitchSamortization or accretion is included in intéiesome. Realized gains
and losses on available-for-sale securities afeded in interest income. The cost of securitidd 8based on the specific
identification method. Interest earned on secwitiassified as available-for-sale is includechiteliest income.

Long-Lived Assets

Equipment is stated at acquired cost less accuetuti#preciation. Laboratory and office equipmeatdapreciated on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lftkeee to seven years).

In accordance with the guidance in Statement odifiéral Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 14¥;counting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Lol-lived Assets long-lived assets are evaluated for impairmergmévents or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amoumth®fasset or related group of assets may not beesable. If the expected
future undiscounted cash flows are less than thging amount of the asset, an impairment loseé®gnized at that time.
Measurement of impairment may be based upon apraisarket value of similar assets or discountest ¢lws. No
impairment losses were recorded in 2008, 2007 6620
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Athersys, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
B. Accounting Policies, continued
Patent Costs and Rights
Costs of prosecuting and maintaining patents atehpaights are expensed as incurred. As of DeceBihe2008, the Compal
has filed for broad intellectual property proteation its proprietary technologies. The Companyentty has numerous U.S.
patent applications and corresponding internatipagént applications related to its technologissyall as many issued U.S.
and international patents.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Unrealized gains and losses on the Company’s dleifar-sale securities are the only componentscefimulated other
comprehensive income (loss). Total comprehensivente or loss is disclosed in the consolidated taie of stockholders’
equity (deficit).
Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable are subject to concentraticeredit risk due to the absence of a large numbeustomers. At
December 31, 2008 and 2007, one customer accofornt88% and 51% of accounts receivable, respegtiidie Company
does not require collateral from its customers.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States requires

management to make estimates and assumptiondfinzitthe amounts reported in the financial stateimiand accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those esti@s.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
B. Accounting Policies, continued
Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adoptedatinealue recognition provisions of SFAS No. 128v{sed 2004)Share-
Based Paymer, (“SFAS No. 123(R)"), using the modified-prospeetitransition method. Under that transition method,
compensation cost recognized since January 1, d@G&led: (a) compensation cost for all share-bassainents granted prior
to, but not yet vested, as of January 1, 2006,dbasehe grant date fair value estimated in aceurdavith the original
provisions of SFAS No. 123, and (b) compensaticsi tmr all share-based payments granted subsetpéahuary 1, 2006,
based on the grant-date fair value estimated inrdenice with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). @me of the awards
granted prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(Rg €ompany recognized compensation expense ugjraglang vesting
method. For awards granted subsequent to adoptiBRAS No. 123(R), the Company recognizes expengbastraight-line
method.

The Company uses a Black-Scholes option-pricingehtmdestimate the grant-date fair value of shareeld awards under
SFAS No. 123(R). The expected term of options gnépresent the period of time that option grarésexpected to be
outstanding. The Company uses the “simplified” rodthnder SAB No. 110 to calculate the expecteddlifeption grants in
2008 and 2007 given its limited history. The Compdetermines volatility by using the historical ctosolatility of other
companies with similar characteristics.

SFAS No. 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimatiethe time of grant and revised, if necessargubsequent periods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimatesadtual forfeitures vary from the estimate, the Campwill recognize the
difference in compensation expense in the periecattiual forfeitures occur or when options vesbrRo the adoption of SFA
No. 123(R), the Company was permitted to recogftrfeitures as an expense reduction upon occurrdieeadjustment t
apply estimated forfeitures to previously recogdighare-based compensation was accounted foriandative effect of a
change in accounting principle at January 1, 2806,reduced net loss by $305,587 for the year eDéedmber 31, 2006.

The following weighted-average input assumptionsawesed in determining the fair value:

December 31

2008 2007 2006
Volatility 69.€% 73.% 53.6%
Risk-free interest rat 3.C% 5.2% 4.8%
Expected life of optiol 5.09 year: 5.36 year 4.0 years
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
B. Accounting Policies, continued
Income Taxes

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determbeskd on the differences between the financialrtiegoand tax basis of assets
and liabilities and are measured using the taxaatklaws currently in effect. In accordance wiEAS No. 109 Accounting fol
Income Taxes("SFAS No. 109"), the Company evaluates its defiircome taxes to determine if a valuation alloveasicould
be established against the deferred tax assdtsher valuation allowance should be reduced basetbasideration of all
available evidence, both positive and negativenguai “more likely than not’ standard.

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardafiq“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (N#8"), Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Tax¢. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold andsueanent attribute for financial statement
recognition and measurement of a tax position tepasr expected to be reported on a tax returnedisaw guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and pesajtaccounting in interim periods, disclosure, tadsition. Athersys adopted
the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. Updopdion of FIN 48 and through December 31, 2008efdys determined
that it had no liability for uncertain income taxasprescribed by FIN 48. Athersys’ policy is toagnize potential accrued
interest and penalties related to the liability docertain tax benefits, if applicable, in incorag €xpense. Net operating loss
and credit carryforwards since inception remainnofpeexamination by taxing authorities, and will foperiod post utilization.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
B. Accounting Policies, continued
Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributabmtmmon stockholders is presented in conformith \8FAS No. 128,
Earnings Per Shar. In accordance with SFAS No. 128, basic and diluet loss per share has been computed using the
weighted-average number of common stock outstardiimgg the period.

The change to the conversion ratios of the corblerpreferred stock in June 2007 represented arcadiconversion, which
resulted in a deemed dividend in the amount of $#iliBon that was included in determining the retd attributable to commi
stockholders in 2007.

The Company has outstanding options and warramtspaor to June 8, 2007, had outstanding optiaasrants, convertible
debt and convertible preferred stock, which haviebeen used in the calculation of diluted net lzsisshare because, to do so
would be anti-dilutive. As such, the numerator #meldenominator used in computing both basic alutedi net loss per share
are equal. The following instruments were exclufteth the calculation of diluted net loss per shattebutable to common
stockholders because their effects were antidiutiv

»  Outstanding stock options to purchase 3,738,3,63,9,884 and 116,083, shares of common stockéye¢ars ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respecti

*  Warrants to purchase 5,125,496, 5,125,496 aréB95shares of common stock for the years endedrbieer 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006, respective

e Shares of common stock issuable upon conversioarvertible preferred stock in the amount of 08@, and
364,524 for the years ended December 31, 2007 @d@, 2espectively; an

e Shares of common stock issuable upon the comreddiconvertible promissory notes in the amournt1i,098 and
72,995 for the years ended December 31, 2007 D@, 28spectively

65




Table of Contents

Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
B. Accounting Policies, continued
Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. E&if,Value MeasurementsSFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in generallyguted accounting principles and expands disclosalyest fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 does not require anyaievalue measurements. The FASB delayed thetfiedate of SFAS
No. 157 for no-financial assets and liabilities to fiscal yeaeginning after November 15, 2008. The Company adbiite
non-deferred provisions of SFAS No. 157 relatetistdinancial assets and liabilities on Januargd)8 and such adoption did
not have a material impact of its financial positicesults of operations or cash flows.

In October 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Pasi{ie-SP”), FAS 157-3Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset
When the Market for That Asset Is Not Actiwdhich clarifies the application of SFAS No. 15ajr Value Measurementsn a
market that is not active and illustrates key cd@sitions in determining the fair value of a finahasset when the market for
that financial asset is not active. This FSP dithave an impact on the Company’s financial stateme

In December 2007, the FASB ratified the consensashed in EITF Issue No. 07Agcounting for Collaborative
ArrangementsThe effective date of EITF 07-1 is January 1, 2fifTalendar year companies with retrospectiveiepfon
required for all periods presented for collabomativrangements existing as of the effective ddie- B7-1 requires certain
disclosures related to collaborative arrangemehtsrgvparties are active participants and expossigjiificant risks and
rewards dependent on the commercial success atcthaty. The Company does not expect the adopifdBITF 07-1 to have a
material impact on its financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff PositiorBARI-1 (“FSP 14-1")Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That
May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Includiagi® Cash Settlemen. FSP 14-1 requires the issuer of certain
convertible debt instruments that may be settlexhgh on conversion to separately account foridgihdity and equity
components in a manner that reflects the issuensanvertible debt borrowing rate. The Companyenity has no convertible
debt instruments, but is evaluating the retrospedctifect that FSP 14-1 may have on its finandatkesnents.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141de€y,Business CombinationsThis statement, which addresses the
accounting for business acquisitions, is effectordfiscal years beginning on or after December2l®)8, with early adoption
prohibited, and generally applies to business a&itipns completed after December 31, 2008. Amohegrathings, SFAS

No. 141(R) requires that all acquisit-related costs be expensed as incurred, and thrasaucturing costs related to acquired
operations be expensed as incurred. SFAS No. 141$R)addresses the current and subsequent acapiottiassets and
liabilities arising from contingencies acquiredassumed. The Company does not expect the adoftBRAS No. 141(R) to
have a material impact on its financial stateme®EAS No. 141(R) could have a material impact sffiitancial statements in
future periods if the Company completes a signifigecquisition in the future.

C. Equipment
December 31
Equipment consists of (in thousanc 2008 2007
Laboratory equipmer $ 6,04¢ $ 5,83¢
Office equipment and leasehold improveme 3,607 3,481
9,652 9,32(
Accumulated depreciatic (8,957 (8,939
$ 701 $ 387
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D. Notes Receivable; MCL Acquisition
Note Receivable from Offic

The Company had a note receivable from an offigér an unpaid principal and interest balance of250@0 in connection wit
a loan made in 2002, which was forgiven in 2006.

MCL Acquisition

In 2003, the Company acquired MCL LLC (“MCL") thrglu a merger with one of its subsidiaries. The Camecquired adult
stem cell technologies through the merger. In @i the purchase price for the merger, the Cappeas obligated to make
three milestone payments. The first milestone tedl¢o the issuance of a patent, was complete@06 2esulting in the issuan
of 2,758 shares of common stock to the former mesneMCL. The value placed on the shares was apately $125,000
using a fair value estimate at the time of the stilee achievement. In 2007, the Company achiewefirthl two milestones,
which related to collaborative activities and thied of an investigational new drug applicationtlwthe U.S. Food and Drug
Administration. The milestones resulted in the &gte of 1,379 shares of the Company’s common stndlcash payments of
$1,000,000 in 2007. The value of the shares wasoajpately $7,000 using a fair value estimate atttme of the milestone
achievement.

In connection with the MCL merger, the Company rese a $511,000 note issued by one of the formeress/of MCL.
Principal and accrued interest is repayable (i)afat percentage of proceeds from the sale of stereommon stock held by
the former owner (who owned 28,662 shares at Deee3ih 2008), and (ii) upon the achievement offitte@ cash milestone,
$283,000 of the final cash milestone can be witthibgl Athersys as partial repayment of the note. Chmpany achieved the
final milestone in 2007 and therefore, withheld $280 of the milestone payment as partial repayroerihe note. The
Company recorded an allowance of approximately@¥tand $193,000 in 2008 and 2007, respectiveliegerve a portion of
the note balance for which collectability is uneerf leaving a net balance of $12,000 at Decembg?@08. In the event that
the proceeds from the sale of common stock bydhedr owner are insufficient to repay the princigatl interest in full, any
remaining balance due will be forgiven by Atherayshat time.
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Investments in Availak-for-Sale Securities
On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted SFAS Norelated to its financial assets and liabilitiasl $he methods to meas
fair value of assets and liabilities as set fohiréein. Its available-for-sale securities typicatiglude U.S. government

obligations, corporate debt securities, floating reotes and commercial paper. As of December®18,2approximately 72%
its investments were in U.S. government obligations

SFAS No. 157 classifies the inputs used to medsingalue into the following hierarchy:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or liabilities

Level 2 Unadjusted quoted prices in active market similar assets or liabilities, or unadjustgmbted prices for identical or
similar assets or liabilities in markets that ao¢ active, or inputs other than quoted prices #natobservable for the
asset or liability

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liabil

The following table provides a summary of the ficiahassets and liabilities measured at fair value recurring basis as of
December 31, 2008 (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2008 Using

Quoted Prices in Active Significant Other
Balance as o Markets for Identical Observable Inputs Significant Unobservable
Description December 31, 20C Assets (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)
Available-for-sale
securities $ 19,06: $ 19,06 $ — $ —

Fair value is based upon quoted market pricestimeamarkets. We had no level 2 or level 3 asseeaember 31, 2008. The
Company reviews and reassesses the fair valuerttigralassifications on a quarterly basis. Charigaa one quarter to the
next related to the observability of inputs to i ¥alue measurement may result in a reclassificalbietween hierarchy levels.
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The following is a summary of available-for-salewsties (in thousands) at December 31, 2008 afd 2@spectively:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Losses Gains Value

December 31, 200t
U.S. government obligatior $ 13,60: $ — $ 12t $ 13,72¢
Corporate debt securitit 5,33¢ (24) 19 5,33¢
$ 18,94: $ 249 % 144 $ 19,06!

December 31, 200°
Floating Rate Note $ 6,00( $ — $ — $ 6,00(
U.S. government obligatior 20,40( — 49 20,44¢
Corporate debt securiti 3,33¢ (6) 9 3,33¢
Commercial pape 6,53¢ — — 6,53¢
$ 36,27¢ $ 6 9 58 $ 36,321

The Company had no realized gains or losses osalleeof available-for-sale securities for any @ geriods presented.
Unrealized gains and losses on the Company’s dleifar-sale securities are excluded from earnarys are reported as a
separate component of stockholders’ equity witlticuanulated other comprehensive income until redli¥¢éhen available-for-
sale securities are sold in the future, the coth®fkecurities will be specifically identified anded to determine any realized
gain or loss. The net unrealized gain on availéesale securities was $120,000 and $52,000 &eoémber 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively.

The amortized cost of and estimated fair valuevaflable-for-sale securities at December 31, 2098 ontractual maturity, are
shown below. Actual maturities may differ from c@utual maturities because the issuers of the gesumay have the right to
repay the obligations without prepayment penalidthough the investments are available-for-sdles the Company’s
intention to hold the investments classified agiarm for more than a year from December 31, Z@0thousands).
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December 31, 200:

Amortized Estimated

Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or le: $ 15,37¢ $ 15,46(
Due after one year through two ye 3,56¢€ 3,601

$ 18,94. $ 19,061

Financing Arrangement

The Company leases office and laboratory spacerwardeperating lease. The Company initially enténéal the lease in 2000
and has options to renew the lease in annual irem&sithrough March 2013 at the initial rental ratee Company executed
options to renew through March 2010.

In February 2008, the Company entered into a thiese-lease agreement for office and laboratoryesfacits Belgian
subsidiary, with annual rent expense of approxitgaié2,000, subject to annual adjustments basezhdnflationary index.
The lease includes an option to expand, whichxef@sed, would result in annual rent of approxieha$80,000. The lease
includes an option to renew for four additional ngedhrough December 31, 2014.

Aggregate rent expense was approximately $314/92008 and $267,000 in each of 2007 and 2006. Tiueef annual
minimum lease commitments at December 31, 2008@peoximately $335,000 for 2009, $137,000 for 26h0 $21,000 for
2011.

Long-Term Debt

A summary of the Company’s long-term debt outstagds as follows (in thousands):

December 31

2008 2007
Notes payable to lenders; issued November 2004mnedtlune 2008 including $487,5
terminal payment; 13% interest rate; sect $ — $ 1,80(
Discount related to warrant issuar — (16)
Total, net — 1,78¢
Less— current portion, ne — 1,784
Long-term deb $ — $ —
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In 2004, the Company issued $7.5 million aggregateipal amount of notes payable to lenders, tloegeds of which were
unrestricted and used for general corporate pugyddes notes were payable in 30 monthly installmefter an initial interest-
only period with a fixed interest rate of 13%. Trietes had a maturity date of June 1, 2008 anddeda terminal payment of
$487,500 due at maturity. Deferred financing cestse capitalized in connection with the note, whigre amortized over the
term of the note using the effective interest metho

The lenders retain a right to receive a milestamgent of $2.25 million upon the occurrence ofaerevents as clarified in
the October 2007 amendment to the loan agreemdall@ss: (1) the entire amount upon (a) the mengih or into another
entity where the Company’s stockholders do not lableéast a majority of the voting power of thevéuing entity, (b) the sale
of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets(c) the Company’s liquidation or dissolutiam;(2) a portion of the amount
from proceeds of equity financings not tied to $fi@cesearch and development activities that @ pf a research or
development collaboration, in which case, the lemaell receive an amount equal to 10% of procesdutsve $5.0 million in
cumulative gross proceeds until the milestone amisupaid in full. The milestone payment is payableash, except that if the
milestone event is (2) above, the Company may &begay 75% of the milestone in shares of commooksat the per-share
offering price. No amounts have been recordedlation to the milestone as of December 31, 2008728 2006.

The lenders also received warrants to purchas®2@%hares of common stock with an exercise pid&®0 per share and a
seven-year term upon the closing of the Offeringuine 2007 in accordance with the loan agreeméetva@lue of the warrants
was $492,000 based on the Black-Scholes valuafitreainderlying security, of which $16,000 and &4D0 was recorded as
interest expense in 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Fair value of the Company’s long-term debt at Deoen81, 2007 was not determinable due to lack oketability of the
fixed-rate debt. The Company paid interest of $76,0086 800 and $832,000 during the years ended Decedih&008, 200
and 2006, respectively.

F. Collaboration

In 2006, the Company entered into a co-developroaidaboration with Angiotech. The Company issuezbavertible
promissory note in the principal amount of $5.0liorl to Angiotech at the inception of the programtich was followed by the
issuance of an additional convertible promissorgmo the principal amount of $5.0 million in Janp2007 upon the
achievement of certain milestones. The notes lmeedst at 5% and had six-year terms. Upon théngjaxf the Offering, the
convertible notes aggregating $10.0 million werevested along with accrued interest into 1,885,8%xes of common stock
at a conversion price of $5.50 per share, which 11&%6 of the price per share in the Offering, inadance with the terms of
the notes.
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The Company may receive equity investments and pagiments based on the successful achievemeneoffiggl clinical
development and commercialization milestones. Uttiekterms of the collaboration, preclinical caats borne solely by the
Company and the parties jointly fund clinical deyghent activity. The Company has primary respolisitior preclinical and
early clinical development and clinical manufaatgtiand Angiotech will take the lead on pivotal @r clinical trials and
commercialization as further described below. Tagigs will share net profits from the future satepproved products.

Under the terms of the collaboration, the partédstly fund clinical development activity, wherebgsts for phase | and Il
studies are borne 50% by Athersys and 50% by Aagigtcosts for the first phase 1l study will bat® 33% by Athersys and
67% by Angiotech, and costs for any phase Il gisidiubsequent to the first phase Il study wilbbene 25% by Athersys and
75% by Angiotech. Late in 2007, the parties begashiare costs for phase | clinical development. Cbepany considered the
provisions of EITF Issue No. 07-Accounting for Collaborative Arrangementand determined that neither party is a principal
party for clinical development costs, since both ¢bsts and responsibilities are shared and ngitréy is in the business of
conducting clinical development services for oth&tserefore, the Company recorded clinical develepincosts net of
Angiotech’s 50% cost-share, which amounted to $3Band $63,000 in 2008 and 2007, respectively.arheunt due from
Angiotech was $234,000 and $63,000 at Decembe2@®18 and 2007, respectively, and is disclosed agglsron the balance
sheet.

G. Convertible Bridge Notes

In 2006, the Company completed a bridge financii$205 million in the form of convertible promisgonotes. The notes were
issued primarily to existing stockholders of then@uany, including $205,000 in the aggregate to thmeebers of manageme
The notes bore interest at 10% and had three-gaast The notes were only convertible into shafesazk of the same class
as issued in the Company’s next bona fide equitgriting, at a conversion price equal to the prazeshare in the bona fide
equity financing. The notes, if not converted, wegayable with accrued interest at maturity, pluspayment fee of 200% of
the outstanding principal.

The bridge investors also received warrants in eotion with the bridge financing. The warrants wexercisable for shares of
common stock only upon a restructuring of the Camypmcapital stock in connection with a bona fide ficiag. The number
shares that could be purchased under the warrasbased on a formula whereby the bridge investowdd receive warrants
valued at two times their investment divided by pine-money value of the Company upon a restrugjuaimd bona fide equity
financing. The exercise price of the warrants wa93% per share.
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The Company allocated $250,000 of the purchase pffithe debt to the warrants based on the rel&iveralue of the notes
and the warrants. The Company computed a premiutheodebt in the amount of $5,250,000 due uponmegdien, which was
being accreted over the term of the notes usingftieetive interest method.

Upon the closing of the Offering, the bridge natese converted along with accrued interest into, B3I shares of common
stock at a conversion price of $5.00 per share.uf@nortized premium and discount on the notes vexersed and recorded
in additional paid-in capital. The bridge notehatdalso exercised their warrants upon the closfribeoOffering for 999,977
shares of common stock at an aggregate exercise @ir$10,000. Upon the conversion of the bridgesiahe bridge
noteholders also received five-year warrants tatpase 132,945 shares of common stock at $6.0thpeg,svhich terms were
consistent with the warrants issued to new investothe Offering.

H. Capitalization

At December 31, 2008, the Company has 100.0 milfeares of common stock and 10.0 million sharesdésignated
preferred stock authorized. No shares of prefesteck have been issued as of December 31, 2008.

The Company may issue shares of common stock kenitiers and to Angiotech in connection with futomiéestones (see Not
E and F). Also, the Company entered into a licamksponsored research agreement in 2007 withaaleadc institution
whereby, in addition to annual research funding,itistitution may receive 1,345 shares of commooksbn each of five
anniversary dates. The issuance of the sharesjiscstio Board approval and the continuation ofnsooed research at the
institution. If the Board does not approve the éme of the shares, then the Company will remit@2Din cash plus the value
of the shares, as defined, to the institution ahed the anniversary dates of the agreement.
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The following shares of common stock were resefeeéuture issuance (in thousands):

December 31

2008 2007
Stock option plan 4,50( 4,50(
Warrants to purchase common st— Offering 4,97¢ 4,97¢
Warrants to purchase common st— Lenders 14¢ 14¢
9,62t 9,62t
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Athersys owns 50.2% of Oculus Pharmaceuticals,(I@culus”) related to a 2001 joint venture. Athessaccounts for its
investment in Oculus under the equity method dusgnoificant minority investor rights (i.e., “sulasitive participating rights,”
as defined by EITF 96-16) retained by the othee#tars. In connection with a settlement that oezliin 2003 and a milestone
that was achieved in 2006, Athersys received sbaded proceeds in another privathgld company in the amount of $200,!
in aggregate.

In connection with that same milestone in 2006, |@xalso received stock-based proceeds in thetphr#aeld company in the
amount of $260,000, in addition to $23,000 previpusceived. Athersys recognized approximately $2Q@ in 2006 as its
share of the Oculus net income, after recapturiig ppsses in excess of the Company’s investmeand advances to the joint
venture. Consistent with its wind-up strategy, @sukill remain in existence as a dormant entity@d long as it is necessary
to serve as a pass through of any further milest@sed consideration and final distribution taé@saining shareholders. As of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, Oculus had no signifissets, liabilities, stockholders’ equity orulesof operations.

Athersys evaluated its cost-method investmenteéretijuity securities of the privateyeld company that sells laboratory syst
to the life sciences industry, and as a resultdetese changes in market conditions, the fair vafube equity securities is less
than the carrying amount at December 31, 2008.sEkerity of the impairment (fair value is approxtaia 16% less than cost)
and the duration of the impairment (less than 3th)rcorrelate with the weak market environmensdibon the Company’s
evaluation of the near-term prospects of the iraeand its ability and intent to hold the investtrfena reasonable period of
time sufficient for a recovery of fair value, thei@pany does not consider the investment to be -thtiaer-temporarily impaired
at December 31, 2008.

Estimated
Carrying Unrealized Fair
(in thousands Amount Losses Value
December 31, 200!
Equity securities held by Athers $ 20C $ 32) % 16€
Equity securities held by Oculus (50.2% Athersysipn) 142 (13) 12¢
$ 342 $ (45 3 297
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In 2007, the Company adopted two incentive plaasdithorized an aggregate of 4,500,000 sharesnofron stock for awart
to employees, directors and consultants. Thesdyeiqaentive plans authorize the issuance of egodtyed compensation in the
form of stock options, stock appreciation righestricted stock, restricted stock units, perforneasitares and units, and other
stock-based awards to qualified employees, dire@od consultants.

In May 2007, the majority of Old Athersys’ pre-Mergoutstanding options were terminated. The Compacpunted for the
termination of these awards as a settlement arm@@liously unrecognized compensation expense ($885was recognized
on the termination date in 2007. New option awaodsurchase 3,625,000 shares of common stock wittxarcise price of
$5.00 per share were granted to employees, dieeatat consultants in June 2007 upon the clositigeoMerger. The options
that were granted to employees generally vesteddibthe date of grant and vest ratably over thesgs; The options granted
to non-employees and board members generally v@srgng percentages over three years.

Prior to the Merger in 2007, Old Athersys maintdimguity incentive plans in which 277,000 sharesevewailable for issuance
and 116,083 options were outstanding at Decemhe2@X6. Upon the closing of the Merger, BTHC Viasgd 5,052 of these
options, which will be governed by Old Athersysiginal equity plans until the awards expire. AdD&fcember 31, 2008, 2,473
of these assumed awards remain outstanding. Aleofemaining outstanding option awards under Qhiefsys’ former equity
incentive plans were terminated prior to the Merger

As of December 31, 2008, a total of 764,000 sharesvailable for issuance under the Company’sggompensation plans
and options to purchase 3,738,473 shares of constook are outstanding (including the assumed optimvering 2,473 shar
described above). The Company recognized $1,856§8)039,000 and $459,000 of stock compensatioaresgin 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively. At December 31, 2008, inta¢cognized estimated compensation cost relatadvested stock optiol
was approximately $3,033,000, which is expectdoketoecognized by June 30, 2012 using the straightshethod.

The weighted average fair value of option sharastgd in 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $2.00, $2.82 d@hd$r share,
respectively. The total fair value of option sharested in 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $2,337,000484000 and $428,000,
respectively. There is no aggregate intrinsic valfilly vested option shares and option shargeeted to vest as of
December 31, 2008 since the market value washessthe exercise price of the options at the entlejear.
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J. Stock Option Plans, continued

A summary of the Company’s stock option activitglaalated information is as follows:

QOutstanding January 1, 20
Granted
Exercisec
Forfeited
Outstanding December 31, 20
Granted
Exercisec
Forfeited / Terminated / Expire
Outstanding December 31, 20
Granted
Exercisec
Forfeited / Expirec
Outstanding December 31, 20

Vested during 200
Vested and exercisable at December 31, :

Weighted

Average

Number Exercise

of Options Price

138,79¢ $ 92.0¢
(72) 83.6¢
(22,647 150.9!
116,08: 80.62
3,738,001 5.0¢€
(174,199 51.2]
3,679,88: 5.24
218,00( 3.3¢€
(159,41) 6.64
3,738,47. $ 5.07
858,47 $ 5.0t
2,416,65 $ 5.2C
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December 31, 200:i

Options Outstanding

Options Vested and Exercisabl

Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Average Weighted
Number Remaining Average Number Remaining Average
of Contractual Exercise of Contractual Exercise
Exercise Price Options Life Price Options Life Price
$1.88-2.96 115,00( 56C $ 274 20,62t 448 $ 2.9
$4.00-4.99 141,00( 88 $ 431 19,25( 86z $  4.6¢
$5.00-7.80 3,480,00! 75z $ 5.0¢ 2,374,30! 76z $ 5.0t
$69.74-278.95 2,47: 24¢ $ 174.9 2,47: 24¢  $ 174.9
3,738,47 2,416,65

The weighted average contractual life of unvestgtbas at December 31, 2008 was 7.3 years.

K. Income Taxes

At December 31, 2008, the Company had net oper&is®gand research and development tax creditfoawsrds of
approximately $22,810,000 and $1,404,000, respalgtifor income tax purposes. Such losses andtsradily be used to
reduce future taxable income and tax liabilitied il expire in 2028.

As a result of the change in ownership relatedhéocapital restructuring and Offering, the Complaisy the use of a significant
portion of Athersys’ pre-Merger net operating loasryforwards. The remaining pre-merger net opegatss carryforward of
approximately $8,554,000 (“Pre-Merger NOL") is ltetdl for use under Section 382 of the Internal Reeebode to an annual
net operating loss carryforward of $464,000. The-Merger NOL may be used to reduce future taxatderne and tax

liabilities and will expire at various dates betwe®11 and 2026.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets are as follows (in thousands):

December 31

2008 2007
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 7,75t $ 2,381
Net operating loss carryforwar— Pre-Merger NOL 2,90¢ 3,06¢
Research and development credit carryforw. 1,40¢ 43¢
Compensation expen 1,70C 1,221
Other 46¢ 53¢
Total deferred tax asse 14,23t 7,651
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (14,235 (7,65])
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —

Because of the Company’s cumulative losses, theriaef tax assets have been fully offset by a viamatlowance. The
Company has not paid income taxes for the threepedod ended December 31, 2008.

L. Profit Sharing Plan and 401(k) Plan

The Company has a profit sharing and 401(k) plah¢bvers substantially all employees. The Plaowallfor discretionary
contributions by the Company. The Company madeomdributions to this plan for the three-year peroaied December 31,
2008.
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The following table presents quarterly data forykars ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, in thdsisercept per share

data:
2008
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year

Revenue: $ 792 $ 77€ $ 1,27¢ $ 25¢ $ 3,10¢
Net loss $ (4,669 $ (4,127 % (4,499 % 4,719 $ (17,99)
Preferred stock dividenc $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Deemed dividend resulting from

induced conversion of convertible

preferred stocl $ — 3 — 3 —  $ — —
Net loss attributable to commu

stockholders $ 4,669 % 4,122 % (4,499) % 4,719 $ (17,99)
Basic and diluted net loss per

common share attributable to

common stockholders $ (0.2 % (0.22) $ (0.2 % 0.25) % (0.95)

2007
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year

Revenue! $ 87¢ $ 723 $ 86C $ 79¢ $ 3,26(
Net loss $ (2,720 % (7,069 % 4,439 % (4,699 $ (18,92¢
Preferred stock dividenc $ 379 % (289 % — $ — $ (659
Deemed dividend resulting from

induced conversion of convertible

preferred stocl $ — $ (4800 $ — $ — $ (4,800
Net loss attributable to commu

stockholders $ (3,09) $ (12159) $ (4439 $ (4699 $ (24,38)
Basic and diluted net loss per comr

share attributable to common

stockholders $ (1059 % (259 % 029 % 025 % (2.2¢)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable
ITEM 9A(T). CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and proceduresAn evaluation was carried out under the superviaioth with the
participation of our management, including our pial executive officer and our principal financidficer, of the effectivene:
of our disclosure controls and procedures as oétiteof the period covered by this annual repcaisesl on that evaluation,
these officers have concluded that as of Decemhe2@®8, our disclosure controls and proceduresfeetive.

Management’s report on internal control over finandal reporting: Management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over finah@@orting, as such term is defined in ExchangeRde 13a-15(f). Under
the supervision and with the participation of masragnt, including our principal executive officedarincipal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effeamtiess of internal control over financial reportb&sed on the framework in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issuedh®y €ommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of theadweay Commission.
Based on this evaluation under the framework iarhml Control — Integrated Framework, managementlcaled that our
internal control over financial reporting was etfee as of December 31, 2008.

This annual report does not include an attesta#port of our independent registered public acaagrftrm regarding internal
control over financial reporting. Management’s népeas not subject to attestation by our independegistered public
accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of #t#C that permit Athersys to provide only managefserport in this annual
report.

Changes in internal control: During the fourth quarter of 2008, there has beeohange in our internal control over financial
reporting that has materially affected, or is remddy likely to materially affect, our internal dool over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

The information regarding Athersys’ directors, udihg the identification of the audit committee @hd audit committee
financial expert, is incorporated by referenceht®inhformation contained in Athersys’ Proxy Statemgith respect to the 2009
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or the 2009 Proigt&nent. Information concerning executive offidereontained in

Item 4A of Part | of this annual report on FormK@mnder the heading “Executive Officers of the Rtrgint.”

The information regarding Section 16(a) benefioighership reporting compliance is incorporateddfgnrence to the material
under the heading “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownipr&teporting Compliance” in the 2009 Proxy Stateten

The information regarding any changes in procedbyeshich stockholders may recommend nominees beisys’ Board of
Directors is incorporated by reference to the imfation contained in the 2009 Proxy Statement.

Athersys has adopted a code of ethics that apiliiés principal executive officer, principal fingial officer and principal
accounting officer. Athersys’ code of ethics isteasunder the Investors tab of its website at wilversys.com. Athersys will
post any amendments to, or waivers of, its codettits that apply to its principal executive officgrincipal financial officer
and principal accounting officer on its website.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information regarding executive officer andedior compensation is incorporated by referentkadnformation contained
in the 2009 Proxy Statement.

The information regarding compensation committéeriacks and insider participation and the compgosaommittee report
is incorporated by reference to the informationtaored in the 2009 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The information regarding security ownership oftair beneficial owners and management is incorpdrhy reference to the
information contained in the 2009 Proxy Statement.

Equity Compensation Plan Information . The following table sets forth certain informatiegarding the Company’s equity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2008, uathsswise indicated.

Number of securitie
remaining available fi
future issuance und
equity compensatio
Number of securities Weightec-average plans (excluding
be issued upon exerc exercise price ¢ securities reflected i

of outstanding option outstanding optior column (a))
Plan Categor (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plan approved by security hsl 2,493,501 $ 4.8¢ 541,50(
Equity compensation plan not approved by security
holders (1) 1,244,97. $ 5.3¢ 222,50(
Total 3,738,47. 764,00(

(1) Includes 2,473 of shares of common stockaisluupon exercise of stock options that were asdumg BTHC VI in the
merger.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information regarding certain relationships egldted transactions and director independenice@porated by reference
to the information contained in the 2009 Proxy &tant.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICESN

Information regarding fees paid to and servicesigex by our independent registered public accagriirm during the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 and t-approval policies and procedures of the audit catemnis incorporated |
reference to the information contained in the 2Bé&y Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(2) Financial Statements:

The following consolidated financial statement#\tdfersys, Inc. are included in Item 8:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&00D2007

Consolidated Statements of Operations for eacheoyéars ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityfi(iitg for each of the years ended December 3182@007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for eacheftfars ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

The following financial statement schedule of A8y, Inc. is included:

Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at
Beginning of Balance at
(In thousands Year Additions Deductions End of Year
Year Ended December 31, 200
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 19¢ % T4A) % — $ 267
Tax valuation allowance 7,651 6,58¢ — 14,23t
Total 2008 $ 784, % 6,65¢ $ = $ 14,50:
Year Ended December 31, 2007
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ — % 193A) $ — $ 19¢
Tax valuation allowance 47,971 1,95¢ 42,274B) 7,651
Total 2007 $ 47971  $ 2,147 $ 42,27 $ 7,84¢
Year Ended December 31, 2006
Deducted from asset accour
Tax valuation allowance $ 43,97¢ $ 3,997 $ — $ 47,97
Total 2006 $ 43,97¢  $ 3,99 $ — $ 47,97

(A) —Reserve on note receivab

(B) — Deferred tax assets are fully offset by valuaitiowances. As a result of the June 2007 equityrof§ and merger, the

Company lost the use of a significant portion sfdtemerger net operating loss carryforwat

All other schedules for which provision is madeha applicable accounting regulation of the SECnaterequired under the
related instructions or are inapplicable and, ttoges omitted.
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(a)(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit No.

Exhibit Descriptior

2.1

2.2

3.1

10.1*

10.2*

10.%*

10.4

10.5

10.€

10.7

10.¢

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 8872by and among Athersys, Inc., BTHC VI, Inc. and
B-VI Acquisition Corp. (incorporated herein by reface to Exhibit 10.1 to registrant’s Current Répor
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on May 24, 20

First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Mergetedias of June 8, 2007, by and among Athersys, Inc.
BTHC VI, Inc. and B-VI Acquisition Corp. (incorpaied herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,@sended as of August 31, 2007 (incorporated héxein
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Ragtsbn Statement on Form S-3/A (Registration N8-33
144433) filed with the Commission on October 10)2X

Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct80eR007 (incorporated herein by reference to ExBild
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@assion No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
October 31, 2007

Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deted December 8, 2000, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporatedein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registis
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, date of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd.
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated hergjirdference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s i@at
Report on Form -K/A (Commission No. 00-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207)
Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgs, In
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated imeby reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K/A (Commission No. 00@-82) filed with the Commission on September 27,
2007)

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abg between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated herein by egfee to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Currenp&é¢on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Sublicense Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2@096and between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated herein by esfee to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Currenp&éon
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of April 28, 2000, by and among Athersys,
Inc. and the stockholders of Athersys, Inc. pattieseto (incorporated herein by reference to BxAib.6 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Consiais No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of
January 29, 2002, by and among Athersys, Inc.Nthe Stockholders, the Investors, Biotech and the
Stockholders (each as defined in the Amended asthiRel Registration Rights Agreement, dated as
April 28, 2000, by and among Athersys, Inc. andstoekholders of Athersys, Inc. parties thereto)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.7he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of
November 19, 2002, by and among Athersys, Inc.Nghe Stockholders, the Investors, Biotech anc
Stockholders (each as defined in the Amended asthiRel Registration Rights Agreement, dated as
April 28, 2000, as amended, by and among Atheitsgs,and the stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties
thereto) (incorporated herein by reference to Exii.8 to the registrant’s Current Report on F&id
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, by
and among Athersys, Inc. and the Existing Stockérsldas defined therein) (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’s Catfeeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521 0
with the Commission on June 14, 20!

85




Table of Contents

Exhibit No.

Exhibit Descriptior

10.1¢f

10.11F

10.12

10.13

10.1¢

10.1%f

10.1¢f

10.1%F

10.1¢&f

10.1¢F

10.2(F

10.21f

10.2%F

10.2%F

BTHC VI, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorpordtierein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

BTHC VI, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensation Planc@rporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Congieis No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Loan and Security Agreement, and Supplement, deted November 2, 2004, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Legd& Leasing IV, Inc., and Costella Kirsch IV, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.1he registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on November 1402

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeteddss of October 30, 2007, by and among ABT
Holding Company, Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc.nMee Lending and Leasing IV, Inc., and Costella
Kirsch IV, L.P. (incorporated herein by referenoeeixhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly Repmnt
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on November 1402

Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, datexf &gptember 29, 2006, by and among Athersys,
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending &aking IV, Inc., and Costella Kirsch 1V, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1ad ghe registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilxscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 1,
1998, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Bakkelen (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employsgrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and
between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Bakkelen (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsc&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorporated herkejnreference to Exhibit 10.16 to the registrantisrént
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilascember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 1,
1998, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Joltadington (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.17 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employgrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and
between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Johnititgion (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.18 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsc&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incorporated hrebsi reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the registra@iisrent
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&naybetween Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Campbell
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@€he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Laura Campbell (incorfedderein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of September 2%), 2§0and between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc.
and Kurt Brunden (incorporated herein by referandexhibit 10.22 to the registrant’s Current Repmort
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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Exhibit No.

Exhibit Descriptior

10.24f

10.2%F

10.2¢f

10.2%F

10.2¢f

10.2¢t

10.3(F

10.31f

10.3zf

10.3%F

10.3¢

10.3%

10.3¢*

10.3i

10.3¢f

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Kurt Brunden (incorpaodaterein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the regig’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datscéSeptember 25, 2000, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Kurt Bremdincorporated herein by reference to Exhibi24@o
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Congieis No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 209&nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and
Robert Deans, Ph.D. (incorporated herein by referéo Exhibit 10.25 to the registrant’s Current &&pn
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpdratzein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the regig’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, dated&®&ctober 3, 2003, by and among Athersys,
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Dearcofporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2th&
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by referere&xhibit 10.28 to the registrant’s Current Repmort
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incogied herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datedb&September 10, 2001, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Williamrhbeann (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.30 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officers,
and acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGene&yG,(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit3ll
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@assion No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by laetiveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and na
executive officers, and acknowledged by Athersys, &and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the registrant’s @€atrReport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20!

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of JU2@08, by and among Athersys, BTHC VI, Inc. and
Investors (as defined therein) (incorporated hebgireference to Exhibit 10.33 to the registra@igrent
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 109220y and between Regents of the University of
Minnesota and MCL LLC, assumed by ReGenesys, Ll@uih operation of merger on November 4, 2003
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Strategic Alliance Agreement, by and between Atygrkic. and Angiotech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dagd
of May 5, 2006 (incorporated herein by referencExbibit 10.35 to the registrant’s Current Repart o
Form &K/A (Commission No. 00-52108) filed with the Commission on October 9, 2C

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaboration and lnise Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, by and
between Athersys, Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb @any (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.36 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Consulting Agreement, by and among Athersys, ldvanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Dr. Kurt Brunden
dated as of July 23, 2007 (incorporated hereirelfigrence to Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Qerdyt
Report on Form 1-Q (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on August 17, 20
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Exhibit No. Exhibit Descriptior
10.3¢t Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, Offis and Directors and Officers (incorporated helogin
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Catfeeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521 0.
with the Commission on August 6, 20(
10.4( Advisory Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2007, hy laetween Halter Financial Group, L.P. and Athersys
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhilbi#D to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form &-1/A (Registration No. 32-144433) filed with the Commission on September20®7)
10.41t Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2008 Cash Bonus Plarofparated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 & th
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Comimis$No. 001-33876) filed with the Commission on
May 8, 2008
21 List of Subsidiarie:
23 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firn
24 Power of Attorney
31.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hxecutive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rules 13aa)]4(
and 15«14(a) adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sae-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Laura Campbell, Vice Presidenfafiance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14(a) and 1614
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hxecutive Officer, and Laura Campbell, Vice

President of Finance, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sedtd%0, adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Samha
Oxley Act of 2002

*  Confidential treatment requested as to cenpairiions, which portions have been filed separateéti the Securities and
Exchange Commissic

t  Indicates management contract or compensatany pontract or arrangement in which one or mamectbrs or executive
officers of the registrant may be participa
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtieereunto duly authorized, in the city of Clarel, State of Ohio, on
March 12, 2009.

ATHERSYS, INC.

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkeler

Gil Van Bokkelen
Title: Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacitieb@n the date indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Gil Van Bokkelen Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the March 12, 2009

Board of Directors (Principal Executive Office

/sl Laura K. Campbe

Laura K. Campbell Vice President, Finance (Principal Financial March 12, 2009
Officer and Principal Accounting Office

* Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific Offit March 12, 2009
John J. Harringto and Director
* Director March 12, 2009

William C. Mulligan

* Director March 12, 2009
George M. Milne, Jr.

* Director March 12, 2009
Jordan S. Davi

* Director March 12, 2009
Floyd D. Loop
* Director March 12, 2009

Michael Sheffery

* Director March 12, 2009
Lorin J. Randal

*  Gil Van Bokkelen, by signing his name heretoed hereby sign this Form 10-K on behalf of eacthefabove named and
designated directors of the Company pursuant toveePof Attorney executed by such persons and filed the Securitie
and Exchange Commissic

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Gil Van Bokkelen
Attorney-in-fact

89




Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.

Exhibit Descriptior

2.1

2.2

3.1

10.1*

10.2*

10.%*

10.4

10.5

10.€

10.7

10.¢

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 8872by and among Athersys, Inc., BTHC VI, Inc. and
B-VI Acquisition Corp. (incorporated herein by reface to Exhibit 10.1 to registrant’s Current Répor
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on May 24, 20

First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Mergetedias of June 8, 2007, by and among Athersys, Inc.
BTHC VI, Inc. and B-VI Acquisition Corp. (incorpaied herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,@sended as of August 31, 2007 (incorporated héxein
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Ragtsbn Statement on Form S-3/A (Registration N8-33
144433) filed with the Commission on October 10)2X

Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct80eR007 (incorporated herein by reference to ExBild
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@assion No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
October 31, 2007

Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deted December 8, 2000, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporatedein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registis
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, date of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd.
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated hergjirdference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s i@at
Report on Form -K/A (Commission No. 00-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207)
Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgs, In
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated imeby reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K/A (Commission No. 00@-82) filed with the Commission on September 27,
2007)

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abg between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated herein by egfee to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Currenp&é¢on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Sublicense Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2@096and between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated herein by esfee to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Currenp&éon
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of April 28, 2000, by and among Athersys,
Inc. and the stockholders of Athersys, Inc. pattieseto (incorporated herein by reference to BxAib.6 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Consiais No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of
January 29, 2002, by and among Athersys, Inc.Nthe Stockholders, the Investors, Biotech and the
Stockholders (each as defined in the Amended asthiRel Registration Rights Agreement, dated as
April 28, 2000, by and among Athersys, Inc. andstoekholders of Athersys, Inc. parties thereto)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.7he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of
November 19, 2002, by and among Athersys, Inc.Nghe Stockholders, the Investors, Biotech anc
Stockholders (each as defined in the Amended asthiRel Registration Rights Agreement, dated as
April 28, 2000, as amended, by and among Atheitsgs,and the stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties
thereto) (incorporated herein by reference to Exii.8 to the registrant’s Current Report on F&id
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, by
and among Athersys, Inc. and the Existing Stockérsldas defined therein) (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’s Catfeeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521 0
with the Commission on June 14, 20!
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Exhibit Descriptior

10.1¢f

10.11F

10.12

10.13

10.1¢

10.1%f

10.1¢f

10.1%F

10.1¢&f

10.1¢F

10.2(F

10.21f

10.2%F

10.2%F

BTHC VI, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorpordtierein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

BTHC VI, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensation Planc@rporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Congieis No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Loan and Security Agreement, and Supplement, deted November 2, 2004, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Legd& Leasing IV, Inc., and Costella Kirsch IV, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.1he registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on November 1402

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeteddss of October 30, 2007, by and among ABT
Holding Company, Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc.nMee Lending and Leasing IV, Inc., and Costella
Kirsch IV, L.P. (incorporated herein by referenoeeixhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly Repmnt
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on November 1402

Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, datexf &gptember 29, 2006, by and among Athersys,
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending &aking IV, Inc., and Costella Kirsch 1V, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1ad ghe registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilxscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 1,
1998, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Bakkelen (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employsgrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and
between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Bakkelen (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsc&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorporated herkejnreference to Exhibit 10.16 to the registrantisrént
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilascember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 1,
1998, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Joltadington (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.17 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000- 52108) filed witleth
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employgrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and
between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Johnititgion (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.18 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsc&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incorporated hrebsi reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the registra@iisrent
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&naybetween Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Campbell
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@€he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Laura Campbell (incorfedderein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of September 2%), 2§0and between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc.
and Kurt Brunden (incorporated herein by referandexhibit 10.22 to the registrant’s Current Repmort
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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10.3zf

10.3%F

10.3¢
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10.3i

10.3¢f

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Kurt Brunden (incorpaodaterein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the regig’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datscéSeptember 25, 2000, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Kurt Bremdincorporated herein by reference to Exhibi24@o
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Congieis No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 209&nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and
Robert Deans, Ph.D. (incorporated herein by referéo Exhibit 10.25 to the registrant’s Current &&pn
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpdratzein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the regig’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, dated&®&ctober 3, 2003, by and among Athersys,
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Dearcofporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2th&
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by referere&xhibit 10.28 to the registrant’s Current Repmort
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incogied herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datedb&September 10, 2001, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Williamrhbeann (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.30 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officers,
and acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGene&yG,(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit3ll
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@assion No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by laetiveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and na
executive officers, and acknowledged by Athersys, &and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the registrant’s @€atrReport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20!

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of JU2@08, by and among Athersys, BTHC VI, Inc. and
Investors (as defined therein) (incorporated hebgireference to Exhibit 10.33 to the registra@igrent
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 109220y and between Regents of the University of
Minnesota and MCL LLC, assumed by ReGenesys, Ll@uih operation of merger on November 4, 2003
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Strategic Alliance Agreement, by and between Atygrkic. and Angiotech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dagd
of May 5, 2006 (incorporated herein by referencExbibit 10.35 to the registrant’s Current Repart o
Form &K/A (Commission No. 00-52108) filed with the Commission on October 9, 2C

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaboration and lnise Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, by and
between Athersys, Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb @any (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.36 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Consulting Agreement, by and among Athersys, ldvanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Dr. Kurt Brunden
dated as of July 23, 2007 (incorporated hereirelfigrence to Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Qerdyt
Report on Form 1-Q (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on August 17, 20
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Exhibit No. Exhibit Descriptior
10.3¢t Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, Offis and Directors and Officers (incorporated helogin
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Catfeeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521 0.
with the Commission on August 6, 20(
10.4( Advisory Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2007, hy laetween Halter Financial Group, L.P. and Athersys
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhilbi#D to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form &-1/A (Registration No. 32-144433) filed with the Commission on September20®7)
10.41t Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2008 Cash Bonus Plarofparated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 & th
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Comimis$No. 001-33876) filed with the Commission on
May 8, 2008
21 List of Subsidiarie:
23 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firn
24 Power of Attorney
31.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hxecutive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rules 13aa)]4(
and 15«14(a) adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sae-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Laura Campbell, Vice Presidenfafiance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14(a) and 1614
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hxecutive Officer, and Laura Campbell, Vice

President of Finance, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sedtd%0, adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Samha
Oxley Act of 2002

*  Confidential treatment requested as to cenpairiions, which portions have been filed separateéti the Securities and
Exchange Commissic

t  Indicates management contract or compensatany pontract or arrangement in which one or mamectbrs or executive
officers of the registrant may be participa
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EXHIBIT 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF ATHERSYS, INC.

Name of Subsidiary

Jurisdiction
ABT Holding Company (formerly Athersys, Inc Delaware
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Ir Delaware
Athersys Limitec United Kingdom
ReGenesys LL( Delaware
ReGenesys BVB!/ Belgium

Oculus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (50% owners Delaware



EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Forn-3/A, No. 33:-144433) dated October 10, 20!

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 3833I79) dated November 14, 2007 pertaining to theeistys, Inc. Equity
Incentive Compensation Plan, &

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 3833B0) dated November 14, 2007 pertaining to thestys, Inc. Long-
Term Incentive Plal

of our report dated March 12, 2009, with resped¢h&oconsolidated financial statements and schaxfud¢hersys, Inc. included
in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year edd#ecember 31, 2008.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohic
March 12, 200¢



EXHIBIT 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of thedensigned officers and directors of Athersys, Iac.,
Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and appoinGil Van Bokkelen, William Lehmann, Jr., andura K. Campbell, and
each of them, as his true and lawful attorney mrageys-in-fact, with full power of substitution @nevocation, for each of the
undersigned and in the name, place, and steactbfafahe undersigned, to sign on behalf of eadh@fundersigned an Annt
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Dewen31, 2008 pursuant to Section 13 of the Seesrifixchange Act of
1934 and to sign any and all amendments to suclu@rfiReport, and to file the same, with all exhiltiitsreto, and other
documents in connection therewith including, withlimitation, a Form 12b-25 with the Securities d&wthange Commission,
granting to said attorney or attorneys-in-fact, andh of them, full power and authority to do sd parform each and every act
and thing requisite and necessary to be done irabadt the premises, as fully to all intents angppses as the undersigned
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying andfirming all that said attorney or attorneys-irctfar any of them or their
substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or catgske done by virtue thereof.

This power of attorney may be executed in multg@anterparts, each of which shall be deemed amatigith respect to
the person executing it.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereuattheir hands as of the 12th day of March 2009.

Signature Title

/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boafd o
Gil Van Bokkelen Directors

/sl Laura K. Campbell Vice President, Finance

Laura K. Campbel

/s/ John J. Harrington Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific Officard
John J. Harringto Director
/s/ William C. Mulligan Director

William C. Mulligan

/sl George M. Milne, Jr. Director
George M. Milne, Jr

/s/ Jordan S. Davis Director
Jordan S. Davi

/sl Floyd D. Loop Director
Floyd D. Loop
/sl Michael Sheffery Director

Michael Sheffery

/s/ Lorin J. Randall Director
Lorin J. Randal




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Gil Van Bokkelen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Athersys, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfighe circumstances under which such statenveets made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ly tport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly presen
in all material respects the financial conditiogsults of operations and cash flows of the regista of, and for, the
periods presented in this repc

4. The registrant’s other certifying officergg)d | are responsible for establishing and maiimgidisclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulasl58e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control oveaticial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and plaress, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabiieformation relating to the registrant, incing its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during theriod
in which this report is being prepare

(b) Designed such internal control over finahoéporting, or caused such internal control direncial
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopyéeide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabfl
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantte wi
generally accepted accounting princip!

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regimtsadisclosure controls and procedures and presentlis repor
our conclusions about the effectiveness of thelalisce controls and procedures, as of the endegpéhnioc
covered by this report based on such evaluatiah

(d) Disclosed in this report any change inrgmgistrant’s internal control over financial repiogt that occurred
during the registrant’'s most recent fiscal quaftiee registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the cafan
annual report) that has materially affected, ae@sonably likely to materially affect, the regisit’'s
internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registramd’other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrot
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant’stb@d directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functiot

(&) All significant deficiencies and materiadaknesses in the design or operation of internarabover
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant’s ability to recgrtbcess,
summarize and report financial information;

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatatves management or other employees who havendisant
role in the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

March 12, 2009

/s/ Gil Van Bokkeler

Gil Van Bokkelen

Chief Executive Officer an
Chairman of the Board of Directa




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Laura K. Campbell, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Athersys, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfighe circumstances under which such statenveets made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ly tport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly presen
in all material respects the financial conditiogsults of operations and cash flows of the regista of, and for, the
periods presented in this repc

4. The registrant’s other certifying officergg)d | are responsible for establishing and maiimgidisclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulasl58e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control oveaticial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and plaress, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabiieformation relating to the registrant, incing its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during theriod
in which this report is being prepare

(b) Designed such internal control over finahoéporting, or caused such internal control direncial
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopyéeide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabfl
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantte wi
generally accepted accounting princip!

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regimtsadisclosure controls and procedures and presentlis repor
our conclusions about the effectiveness of thelalisce controls and procedures, as of the endegpéhnioc
covered by this report based on such evaluatiah

(d) Disclosed in this report any change inrgmgistrant’s internal control over financial repiogt that occurred
during the registrant’'s most recent fiscal quaftiee registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the cafan
annual report) that has materially affected, ae@sonably likely to materially affect, the regisit’'s
internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registramd’other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrot
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant’stb@d directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functiot

(&) All significant deficiencies and materiadaknesses in the design or operation of internarabover
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant’s ability to recgrtbcess,
summarize and report financial information;

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatatves management or other employees who havendisant
role in the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

March 12, 2009

/sl Laura K. Campbe
Laura K. Campbel
Vice President, Financ




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Athersys;.I(the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endstember 31, 2008,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Report”), each of theeunsigned officers of the
Company certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectids01as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Basb@xley Act of 2002,
that, to such officer's knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faplesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of
operations of the Company as of the dates andhéperiods expressed in the Rep

Date: March 12, 2009

/s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Name Gil Van Bokkelen
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

/sl Laura K. Campbe
Name Laura K. Campbel
Title: Vice President, Financ

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is notdgofiled as part of the
Report or as a separate disclosure document.



